# AIDS, CRISIS AND THE **UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE** 2025 WER TO P **TRANSFORM**

UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATION Sales: E.25.0.2 SBN: 978-92-1-159693-9 eSBN: 978-92-1-154435-0 ISSN: 2960-2424 eISSN: 2960-2432

© Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), 2025

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that UNAIDS endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the UNAIDS logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by UNAIDS. UNAIDS is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules).

Suggested citation. AIDS, crisis and the power to transform: UNAIDS Global AIDS Update 2025. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2025. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNAIDS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by UNAIDS in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by UNAIDS to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall UNAIDS be liable for damages arising from its use.

UNAIDS/JC3153E

# AIDS, CRISIS AND THE POWER TO TRANSFORM

UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

# CONTENTS

FOREWORD			
EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	4	
1	WHERE ARE WE NOW?	14	
1.1	Overview of the epidemic and response	15	
1.2	Even before the funding crisis, the rate of decline in new HIV infections was insufficient to reach the 2030 target	16	
1.3	HIV treatment continues to reduce the number of AIDS-related deaths	20	
1.4	Recent funding cuts could undo decades of progress	22	
2	SERVICES THAT SAVE THE LIVES OF PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV	27	
2.1	The 95–95–95 targets were within reach in 2024, but some countries are being hit hard by funding losses	30	
2.2	Not everyone is benefiting equally from treatment rollout	34	
2.3	HIV treatment coverage among pregnant women has risen unevenly, leaving children at risk of HIV	41	
2.4	Linked HIV and TB services are saving millions of lives	46	
2.5	HIV testing and viral load suppression levels are high—but not everywhere	47	
3	HIV PREVENTION IS IN JEOPARDY	54	
3.1	HIV prevention is having an impact	55	
3.2	Using the many opportunities to get more out of HIV prevention	73	
3.3	The last mile is the toughest	82	
4	COMMUNITIES, FINANCING AND THE WAY FORWARD	85	
4.1	Community spotlight	86	
4.2	A financing shock—and ways to sustain and boost HIV responses	95	
5	REGIONAL CHAPTERS (ONLINE ONLY)		
6	ANNEX 1: METHODS (ONLINE ONLY)		

# FOREWORD

WINNIE BYANYIMA UNAIDS Executive Director

# The HIV response may be in crisis, but we have the power to transform



This report shows that at the end of 2024, just before a sudden collapse in funding triggered a crisis in the global HIV response, the remarkable efforts of communities and governments had brought down the numbers of new HIV infections by 40% and of AIDSrelated deaths by 56% since 2010. But it also shows that huge gaps in HIV prevention remained, with 1.3 million new infections in 2024—almost unchanged from the year before.

We started 2025 excited about a transformative opportunity to tackle HIV with lenacapavir, a new long-acting medicine that can prevent HIV infection with twice-a-year injections. This is just one of a suite of new long-acting medicines. Within the next few years, annual injections and monthly tablets to prevent HIV could be a reality. We could be on the verge of an HIV prevention revolution that reduces new infections towards epidemic control—if the world comes together again to overcome monopolies, drive down prices, and ensure everyone who could benefit has access to these new, highly effective prevention tools.

But the sudden withdrawal of the single biggest contributor to the global HIV response disrupted treatment and prevention programmes around the world in early 2025. International assistance accounts for 80% of prevention programmes in low- and middleincome countries. UNAIDS modelling shows that if the funding permanently disappears, there could be an additional 6 million HIV infections and an additional 4 million AIDS-related deaths by 2029. At the same time, the number of countries criminalizing the populations most at risk of HIV has risen for the first time since UNAIDS began reporting.

Communities, however, have been resilient. When formal systems broke down in Ethiopia, young volunteers formed WhatsApp groups to check on their peers, mothers banded together to support children's treatment, and youth collectives used community radio to share health information.

The consensus behind the old model of financing the HIV response may be coming to an end, but the international community is forging a new, more sustainable path. At the fourth International Conference on Financing for Development in Seville, Spain, nations embraced calls for debt relief, international tax cooperation and reform of international financial institutions—the first steps towards a new economic settlement that can give countries the fiscal space needed to invest in the global HIV response.

Twenty-five of the 60 low- and middle-income countries included in this report have found ways to increase HIV spending from domestic resources into 2026. This is the future of the HIV response—nationally owned and led, sustainable, inclusive and multisectoral.

This transformation cannot happen overnight, however. Global solidarity and renewed commitment from funding partners will be needed as countries plan and lead sustainable transitions towards self-financing.

The prize, if we get there, could be remarkable. The HIV response has already saved 26.9 million lives. With an HIV prevention revolution, we could end AIDS as a public health threat, saving many more lives. And it could be better value for money too: UNAIDS estimates that if the world embraces new technologies, efficiencies and approaches, the annual cost of the HIV response could fall by around US\$ 7 billion.

The HIV response may be in crisis, but we have the power to transform. Communities, governments and the United Nations are rising to the challenge. Now, we must get to work.

4

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Decades of hard work and solidarity have reduced the annual numbers of people acquiring HIV and people dying from AIDS-related causes to their lowest levels in more than 30 years. At the end of 2024, the declines in numbers were not sufficient to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030—but the means and the momentum for doing so existed. Examples of country successes were multiplying, and national governments were assuming greater responsibility for their HIV responses. New scientific breakthroughs continued to be made, including long-acting injectable antiretroviral medicines.

That was the situation at the end of 2024. Since then, however, HIV programmes in low- and middle-income countries have been rocked by sudden, major financial disruptions that threaten to reverse years of progress in the response to HIV. Wars and conflict, widening economic inequalities, geopolitical shifts and climate change shocks—the likes of which are unprecedented in the global HIV response—are stoking instability and straining multilateral cooperation.

UNAIDS projections show that a permanent discontinuation of support from the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) for HIV treatment and prevention could lead to more than 4 million additional AIDS-related deaths and more than 6 million additional new HIV infections by 2030 (1, 2).

An estimated 1.3 million [1.0 million–1.7 million] people acquired HIV in 2024— 40% less than in 2010 (Figure 0.1).<sup>1</sup> An even steeper 56% decline in the number of new infections was achieved in sub-Saharan Africa, which is home to half of all people who acquired HIV globally in 2024. Five countries, mostly from sub-Saharan Africa, were on track to achieve a 90% decline in new infections by 2030 compared with 2010.<sup>2</sup>

In sub-Saharan Africa the provision of antiretroviral therapy, among other advances, has led to a rebound in life expectancy from 56.5 years in 2010 to 62.3 years in 2024.

For more information on UNAIDS data in this report, see Annex 1.
 Lesotho, Malawi, Nepal, Rwanda, Zimbabwe.

## In 2024, the world had made significant progress in the response to HIV—but this is now in jeopardy

**Figure 0.1.** Number of new HIV infections, global, 1990–2024, 2025 and 2030 targets





Countries have reduced the annual number of children acquiring HIV through vertical transmission to 120 000 [82 000–170 000], a 62% drop since 2010 and the lowest number since the 1980s. Overall, programmes to prevent the vertical transmission of HIV averted nearly 4.4 million new HIV acquisitions in children between 2000 and 2024.

The number of lives lost to AIDS-related causes in 2024—630 000 [490 000–820 000]—was unacceptably high, but it was 54% less than in 2010 (Figure 0.2), an achievement made possible by the large-scale provision of mostly free-of-charge HIV testing services and treatment. The number of AIDS-related deaths among children was reduced from 240 000 [160 000–340 000] in 2010 to 75 000 [50 000–110 000] in 2024.

Globally in 2024, about three-quarters of the 40.8 million [37.0 million–45.6 million] people living with HIV were receiving antiretroviral therapy (77% [62–90%]) and (73% [66–82%]) had suppressed viral loads—a huge public health achievement. In sub-Saharan Africa, which is home to more than 60% of all people living with HIV, the provision of antiretroviral therapy, among other advances, has led to a rebound in life expectancy from 56.5 years in 2010 to 62.3 years in 2024 (3).

## Some regions are very close to achieving the 95–95–95 targets



Figure 0.3. Progress towards the 95–95–95 testing, treatment and viral load suppression targets, by region, 2024

Percentage of people on antiretroviral therapy who have a suppressed viral load

Note: for western and central Europe and North America, data on progress towards the 95–95–95 targets in 2024 were pending. Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

Countries have committed to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030, defined as achieving a 90% reduction in numbers of new HIV infections and AIDS-related deaths from a 2010 baseline. The world would be largely on track towards this goal if it reached the 95–95–95 targets for testing and treatment.<sup>3</sup> In 2024, the global HIV response was closer than ever to reaching these testing and treatment targets. Globally, an estimated 87% [69–>98%] of all people living with HIV knew their HIV status, 89% [71–>98%] of people who knew their HIV-positive status were receiving antiretroviral therapy, and 94% [75–>98%] of people on treatment had a suppressed viral load (Figure 0.3).

# The inroads in the response to HIV have been impressive but uneven

Even before the funding losses, the gains against HIV were spread unevenly. HIV testing and treatment coverage and viral suppression levels among people living with HIV improved across all regions in 2024, but they still lagged considerably in eastern Europe and central Asia and the Middle East and North Africa, and more work was needed in Asia and the Pacific.

<sup>3</sup> The targets call for 95% of all people living with HIV to know their HIV status, 95% of all people diagnosed with HIV to receive antiretroviral therapy, and 95% of all people receiving antiretroviral therapy to have a suppressed viral load by 2025.

Sub-Saharan Africa was home to half of the 9.2 million people globally in 2024 who needed but were not receiving HIV treatment. A further quarter of the total unmet need was in Asia and the Pacific. In the absence of a cure for HIV, millions of people will continue to need HIV treatment for many decades to come, but funding losses are destabilizing many treatment programmes and the efforts to make them more equitable.

A little over half of all children living with HIV (55% [40–73%]) were receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2024. This was an improvement on the coverage of 17% [12–22%] in 2010, but it still meant more than 620 000 of the estimated 1.4 million [1.1 million–1.8 million] children living with HIV were *not* receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2024. Globally, about 12% of all AIDS-related deaths in 2024 were among children, even though children accounted for only 3% of all people living with HIV.

Men living with HIV were still less likely than their female peers to be receiving antiretroviral therapy (73% [57–85%] versus 83% [66–97%]) or to have a suppressed viral load (69% [61–77%] versus 79% [71–88%]) in 2024. People from key populations were less likely to be receiving HIV treatment, even in places where treatment services were reaching the large majority of people living with HIV (4).<sup>4</sup>

The estimated 210 000 [140 000–280 000] new HIV acquisitions among adolescent girls and young women (aged 15–24 years) in 2024 are the result of the disproportionately high HIV risk that still confronts them, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa. Prevention services for them and other young people are now being defunded (5).

Many of the barriers and inequalities holding back sustainable progress against HIV have not been dislodged. Stigma, discrimination, punitive laws (Figure 0.4), gender inequalities and violence continue to sabotage people's attempts to stay HIV-free or to live safe and healthy lives if they acquire HIV. Far too many governments lack the political will to provide HIV-related services and protection for people from key and other vulnerable populations, including adolescent girls and young women, who are most at risk for acquiring HIV and experiencing HIV-related stigma, discrimination and violence.

# 9.2 million people living with HIV globally in 2024 were not receiving HIV treatment.

<sup>4</sup> Key populations include sex workers, gay men and other men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, transgender people, and people in prisons and other closed settings.

## The number of countries with criminalizing laws was rising in 2024



### Figure 0.4. Number of countries with discriminatory and punitive laws, 2025

Note: this figure does not capture where key populations may be de facto criminalized through other laws, such as vagrancy or public morality laws, or the use of the above laws for different populations. Source: National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2024 (http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/), supplemented by additional sources (see references in regional factsheets and

http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).

The conditions that render people vulnerable to HIV are being reinforced in many countries. Campaigns are attacking HIV-related human rights, including for public health, with girls, women and people from key populations often the targets (see Chapter 1).

The number of new HIV infections decreased between 2010 and 2024 by 56% in sub-Saharan Africa, 21% in the Caribbean and 17% in Asia and the Pacific, but they increased by 94% in the Middle East and North Africa, 13% in Latin America and 7% in eastern Europe and central Asia. Numbers of new HIV infections have risen in at least 32 countries since 2010, and the world is off track to reach the 2025 target of 370 000 or fewer new infections by a wide margin (see Chapters 1 and 3).

Service gaps and deficiencies in HIV programmes and health and community systems meant that an estimated 120 000 [82 000-170 000] children acquired HIV in 2024. The vast majority of child HIV infections (about 83%) still occur in sub-Saharan Africa. Many HIV programmes continue to neglect people from key populations and their sex partners, who account for an estimated 80% of new HIV infections outside sub-Saharan Africa and about 25% in sub-Saharan Africa (6). A majority of people from key populations were not being reached with basic HIV prevention services. Prevention services that did exist for people from key populations have relied heavily on external assistance, but a great deal of this support was halted in early 2025.

# A systemic shock is rocking the HIV response

That was the situation at the end of 2024. Since then, HIV programmes in low- and middle-income countries have been rocked by a systemic shock, with sudden funding cuts and freezes putting hard-won progress in the response to HIV in jeopardy.

HIV programmes across the world are struggling from the sudden, drastic reductions in funding for the global HIV response announced by the United States Government in early 2025. PEPFAR had committed USD 4.3 billion in bilateral support in 2025 (7). Those services were stopped overnight when the United States Government shifted its foreign assistance strategies. Disruptions are being felt across the HIV response and pose a huge risk of increased mortality, a surge of new HIV infections, and the development of resistance to the most commonly used treatment regimens. Urgent action and revived solidarity are needed to sustain the progress made and prevent a resurgence of HIV.

The current wave of funding losses has already destabilized supply chains, led to the closure of health facilities, left thousands of health clinics without staff, set back prevention programmes, disrupted HIV testing efforts, and forced many community organizations to reduce or halt their HIV activities, upending critical community systems (9).

There is a fear that other major donor countries might retreat from the solidarity they have established with poorer countries to respond to one of the deadliest pandemics in modern history. If this happens, and the current cuts and freezes are maintained,<sup>5</sup> decades of progress in the HIV response could be reversed and the goal of ending AIDS as a public health threat could be in peril.

The PEPFAR programme has been a lifeline for countries with high HIV burdens (7). PEPFAR supported HIV testing for 84.1 million people and HIV treatment for 20.6 million people, reached 2.3 million adolescent girls and young women with HIV prevention services, and directly supported more than 340 000 health workers in 2024 (7, 8). This support has been severely cut back. The impact is rippling across dozens of countries and damaging vital parts of their HIV responses.

HIV prevention is especially at risk, since prevention funding in many countries has come from external sources and is often not prioritized by countries. External funding financed almost 80% of HIV prevention in sub-Saharan Africa, 66% in the Caribbean and 60% in the Middle East and North Africa (10).

<sup>5</sup> UNAIDS analysis shows there has been a gradual but persistent shift in development cooperation priorities among several major bilateral (~77% decline, excluding United States Government) and multilateral (24% decline, excluding Global Fund) donors since 2010. Changes in global official development assistance include the reprioritization of budgets towards national security, climate resilience and domestic infrastructure. This signals a continuing risk of further reductions in international health financing, including for HIV.

Condom procurement, distribution and use have declined over the past decade due in part to the defunding of condom programmes. Voluntary medical male circumcision programmes in some countries in eastern and southern Africa were still struggling to recover from setbacks as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic (*11*). Highly effective prevention options such as pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) reached about 3.9 million people in 2024, but this was far short of the 2025 target of 21.2 million people. In 2024, comprehensive prevention services for people from key populations were reaching less than half of the people who needed them.

The estimated 13.9 million [10.2 million–19.9 million] people who inject drugs around the world continue to be left behind in HIV programmes, with women who inject drugs especially neglected (12). Only two of 32 reporting countries have achieved the 2025 United Nations-recommended levels of coverage for opioid agonist maintenance therapy, and only 13 of 35 countries have achieved the United Nations targets for needle and syringe distribution. No country has reported that it has met both of these targets.

The 2025 funding cuts are now pushing many prevention programmes into crisis. Countries are reporting limited availability of PrEP and reduced activities to prevent new HIV acquisitions, including among adolescent girls and young women (see Box in this section). Voluntary medical male circumcision activities have been reduced or paused in several PEPFAR-supported countries. Efforts to reduce stigma, discrimination and gender-based violence are being defunded. Prevention services for people from key populations have relied heavily on external assistance—but a great deal of this support was halted in early 2025.

Supply chains for HIV test kits and medicines, laboratory services and vital data information systems have been disrupted. Critical gaps in financing for frontline health workers and HIV testing services have appeared. These effects extend well beyond HIV and are straining health programmes more generally.

For more than 40 years, community-led organizations and networks have shaped and powered HIV programmes across the world, saving countless lives. The impact and cost-effectiveness of community-led interventions is evident in a growing body of research evidence (13, 14). Community-led organizations, particularly in peer-supported services, have been shown to increase testing uptake, improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy, strengthen retention in care, achieve higher levels of viral load suppression, and reduce vertical transmission in multiple settings and countries (15–18). Funding losses have now forced many ccommunity-led and other nongovernmental organizations to reduce or cease their HIV activities.

All this seriously jeopardizes the world's push to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030, a goal that was within grasp before this disruption.

The bulk of HIV prevention funding in many countries has come from external funding.

# Access to PrEP in Nigeria

Nigeria is one of nine countries that have continued to report on monthly PrEP provision to UNAIDS in the context of the recent funding cuts. These data show a considerable decline in both the total number of people receiving PrEP and specifically the number of gay men and other men who have sex with men receiving this preventive medicine.

PrEP use remains highly concentrated, with 64% of all users globally coming from five African countries in 2023.<sup>6</sup> The reported number of people receiving PrEP in Nigeria in November 2024 was approximately 43 000. By April 2025, this number had fallen to below 6000.

PEPFAR contributed to more than 90% of PrEP initiations globally in 2024, making PrEP programmes particularly vulnerable to the United States funding cuts (8). According to the latest data from the Nigerian national AIDS spending assessment, PEPFAR funded 99.9% (US\$ 23.2 million) of Nigeria's PrEP programme in 2021. Approximately US\$ 15 million of the PEPFAR budget for Nigeria in 2024 was allocated for PrEP. In the first months of 2025, the number of people receiving PrEP in Nigeria fell by over 85%.

Insufficient availability of PrEP may be linked to gaps in technical assistance for PrEP programmes, frozen funding or funding gaps for PrEP procurement, logistical challenges affecting delivery of shipments, and issues with accessing existing in-country stocks, especially for community-led service delivery. When interpreting these data, it is crucial to also highlight the impact of funding cuts on data systems, including the ability to monitor services and estimate the need for PrEP.

**Figure 0.5.** Number of people who receved PrEP at least once in the reporting period, by population, Nigeria, October 2024 to April 2025



Source: country-reported data through the monthly Global AIDS Monitoring platform (https://hivservicestracking.unaids.org/).

6 Kenya, Nigeria, South Africa, Uganda, Zambia.

# No choice but to go forward together

Countries, governments, communities, civil society, donors and their partners must regroup rapidly. The immediate priorities are to prevent service disruptions, protect supply chains for antiretroviral medicines and other essential HIV products, and maintain the reach and preserve the quality of HIV services.

Programmatic, political and financial sustainability need to be built into HIV responses by countries, with the support of regional and multilateral organizations, by:

- building sustainable services for HIV testing, treatment and prevention, and leveraging primary health-care services, with differentiated services delivery for treatment and prevention, including services by community-led organizations;
- investing in systems strengthening (including data and surveillance), community systems and integration of HIV services with health and other relevant sectors;
- putting in place the mechanisms for communities to continue to play their critical roles in the HIV response within an inclusive, multisectoral, country-led and country-owned HIV response;
- targeting structural barriers that block access to prevention and treatment services, such as stigma, discrimination, gender inequalities and violence;
- addressing the harmful social norms that perpetuate gender-based violence, including inter-partner violence, unsafe and non-consensual sex, and behaviours that enhance risk of HIV.

There is an urgent need for diversified and durable financing mechanisms for HIV and other public health priorities. The funding losses have exposed the fragility of HIV programmes in many low- and middle-income countries. Yet, hidden in this unfolding crisis are opportunities to make HIV responses and entire health systems more resilient against future shocks, whether due to funding shifts, pandemics, climate change or conflicts.

Many countries have been rebalancing their HIV programmes by increasing domestic funding for HIV. Current indications are that 25 countries plan to increase their domestic budgets for HIV in 2026, despite the constrained financial context.<sup>7</sup>

Countries are developing strategies, with UNAIDS support, to manage the sudden funding losses. More than 30 countries are developing HIV sustainability roadmaps to increase domestic investments in their HIV programmes as part of strategies to build sustainable, inclusive, multisectoral, country-owned HIV responses by 2030 (19).

<sup>7</sup> Twenty-five of the 60 countries reporting to Global AIDS Monitoring on forecasted budget trends for 2026 have stated they expect to increase their domestic public HIV budgets: Bhutan, Bolivia (Plurinational State of), Brazil, Dominican Republic, Namibia, Pakistan, Republic of Moldova, Tajikistan, Timor-Leste (<5% increase); Algeria, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Central African Republic, Cuba, Egypt, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Nigeria, Thailand, United Republic of Tanzania (5–10% increase); Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Mali, Niger (>10% increase).

The challenging funding situation for the HIV response, and for related health and societal investments, has made it clear that increasing the fiscal space for countries is essential. This can be done through tax reforms and debt reduction instruments and strategies. The response to HIV has historically relied on a combination of both domestic funding from taxes and donor grants. The latter remain essential, but a longer-term sustainable future requires a diversified approach, including the inclusion of HIV into health insurance packages, and the use of blended financing instruments combining resources from donors, development banks and even private actors.

It is important for donors to recognize that the option of increasing domestic HIV funding is not immediately or equally available to all countries. Combinations of debt distress, slow economic growth and underperforming tax systems leave many countries, notably in sub-Saharan Africa, with limited fiscal space to increase their domestic funding for HIV. It is vital that donors support their efforts to progressively expand domestic HIV financing by continuing to show the solidarity that is needed to avert a return to the early 2000s when AIDS was deadliest.

# References

- 1 UNAIDS and Avenir Health estimates, April 2025.
- 2 Stover J, Sonneveldt E, Tam Y, et al. The effects of reductions in United States foreign assistance on global health. SSRN. 2025 (https://doi.org/10.2139/ ssrn.5199076).
- 3 Data portal. New York: United Nations Population Division (https://population.un.org/dataportal/data/ indicators/61/locations/947/start/1990/end/2025/ line/linetimeplot?df=c428a4da-9d14-4fd4-a561d52b9147fa41).
- 4 Stevens O, Sabin K, Anderson RL, et al. Population size, HIV prevalence, and antiretroviral therapy coverage among key populations in sub-Saharan Africa: collation and synthesis of survey data, 2010– 23. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(9):e1400–e1412 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00236-5).
- 5 Impact of US funding cuts on HIV programmes in east and southern Africa: regional update. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2025 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/ featurestories/2025/march/20250331\_ESA-region\_ fs#:~:text=The%20DREAMS%20programme%20 in%20all,sexual%20violence%2C%20education%20 and%20empowerment).
- 6 Korenromp EL, Sabin K, Stover J, et al. New HIV Infections among key populations and their partners in 2010 and 2022, by world region: a multisources estimation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2024;95(13):e34–e45 (https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAI.00000000003340).

- 7 PEPFAR Panorama Spotlight. Washington, DC: United States Department of State (https://data. pepfar.gov/).
- 8 PEPFAR latest global results and projections factsheet. Washington, DC: United States Department of State; 2024 (https://www.state.gov/ pepfar-latest-global-results-factsheet-dec-2024/).
- AIDSinfo. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://aidsinfo.unaids. org/services).
- 10 UNAIDS financial estimates, May 2025.
- 11 HIV prevention: from crisis to opportunity—key findings from the 2023 Global HIV Prevention Coalition scorecards. Geneva: Global Prevention Coalition; 2024 (https://www.unaids.org/en/ resources/documents/2024/2023-global-hivprevention-coalition-scorecards-key-findings).
- 12 World drug report 2024. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2024 (https://www. unodc.org/unodc/en/data-and-analysis/world-drugreport-2024.html).
- 13 Pitchaya I, Sibanda E, McGee K, et al. Communityled strategies for communicable disease prevention and management in low- and middle-income countries: a mixed-methods systematic review of health, social, and economic impact. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2025;5(4):e0004304 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0004304).

- 14 Ayala G, Sprague L, van der Merwe LL-A, et al. Peerand community-led responses to HIV: a scoping review. PLoS One. 2021;16(2):e0260555 (https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0260555).
- 15 Milovanovic M, Coetze J. The health effects and moral imperative of funding sex worker programmes. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(9):e1373-e1374 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00271-7).
- 16 Matambanadzo P, Otiso L, Kavhaza S, et al. Community leadership is key to effective HIV service engagement for female sex workers in Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2025;28(3):e26425 (https://doi. org/10.1002/jia2.26425).
- 17 Moyo E, Moyo P, Murewanhema G, et al. Community-led interventions for HIV and AIDS prevention, treatment, and care in Southern Africa: a scoping review. Discov Public Health. 2025;22(78) (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12982-025-00468-y).
- 18 Lyatuu GW, Naburi H, Mwashemele S, et al. Effect of peer-mother interactive programme on prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission outcomes among pregnant women on anti-retroviral treatment in routine healthcare in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2022;2(3):e0000256 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000256).
- 19 HIV response sustainability primer. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2024 (https://hivpreventioncoalition.unaids.org/ sites/default/files/attachments/hiv\_response\_ sustainability\_response\_primer\_web\_1.pdf).



# WHERE ARE WE NOW?

© UNAIDS

# **1.1** Overview of the epidemic and response

When United Nations Member States adopted the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in 2015, they also committed to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030, a pledge they reaffirmed in the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS (1). This optimism was not misplaced. At a time when less than a fifth of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are currently on track, the global HIV response (SDG target 3.3) is a rare demonstration that results can be achieved, even if the ultimate goal is not yet reached.

By the end of 2024, the annual number of people newly acquiring HIV was at its lowest since the mid-1980s, and the annual number of people dying of AIDS-related causes had been reduced to levels last seen in the early 1990s. At least seven countries had achieved the 95–95–95 targets in 2024, and 18 countries and territories had eliminated the vertical transmission of HIV. Another 10 countries without available data for 2024 achieved 90% treatment coverage in 2022 or 2023. Average life expectancy had rebounded in the countries hit hardest by HIV.

The declines in numbers of new HIV infections and AIDS-related deaths were not yet sufficient to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030—but the means and the momentum for doing so existed. Examples of country successes were multiplying, and national governments were assuming greater responsibility for their HIV responses. New scientific breakthroughs continued to be made, including long-acting injectable antiretroviral medicines that are almost 100% effective in preventing HIV infections but require precise targeting and demand-generation among the people at highest risk of HIV acquisition to be cost-effective (2).

That was the situation at the end of 2024. Since then, HIV programmes in low- and middle-income countries have been rocked by sudden, major financial disruptions that threaten to reverse decades of hard-won progress against HIV. Wars and conflict, widening economic inequalities, geopolitical shifts and climate change shocks—the likes of which are unprecedented in the global HIV response—are stoking instability and straining multilateral cooperation. Urgent action and revived solidarity are needed to sustain the gains made and prevent a resurgence of HIV.

HIV programmes in low- and middle-income countries have been rocked by sudden, major financial disruptions that threaten to reverse decades of hard-won progress against HIV. UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

# **1.2** Even before the funding crisis, the rate of decline in new HIV infections was insufficient to reach the 2030 target

Globally in 2024, there were 40% fewer new HIV infections compared with 2010, but the rate of decline has been too slow to meet the target of 370 000 or fewer new HIV infections in 2025, let alone the target of 200 000 infections by 2030. An estimated 1.3 million [1.0 million–1.7 million] people newly acquired HIV in 2024—only slightly fewer than the estimated 1.4 million [1.1 million–1.7 million] new infections in 2023. Half of all people who acquired HIV in 2024 were living in sub-Saharan Africa (Figure 1.1).

Between 2010 and 2024, numbers of new HIV infections decreased by 56% in eastern and southern Africa, 55% in western and central Africa, 21% in the Caribbean and 17% in Asia and the Pacific—but they increased by 94% in the Middle East and North Africa, 13% in Latin America and 7% in eastern Europe and central Asia (Figure 1.2).

## Half of all new HIV infections are in sub-Saharan Africa



Figure 1.1. Distribution of new HIV infections, by region, 2024

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

## An estimated 1.3 million people newly acquired HIV in 2024.

# Efforts to achieve greater gender equality and uphold the rights of girls and women are as urgent as ever.

While many countries have made significant progress in reducing new HIV infections over the past two decades, five countries (Lesotho, Malawi, Nepal, Rwanda, Zimbabwe) had reduced their annual numbers of new HIV infections by at least 75% between 2010 and 2024 and were on track to reach the target of reducing the numbers of new HIV infections by 90% by 2030. Another two countries (Eswatini, Kenya) had reduced their annual numbers of new HIV infections by 70% since 2010. At least six high-income countries had reduced numbers of new infections by more than 50% since 2010, albeit from already low levels.

In sub-Saharan Africa, where this progress has been strongest, much unfinished work remains. Recent analysis shows the lifetime probability of acquiring HIV in sub-Saharan Africa has declined steeply from almost 22% [20.1–24.2%] in 1995, but it was still almost 9% [7.5–10.7%] in 2021 (*3*).<sup>1</sup> The rate of decline in new infections has been steeper among men than women. Adolescent girls and young women aged 15–24 years are still at high risk of acquiring HIV (see Chapter 3). In 2024, 140 000 [88 000–180 000] adolescent girls and young women acquired HIV in eastern and southern Africa, and 31 000 [19 000–49 000] in western and central Africa. In eastern and southern Africa, adolescent girls and young women account for 28% of new infections among all age groups and 77% of new infections among young people aged 15–24 years. In addition, increasing proportions of new infections in sub-Saharan Africa are among women aged 25–49 years. Efforts to achieve greater gender equality and uphold the rights of girls and women are as urgent as ever.

## **Reductions in new HIV infections are uneven**





Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

1 As a comparison, this probability was well below 1% in most other regions.

## Key populations continue to be more affected by HIV globally





Source: Global AIDS Monitoring 2021–2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/); UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

Progress in preventing HIV acquisitions was less evident among people from key populations and their sex partners, who accounted for an estimated 80% of new infections outside sub-Saharan Africa and about 25% in sub-Saharan Africa in 2022 (4). These populations are still disproportionately affected by HIV, including in places where HIV is widely present (Figure 1.3).

Discriminatory attitudes, stigma, punitive laws, gender inequalities and violence continue to disrupt people's attempts to stay free of HIV or to live healthy lives if they acquire the virus. In many countries, there is a lack of political commitment to provide HIV-related services and ensure protection for people from key and other vulnerable populations (see Chapter 3). People from key populations have had to depend on the work of their own community-led groups and other nongovernmental organizations, many of which are now reeling from funding cuts. Also affected are HIV surveys and studies that provide vital information to guide programmes for people living with, at risk of or affected by HIV. Less information about these populations and the barriers they face will likely result in less funding for the requisite interventions.

People from key populations and their sex partners accounted for an estimated 80% of new infections outside sub-Saharan Africa and about 25% in sub-Saharan Africa in 2022.

Notes: n = number of countries.

HIV programmes have reduced the annual number of children acquiring HIV through vertical transmission to 120 000 [82 000–170 000], a 62% drop since 2010 and the lowest number since the 1980s. Eighteen countries and territories<sup>2</sup> have been certified as having halted the vertical transmission of HIV.<sup>3</sup> Two countries with large epidemics have been certified as being on the path to elimination (Botswana, Namibia).

Overall, programmes to prevent the vertical transmission of HIV averted nearly 4.4 million [3.1 million–6.4 million] HIV acquisitions in children between 2000 and 2024. Much of this was due to accomplishments in eastern and southern Africa—achievements that are now jeopardized by funding cuts to HIV programmes. In western and central Africa, the rate of decline in paediatric HIV infections has slowed markedly since 2015, a trend that will be difficult to address if funding losses are not recovered.

Globally, approximately 40.8 million [37 million–45.6 million] people were living with HIV in 2024, the highest number ever. This increase is due to more people with HIV accessing lifesaving medicines and services and living longer. But the trend is not sustainable. Unless the world becomes much more successful at enabling people to stay HIV-free or a cure is developed (5), the HIV epidemic and the need for treatment will keep growing. HIV prevention remains the biggest challenge.

## Two-thirds of people living with HIV are in sub-Saharan Africa



Figure 1.4. Distribution of people living with HIV, by region, 2024

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

3 Defined as fewer than 50 new HIV infections in children per 100 000 births.

<sup>2</sup> Anguilla (2017), Antigua and Barbuda (2017), Armenia (2016), Belarus (2016), Belize (2023), Bermuda (2017), Cayman Islands (2017), Cuba (2015), Dominica (2020), Jamaica (2024), Malaysia (2018), Maldives (2019), Montserrat (2017), Oman (2022), Saint Kitts and Nevis (2017), Saint Vincent and the Grenadines (2024), Sri Lanka (2019), Thailand (2016).

# **1.3 HIV treatment continues to reduce the number of AIDS-related deaths**

The number of deaths due to AIDS-related causes was reduced by more than half between 2010 and 2024 when AIDS claimed an estimated 630 000 [490 000– 820 000] lives. Driving this decrease are widening access to effective antiretroviral therapy and rising levels of viral load suppression in Asia and the Pacific, the Caribbean and sub-Saharan Africa. Similar improvements are absent in eastern Europe and central Asia and the Middle East and North Africa, and numbers of AIDSrelated deaths in eastern Europe and central Asia are still increasing (Figure 1.5)

Globally in 2024, approximately 31.6 million [27.8 million–32.9 million] people were receiving HIV treatment, equal to 77% [62–90%] of all people living with HIV. Some regions were close to achieving the 95–95–95 testing and treatment targets by 2025.<sup>4</sup> At least seven countries (Botswana, Eswatini, Lesotho, Namibia, Rwanda, Zambia, Zimbabwe) had reached all three 95–95–95 targets by the end of 2024, and a further 12 countries had reached 90% for each of these three targets.

The continuous addition of new HIV infections and persistent gaps in testing and treatment programmes, however, meant that 9.2 million people living with HIV were *not* getting lifesaving medicines in 2024. Global treatment coverage increased only marginally between 2023 and 2024 (from 75% to 77%), before the current wave of funding cuts.

## Numbers of AIDS-related deaths have decreased steeply in most regions



**Figure 1.5.** Percentage change in annual numbers of AIDS-related deaths between 2010 and 2024, global and by region

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

The targets call for 95% of all people living with HIV to know their HIV status, 95% of all people with diagnosed HIV infection to receive sustained antiretroviral therapy, and 95% of all people receiving antiretroviral therapy to have viral suppression by 2025.

# 9.2 million people living with HIV were not getting lifesaving medicines in 2024.

Treatment coverage and viral load suppression levels continued to be lower among men generally and among people from key populations, and they were especially poor among children. Reasons for these disparities include stigma and discrimination, absent or insufficient services, and a lack of sufficient support for many people living with HIV. Although effective and palatable HIV treatment for children exists, AIDS-related causes claimed the lives of 75 000 [50 000–110 000] children in 2024, the vast majority of them in sub-Saharan Africa. Overall, an estimated 620 000 [490 000–800 000] children living with HIV were *not* receiving HIV treatment in 2024.

Taking antiretroviral medicines and having viral load suppression protects a person's own health and prevents onward HIV transmission. With almost one in four people living with HIV not on treatment, neither the full prevention nor the lifesaving impact of treatment and care programmes is being achieved.

The persistently large proportion (25–40%) of people who have advanced HIV disease (AIDS) at diagnosis or when starting treatment is concerning. This trend is evident across all regions and has changed little in the past decade—a reminder of the constant need to monitor, adjust and improve treatment programmes (see Chapter 2) (6–8).

There was a 71% drop in tuberculosis (TB)-related deaths among people living with HIV between 2010 and 2023—from an estimated 560 000 [420 000–710 000] to 160 000 [130 000–190 000] deaths. The decline in numbers of TB-related deaths among people living with HIV in Asia and the Pacific (–78% between 2010 and 2023) and sub-Saharan Africa (–72%), where almost 90% of all TB-related deaths among people living with HIV occur, has slowed since 2021. Sudden rises in the numbers of TB-related deaths among people living with HIV occur, has slowed since 2021. Sudden rises in the numbers of TB-related deaths among people living with HIV after 2018 appear to be reversing in eastern Europe and central Asia and Latin America (9).

With almost one in four people living with HIV not on treatment, neither the full prevention nor the lifesaving impact of treatment and care programmes is being achieved.

# **1.4** Recent funding cuts could undo decades of progress

The means for further and more equitable progress against HIV exist, and there are many country examples to illustrate this (see Chapters 2 and 3). This work now has to proceed in a world that seems to be shifting on its foundations. Many donor countries are retreating from the solidarity they once maintained with poorer countries to respond to one of the deadliest epidemics in modern history. Funding cuts and freezes imposed in 2025 place the global HIV response in jeopardy.

In the absence of a cure for HIV, millions of people will continue to need HIV treatment for many decades to come, but funding losses are destabilizing treatment programmes. Unless remedied rapidly, interruptions in treatment services (e.g. due to stockouts of antiretroviral and other medicines or staffing

# The importance and strategic use of HIV epidemic estimates

Estimates and trends of the HIV epidemic at the country, regional and global levels have been published by UNAIDS annually using mathematical models. These include estimates in more than 170 countries of the number of people living with HIV, the number of people newly infected with HIV, the number of people who have died from AIDS-related causes, and the 95–95–95 testing and treatment indicators, among other estimates. Country-level models are developed by country teams using the best available demographic, epidemiological and programmatic data from multiple data sources. Model development is guided by the UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections.

Since 2001, UNAIDS has worked closely with countries and key partners to strengthen country capacity to produce and take ownership of national HIV estimates. Data and estimates are reviewed annually at the national and global levels to ensure consistent and reliable quality, and final estimates are approved by national authorities.

The estimates are used to understand the trajectory of the HIV epidemic at the national and, where available, geographical dispersion at subnational levels; monitor progress in the HIV response towards key targets; identify gaps and inequalities in the HIV response; and inform national strategic frameworks and donor agreements. The estimates and models are also used as a starting point to assess the impact of different scenarios on future epidemic trends in order to optimize HIV responses and estimate their cost.

At the regional and global levels, the estimates have been used by UNAIDS, other United Nations agencies and key partners to estimate the impact of the pandemic, track progress, report on United Nations political declaration commitments, and provide guidance for developing strategic and sustainable HIV responses. In high-burden epidemics, these estimates were strengthened and validated using population-based surveys. Those surveys were discontinued in many countries with the closing of the United States Agency for International Development and reduction in United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) funding, impeding the ability for countries to monitor HIV and other public health areas.

More information on the models is provided in Annex 1.

shortages) can damage health systems and degrade population health. When people must make repeated clinic visits to receive test results, start treatment or get antiretroviral medicine refills, it jeopardizes their health and increases the risk of transmitting HIV (and/or TB) to other people, which in turn puts further strain on health systems. A study based on data for Malawi, for example, showed that procurement and supply disruptions for HIV- and TB-related services could require an additional 14.3 million hours of client-facing time from health-care workers per year in an already highly constrained health system (10).

The impact is likely to be severe. Treatment interruptions will contribute to an increase in HIV-related morbidity and mortality and numbers of new infections, resulting in long-term human and economic costs and consequences. UNAIDS modelling shows that if the programmes previously supported by PEPFAR are halted, there will be more than 4 million additional AIDS-related deaths and more than 6 million additional new HIV infections by 2030 (Figures 1.6 and 1.7).

## The recent funding restrictions could potentially put us back to levels not seen since the early 2000s







Source: UNAIDS 2025 estimates and projections from April 2025 using Avenir Health Goals Model.

UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

Along with purchasing HIV medicines, diagnostics and other health products, and remunerating and training health staff, donor funding helps finance information systems, research, logistics, procurement, and the community programmes that make HIV responses effective, equitable and person-centred.

The full impact of the reductions in health-care staff for HIV and related services—especially testing and treatment linkage and adherence support—is yet to be fully assessed. PEPFAR, for example, was supporting remuneration for at least 340 000 health workers (11), but it is not clear how many of these are still working. Also unclear is the full extent to which crucial services have been maintained or resumed, and their quality and reach. This is partly because the funding losses are also disrupting—and in some cases dismantling—data collection and management systems, which affects the capacity to track service interruptions and to respond appropriately.

Amid the widespread cuts to official development assistance spending, HIV community systems built over decades and instrumental to progress across HIV responses are now under threat. Without sustained investment, their abilities to complement and reinforce national health systems will erode. These organizations and networks have painstakingly earned the trust of the communities they serve. If they disappear, it could take years to rebuild the organized means to advocate for people's rights, connect them to services, and monitor the quality of the services.

The way forward is complex. The immediate priority is to protect and sustain HIV programmes in the face of drastic funding losses and human rights setbacks, and to use new opportunities such as long-acting prevention tools to the fullest extent possible in varying country contexts.

# An increasingly hostile environment

The human rights environment for HIV responses is deteriorating and the anti-gender movement is gaining strength, to the detriment of public health and especially the populations most affected by HIV. Tied to these trends is the constricted civic space in many countries, making it more difficult for civil society and community-led organizations to operate, organize and serve the health and related needs of communities (12).

This is occurring in the wider context of rampant widespread mis- and disinformation, including about public health and science more generally. Misrepresentations of scientific findings appear to be on the increase, and there is a growing perception that trust in scientific processes and health institutions has declined. This has implications for the HIV response.

It is important to note that these trends are not uniform. A recent large study found that in most of the 68 countries surveyed, the majority of people trusted scientists and felt scientists should engage more with society and in policy-making (13). Nevertheless, even among a minority of people, a lack of trust in scientific processes, findings and guidance is a concern. It is also a reminder that people's knowledge of and perceived need to use HIV services cannot be taken for granted. Public information about HIV and campaigns to foster demand for effective services and tools remain essential.

## Table 1.1 Summary of progress against the 2025 targets

	TARGET	0004 674716
COMBINATION HIV PREVENTION FOR ALL Reduce number of new HIV infections to under 370 000	<b>TARGET</b> 370 000	2024 STATUS 1.3 million [1.0 million–1.7 million]
Reduce number of new HIV infections to under 370 000 Reduce number of new HIV infections among adolescent girls and young women to below 50 000	50 000	210 000 [140 000–280 000]
Reduce number of new rink infections among adolescent gins and young women to below 30 000	50 000	38%/39%/44%/47% (medians)
95% of people at risk of HIV access effective combination prevention options		(gay men and other men who have sex with men/ people who inject drugs/transgender people/sex workers)
Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for 10 million people at substantial risk of HIV (or 21.2 million who used PrEP at least once during the year)	21.2 million	3.9 million
50% opioid agonist maintenance therapy coverage among people who use opioids	50%	0 of 8 regions
90% sterile injecting equipment at last injection	90%	13 of 35 countries
90% of men aged 15 years and over in 15 priority countries have access to voluntary medical male circumcision	90%	67% (2023)
95–95–95 TARGETS FOR HIV TESTING AND TREATMENT	TARGET	2024 STATUS
Reduce annual number of AIDS-related deaths to under 250 000	250 000	630 000 [490 000–820 000]
34 million people on HIV treatment by 2025	34 million	31.6 million [27.8 million-32.9 million]
95–95–95 testing, treatment and viral suppression targets	95–95–95	All ages: 87–89–94 Women (15+ years): 92–91–95 Men (15+ years): 84–87–94 Children (0–14 years): 63–87–86
		Key population: unknown 35% of people newly enrolled in HIV treatment had started
90% of people living with HIV receive preventive treatment for TB by 2025	90%	preventive treatment for TB (median for 2023)
Reduce number of TB-related deaths among people living with HIV by 80% by 2025 (compared with 2010 baseline)	80%	71%
PAEDIATRIC HIV	TARGET	2024 STATUS
86% of children living with HIV have a suppressed viral load by 2025	86%	47% [38–60%]
100% of pregnant and breastfeeding women living with HIV receive antiretroviral therapy, with 95% having	100%	
a suppressed viral load before delivery and during breastfeeding by 2025	100%	84% [72–>98%]/not available
GENDER EQUALITY AND EMPOWERMENT OF GIRLS AND WOMEN	TARGET	2024 STATUS
Less than 10% of women and girls experience physical or sexual violence from a male intimate partner in the past 12 months by 2025	<10%	1.5–34.6% >10% in 22 of 58 countries
Less than 10% of people from key populations experience physical and/or sexual violence in the past 12 months by 2025	<10%	23%/22%/20%/8% (medians) (people who inject drugs/transgender people/sex workers/ gay men and other men who have sex with men)
Less than 10% of people support inequitable gender norms by 2025	<10%	19.2%/20.5% (medians) (women aged 15–49 years/men aged 15–49 years)
95% of girls and women aged 15–49 years have their HIV sexual and reproductive health-care service needs met	95%	Median of 63% of women currently married or in union make their own decisions regarding sexual relations, contraceptive use and their own health care
COMMUNITY LEADERSHIP	TARGET	2024 STATUS
COMMUNITY LEADERSHIP Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025	30%	2024 STATUS Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025		Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of	30%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal	30% 80%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize	30% 80% 60%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries 2024 STATUS
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize sex work possession of small amounts of drugs same-sex sexual behaviour	30% 80% 60%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize sex work possession of small amounts of drugs	30% 80% 60% TARGET	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries 2024 STATUS 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to	30% 80% 60% <b>TARGET</b> <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 152 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress	30% 80% 60% <b>TARGET</b> <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress	30% 80% 60% TARGET <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress	30% 80% 60% TARGET <10% <10% <10% >90%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median)
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize sex work possession of small amounts of drugs same-sex sexual behaviour HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 90% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of the general population report discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV	30% 80% 60% <b>TARGET</b> <10% <10% >90% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting >75% in 7 countries
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people from key populations report experiencing stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination	30% 80% 60% <b>TARGET</b> <10% <10% <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting >75% in 7 countries 38% 21%/28%/35% (medians) (gay men and ther men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people)
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize sex work possession of small amounts of drugs same-sex sexual behaviour HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV report discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma	30% 80% 60% <b>TARGET</b> <10% <10% <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting >75% in 7 countries 38% 21%/28%/35%/35% (medians) (gay men and other men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people)
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma	30% 80% 60% TARGET <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries 88% 21%/28%/35%/35% (medians) (gay men and other men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people) 17% in health-care settings (median) 13% in community settings (median)
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize sex work sex work same-sex sexual behaviour HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination MIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE AND INTEGRATION	30% 80% 60% TARGET <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries 88% 21%/28%/35%/35% (medians) (gay men and other men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people) 17% in health-care settings (median) 13% in community settings (median)
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations lack access to legal services More than 90% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report experiencing stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination	30% 80% 60% TARGET <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting >75% in 7 countries 38% 21%/28%/35%/35% (medians) (gay men and other men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people) 17% in health-care settings (median) 13% in community settings (median)
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize sex work sex work same-sex sexual behaviour HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination MIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE AND INTEGRATION	30% 80% 60% TARGET <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting >75% in 7 countries 38% 21%/28%/35%/35% (medians) (gay men and other men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people) 13% in community settings (median) 13% in community settings (median) 13% in community settings (median) 2024 STATUS
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations lack access to legal services More than 90% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination in health-care and community settings <b>UNIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE AND INTEGRATION</b> Systems fo	30% 80% 60% TARGET <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting >75% in 7 countries 38% 21%/28%/35%/35% (medians) (gay men and other men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people) 17% in health-care settings (median) 13% in community settings (median)
Ensure community-led organizations deliver 30% of testing and treatment services, with a focus on HIV testing, linkage to treatment, adherence and retention support, and treatment literacy by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 80% of HIV prevention services for populations at high risk of HIV infection, including for women within these populations, by 2025 Ensure community-led organizations deliver 60% of programmes to support the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 <b>REALIZE HUMAN RIGHTS AND ELIMINATE STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION</b> Less than 10% of countries criminalize • sex work • possession of small amounts of drugs • same-sex sexual behaviour • HIV transmission, exposure or nondisclosure Less than 10% of countries lack mechanisms for people living with HIV and people from key populations to report abuse and discrimination and seek redress Less than 10% of people living with HIV and people from key populations lack access to legal services More than 90% of people living with HIV and people from key populations lack access to legal services More than 90% of people living with HIV who experienced rights abuses have sought redress by 2025 Less than 10% of the general population report discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report internalized stigma Less than 10% of people living with HIV report experiencing stigma and discrimination Less than 10% of people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination Systems for health and social protection that provide 90% of people living with, at risk of or affected by HIV with integrated HIV services 90% of people in humanitarian settings access integrated HIV services 45% of people living with, at risk of or affected by HIV have access to social protection benefits	30% 80% 60% <b>TARGET</b> <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <b>TARGET</b> 90% 90% 45%	Community-led organizations can legally provide HIV testing in 84 countries and distribute antiretroviral medicines in 39 countries Community-led organizations can legally distribute condoms in 92 countries, and provide naloxone in 15 countries Community-led organizations can legally deliver legal services in 55 countries <b>2024 STATUS</b> 168 countries 152 countries 64 countries 156 countries 156 countries 48% of countries have mechanisms established by the government; 34% of countries have mechanisms established by communities 61% of countries have mechanisms in place to ensure access affordable legal services 31% of people living with HIV sought redress 53% (median) >50% in 17 of the 33 countries reporting >75% in 7 countries 38% 21%/28%/35%/35% (medians) (gay men and other men who have sex with men/sex workers/people who inject drugs/transgender people) 17% in health-care settings (median) 13% in community settings (median) 13% in community settings (median) 13% in community settings (median) 2024 STATUS

Progress is off track Moderate progress 2025 targets are within reach

# References

- A/RES/70/266. Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS: on the Fast Track to accelerating the fight against HIV and to ending the AIDS epidemic by 2030. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 8 June 2016. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2016 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_ asset/2016-political-declaration-HIV-AIDS\_en.pdf).
- 2 Bekker LG, Das M, Abdool Karim Q, et al. Twice-yearly lenacapavir or daily F/TAF for HIV prevention in cisgender women. N Engl J Med. 2024;391(13):1179– 1192 (https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2407001).
- 3 GBD 2021 HIV Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of HIV/AIDS, 1990–2021, and forecasts to 2050, for 204 countries and territories: the Global Burden of Disease Study 2021. Lancet HIV. 2024;11(12):e807–e822 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3018(24)00212-1).
- 4 Korenromp EL, Sabin K, Stover J, et al. New HIV infections among key populations and their partners in 2010 and 2022, by world region: a multisources estimation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2024;95(15):e34–e45 (https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAI.000000000003340).

- 5 World-first discovery harnesses mRNA in the search for an HIV cure. Melbourne: Doherty Institute, University of Melbourne; 2025 (https://www.doherty. edu.au/news-events/news/world-first-discoveryharnesses-mrna-in-search-for-hiv-cure).
- 6 De Waal R, Wools-Kaloustian K, Brazier E, et al. Global trends in CD4 count measurement and distribution at first antiretroviral treatment initiation. Clin Infect Dis. 2024:ciae548 (https://doi. org/10.1093/cid/ciae548).
- 7 Kassanjee R, Stelzle D, Jarvis JN, et al. Global prevalence of advanced HIV disease in healthcare settings: a rapid review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2025;28(2):e26415 (https://doi.org/10.1002/ jia2.26415).
- 8 Kitenge MK, Fatti G, Eshun-Wilson I, et al. Prevalence and trends of advanced HIV disease among antiretroviral therapy-naïve and antiretroviral therapy-experienced patients in South Africa between 2010–2021: a systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Infect Dis. 2023;23(1):549 (https://doi. org/10.1186/s12879-023-08521-4).

- 9 Global tuberculosis report 2024. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (https://iris.who.int/ bitstream/handle/10665/373828/9789240083851eng.pdf?sequence=1).
- 10 Mangal TD, Mohan S, Colbourn T, et al. Assessing the effect of health system resources on HIV and tuberculosis programmes in Malawi: a modelling study. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(10):e1638–e1648 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00259-6).
- 11 Nichols BE, Geng EH, Moakley E, et al. Rapid development of an online tracker to communicate the human impact of abruptly halting PEPFAR support. J Int AIDS Soc. 2025;28(3):e26433 (https:// doi.org/10.1002/jia2.26433).
- 12 Rights reversed: a downward shift in civic space. Johannesburg: CIVICUS; 2024 (https:// civicusmonitor.contentfiles.net/media/documents/ RightsReversed.2019tc2023.pdf).
- 13 Cologna V, Mede NG, Berger S, et al. Trust in scientists and their role in society across 68 countries. Nat Hum Behav. 2025;9(4):713–730 (https://doi. org/10.1038/s41562-024-02090-5).



# SERVICES THAT SAVE THE LIVES OF PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV

© UNAIDS

# The number of people receiving antiretroviral therapy across the world rose to 31.6 million in 2024 equivalent to 77% of the estimated 40.8 million people living with HIV.

Globally in 2024, there were 54% fewer deaths due to AIDS than in 2010, an achievement made possible by widening access to HIV testing services and effective treatment (Figure 2.1). In sub-Saharan Africa, which is home to more than 60% of people living with HIV, the provision of antiretroviral therapy, among other advances, resulted in a rebound in life expectancy from 56.5 years in 2010 to 62.3 years in 2024 (1).

AIDS still claimed an estimated 630 000 [490 000–820 000] lives in 2024, however—far more than the global target of fewer than 250 000 AIDS-related deaths by 2025. Almost all these deaths were in low- and middle-income countries. Service gaps and other hindrances—now including sudden, steep 2025 funding losses—still limit the impact of global HIV treatment efforts.

The number of people receiving antiretroviral therapy across the world rose to 31.6 million in 2024—equivalent to 77% [62–90%] of the estimated 40.8 million [37.0 million–45.6 million] people living with HIV. Equally important is the growing proportion of people living with HIV who have viral load suppression, enabling them to live healthy lives and to have zero risk of onward transmission. Viral load suppression levels among all people living with HIV reached 73% [66–82%] in 2024, up from 53% [48–59%] in 2018.

HIV testing and treatment coverage and viral load suppression levels among people living with HIV improved globally in 2024 (Figure 2.2), although they still lag considerably in eastern Europe and central Asia and the Middle East and North Africa (see regional chapters). Eastern Europe and central Asia is the only region where the number of AIDS-related deaths has risen since 2010—by 48% (see Figure 1.5 in previous chapter).

## Rising HIV treatment coverage has led to a steep decline in the number of AIDS-related deaths



**Figure 2.1.** Numbers of people dying from AIDS-related causes and percentages of people living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, global, 1990–2024

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

# Testing and treatment coverage and viral load suppression levels among people living with HIV continued to rise in 2024

**Figure 2.2.** Percentages of people living with HIV who know their status, who are receiving antiretroviral therapy and have viral load suppression, global, 2015–2024



Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

The sheer scale of the HIV epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa means that in 2024 it was home to half of the 9.2 million [7.8 million–10.3 million] people globally who needed but were not getting HIV treatment (Figure 2.3). A further quarter of the total unmet need was in Asia and the Pacific. A total of 61% of all AIDS-related deaths in 2024 were in sub-Saharan Africa, most of them in eastern and southern Africa, where the epidemic claimed the lives of an estimated 260 000 [210 000–330 000] people in 2024.

Globally in 2024, an estimated 75 000 [50 000–110 000] children died from AIDS-related causes, compared with 240 000 [160 000–340 000] in 2010. The vast majority of these deaths (84%) were in sub-Saharan Africa. Globally, 12% of all AIDS-related deaths are among children, even though children account for only 3% of all people living with HIV. Child deaths should decline if HIV testing services do better at diagnosing children living with HIV and providing them with more palatable and efficacious paediatric antiretroviral medicine formulations.

## More than half of the unmet HIV treatment need is in two regions



Figure 2.3. Distribution of unmet antiretroviral therapy need, by region, 2024

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

# 2.1 The 95–95–95 targets were within reach in 2024, but some countries are being hit hard by funding losses

HIV responses were getting closer to achieving the 95–95–95 targets in 2024.<sup>1</sup> Globally, an estimated 87% [69–>98%] of all people living with HIV knew their HIV status, 89% [71–>98%] of people who knew their HIV-positive status were receiving antiretroviral therapy, and 94% [75–>98%] of people on antiretroviral therapy had a suppressed viral load. These are huge improvements in a short space of time.

The three targets were almost achieved in eastern and southern Africa (having reached 93–91–95), where testing, treatment and viral load suppression levels— which were already high—continued to increase in 2024. Seven countries in this region<sup>2</sup>—each of which is contending with a large HIV epidemic—achieved all three "95" targets in 2024. Several high-income countries have achieved the "95" targets, including Denmark and Sweden (2).<sup>3</sup>

Lesotho increased testing coverage by using index testing, outreach activities and peer-led interventions, with an emphasis on reaching younger people. Its success in meeting the other targets is due in part to a focus on person-centred care and psychosocial support, and the use of multimonth antiretroviral medicine refills to reduce the burden and cost of travelling to pharmacies or clinics (3). Zimbabwe has applied similar approaches and focused HIV testing services and treatment facilities in areas with high HIV prevalence. As a result, people living with HIV who are unaware of their HIV status and/or not receiving antiretroviral therapy now tend to be concentrated in specific areas, including border regions (4), allowing programme managers to focus limited testing resources in these areas.

A further 12 countries—eight of them in sub-Saharan Africa—have reached 90% on each of the three targets, suggesting they are in reach of the 95–95–95 targets. There is a real risk, however, that funding and HIV programme disruptions will reverse these achievements. Several other high-income countries are similarly close to achieving the 95–95–95 targets, including Australia, Belgium, France, Ireland, the Kingdom of the Netherlands, Saudi Arabia and Switzerland.

In Asia and the Pacific, the Caribbean, the Middle East and North Africa and western and central Africa, the biggest gap is around the first "95" target of diagnosing people living with HIV.

<sup>1</sup> The targets call for 95% of all people living with HIV to know their HIV status, 95% of all people who know their HIV-positive status to receive sustained antiretroviral therapy, and 95% of all people receiving antiretroviral therapy to have a suppressed viral load by 2025.

<sup>2</sup> Botswana, Eswatini, Lesotho, Namibia, Rwanda, Zambia, Zimbabwe.

<sup>3</sup> Based on estimates for 2010 up to 2023 and 2022, respectively, since those countries do not have data yet for 2024.

# Funding losses—some countries are being hit hard

The trends described in this report go up to the end of 2024 and do not reflect the impact of the reductions in donor support to HIV programmes in the first months of 2025. Severe reductions have been applied to the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) programme, which has been a lifeline for countries with the highest HIV burdens, supporting HIV testing for 84.1 million people and HIV treatment for 20.6 million people in 55 countries in 2024 (5).

If not addressed, these funding disruptions could lead to an alarming rise in numbers of new HIV infections and AIDS-related deaths, according to several modelling exercises (see Chapters 1 and 4). The loss of a quarter of external aid for HIV programmes and discontinued PEPFAR support could result in more than 4 million additional AIDS-related deaths by 2030. Even if funding for HIV treatment (but not prevention) is restored, a recent study found that cuts to prevention and supplementary services could result in an additional 1 million new HIV infections from 2025 to 2030 (*6*).

Maintaining and distributing stocks of antiretroviral medicines to people living with HIV is essential, but it is only one of many elements needed for a successful HIV treatment programme. Testing services must be accessible beyond formal health facilities and should link effectively to treatment and care services. Community-led and other nongovernmental organizations must be able to perform their vital outreach work, assist in delivering services, help with referrals, and provide the peer and other support that enables people to keep taking their HIV medicines. These organizations should be able to monitor services and advise on improvements. Clinical and other researchers should assess the efficacy of different testing and treatment technologies and service delivery approaches. Information systems need to collect and synthesize complex programme data, which can then inform budget allocations and procurement and programming decisions. To varying degrees, all these components are now under threat (7).

In South Africa, where more than 80% of the national HIV budget is funded from the domestic tax base,<sup>4</sup> the South African Government quickly stepped in to cushion the impact of the loss of United States Government funding. The South African Government manages the world's largest HIV treatment programme, with approximately 6 million of the 7.8 million [7.2 million–8.5 million] people living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2024. The funding losses have damaged vital parts of the HIV response. Testing and data information systems were disrupted, with viral load testing reportedly decreasing by up to 21% in March and April 2025 (8). Community-led and other nongovernmental organizations had to cease outreach and other vital activities serving key and other marginalized populations, along with the important tasks of bringing back into care people who had interrupted their treatment. Community-led monitoring of HIV services was stopped. Purchases of long-acting injectable pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) were frozen. Clinical research was halted or put on hold, and HIV response staff were made redundant (9, 10).

Other countries are being hit even harder. Of the 28 countries sharing monthly data with UNAIDS in sub-Saharan Africa (see Annex 1), only six have been able to report consistent monthly data on their HIV treatment programmes and five on their testing programmes since January 2025. Among countries reporting on testing, the numbers of people tested for HIV are generally declining. Rwanda is a rare example, where an initial decline in testing appears to have been reversed (11).

PEPFAR contributed 18% (about US\$ 460 million) of South Africa's annual HIV budget (US\$ 2.56 billion) in 2022.

Changes in the total numbers of people receiving antiretroviral therapy are difficult to quantify because of delays in data being transferred from clinics to national programme managers, and in some cases people have already received their medicines for up to six months. Most countries have maintained antiretroviral medicine stocks of at least three to six months but are still at risk of stockouts (*12*). A more sensitive indicator of the state of treatment programmes is the number of people initiating or restarting antiretroviral therapy. These numbers were reported to be declining in six countries (Botswana, Kenya, Nigeria Rwanda, Togo, Zimbabwe). Most of these countries also reported recent drops in the number of people having viral load tests (*11*).

## STORY

A lifeline interrupted in Uganda why community health systems matter

In early 2025, 22-year-old Jokpee Emmanuel arrived at Reach Out Mbuya in Kampala, Uganda, expecting to attend the Friends Forum—a safe space for young people to gather, share and support each other. Instead, he was met with a sign on the gate: "Due to the suspension of United States funding, Reach Out Mbuya will be closed for 90 days. We regret the inconvenience caused."

The Reach Out Mbuya community health initiative is not just a health facility. It is a lifeline. For years, it served Uganda's most vulnerable communities, offering care that goes far beyond medicine. For Jokpee, who was born with HIV, Reach Out provided access to antiretroviral therapy, emotional support, school tuition and dignity. "Reach Out was like a second home," he says. "They did not just give me medicines. They cared for me and reminded me that I am more than my diagnosis. I could live a full life."

The closure followed a suspension of United States funding through

PEPFAR, which had long supported community-led HIV responses in Uganda. The impact was immediate and severe. Community-led and community-based centres such as Reach Out Mbuya are central to public health in many low-resource settings. They offer holistic, personcentred services catered to local realities. They respond to the social, emotional and economic realities of people's lives. These systems have been essential to the global HIV response, driving down infections and improving quality of services and life, especially among marginalized groups.

Jokpee was forced to seek care at an overcrowded Government facility. He waited six hours, only to be told antiretroviral medicines were out of stock and to return the following week. "A week without antiretroviral medicines! That is how resistance develops. That is how people die," he says.

He eventually received a one-month supply of medicines, but the fear of

another stockout remained. Although the Government of Uganda worked to fill the gap through national health facilities, it could not match the reach or personal connection of community-based programmes.

In the weeks that followed, Reach Out Mbuya managed to reopen, with support from a PEPFAR-funded programme called Kampala HIV Project. Most staff returned, restoring most of the centre's core services. The number of clients accessing the centre is slowly increasing but is still below previous levels.

Jokpee's story is a warning. When community-led and -based systems lose support, people fall through the cracks. If it were not for places like Reach Out Mbuya, Jokpee and his peers would be at risk of being left behind in the HIV response.

Sustained investment in communityled responses is the only way forward if we are to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030. "We will focus on treatment!" This is the reassurance HIV advocates say they have received from the Government of the Philippines in the aftermath of United States funding cuts to the Philippines HIV response.

These commitments are critical to scale up treatment access for the 60% of people living with HIV in the Philippines who are not currently receiving antiretroviral therapy. But far more is needed to achieve epidemic control in a country that has seen a six-fold increase in new infections since 2010.

In 2024, three to four people were infected with HIV every hour in the Philippines. Of particular concern is that almost half of them are young people aged 15–24 years. Programmes to reach young key populations, especially young gay men and other men who have sex with men, are urgently needed.

"We are seeing a trend where younger and younger people are getting infected," says Russell Elloso of Network Plus Philippines, the umbrella organization of people living with HIV. "And we are not seeing a plateau—the number of cases is still increasing. That means the current approaches are not working."

Through PEPFAR, the United States invested primarily in supporting HIV prevention strategies and community-led work

# STORY

# Funding cuts undermine community-led innovations in the Philippines

to ensure services reached people most in need.

One of the programmes that has been cancelled as a consequence of the funding cuts is the EpiCsupported Free to be YOUTH HUB. This innovative think tank developed culturally resonant HIV prevention and treatment support approaches specifically for young people. It ran 12 projects, including an academy for social media influencers, an innovative approach to HIV education, and a peer-led project to re-enrol youth who had stopped HIV treatment.

"We have a progressive HIV policy in the Philippines and a comprehensive sexual and reproductive health policy, but they are not youth-focused and youthcentred," explains Aaron James Villapando, Co-chair of Free to be YOUTH. "The value of this initiative was having an advisory board focused on promoting a youth-led response. Young people can lead, and we need to be at the frontlines of the HIV response for it to be effective."

In the aftermath of the funding freeze, the organization has ramped up efforts to engage the private sector and foundations. A key priority has been to work with local government and local youth councils to secure more decentralized and sustainable funding for HIV programmes in the respective provinces. But activists are finding it particularly difficult to secure support for interventions for young key populations.

"Our Secretary of Health has assured the public that they will scale their current initiatives with a goal of not being so dependent on international funding. But the reality is that some of the community-led projects that are most needed are not priorities," Mr Villapando says.

Stakeholders are lobbying the Department of Health to expand modern prevention methods and community-led service delivery, which were traditionally funded by external donors. These donor investments specifically addressed critical programmatic gaps, including youth programming and increasing access to modern testing and prevention options.

Despite the Government procuring almost all HIV commodities, including PrEP, challenges remain around funding and systems for community-led responses, and the introduction of novel interventions such as long-acting PrEP, the dapivirine vaginal ring and selftesting. Advocates are lobbying policy-makers to develop and implement a social contracting mechanism so the community can continue to provide services without support from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) and PEPFAR.

# **2.2 Not everyone** is benefiting equally from treatment rollout

Despite the progress in testing and treatment programmes, there are still major disparities across regions and between age groups, men and women and different key populations.

## Many children and men living with HIV are being missed along the treatment cascade



Figure 2.4. Testing and treatment cascade among children, women and men, global, 2024

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates, 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

# Many people from key populations and men are still not accessing treatment services

When people living with HIV have high rates of viral load suppression, it protects their own health and reduces HIV transmission to their sex partners. On average, men aged 15 years and over living with HIV are less likely (73% [57–85%]) to be receiving antiretroviral therapy than their female peers and less likely to have viral load suppression (Figure 2.4). This has implications for men's health and for onward HIV transmission. The largest gaps are in diagnosing men living with HIV and linking them to treatment and care. Men from key populations are especially affected. Programme and other data suggest that once men receive antiretroviral therapy, their viral load suppression rates tend to be similar to those of women (about 94%).

These disparities can be addressed by reducing HIV-related stigma, reshaping norms of masculinity that associate seeking health services with weakness and vulnerability, and making health services more convenient and less intimidating for men (13-15).
Antiretroviral therapy coverage and treatment outcomes among people from key populations are difficult to determine because of challenges in confidentially collecting information about modes of HIV transmission within health data systems. The most comprehensive analysis of HIV data among key populations in sub-Saharan Africa has shown that antiretroviral therapy coverage was correlated with, but lower than, antiretroviral therapy coverage for the total population. As in the rest of the world, coverage levels varied widely. Yet even in countries with high treatment coverage in the general population (80%), estimated coverage tended to be significantly lower among key populations—25% less for people who inject drugs, 19% less for gay men and other men who have sex with men, 13% less for transgender women and 11% less for female sex workers (*16*).

Globally, data indicate that median coverage of antiretroviral therapy in recent years was 77% among gay men and other men who have sex with men (44 reporting countries), 74% among people who inject drugs (21 countries), 69% among sex workers (36 countries) and 61% among transgender people (22 countries). Evidence from Kenya and Uganda, for example, shows that differentiated testing and treatment services can achieve very high coverage among people from key populations (17, 18).

Harassment and violence can prevent access to HIV testing and treatment services for people from key populations and undermine the collection of data needed to advocate and budget for these services. More routine HIV-related surveillance could lay the basis for more equitable service provision and access (16), but the current funding disruptions make such improvements unlikely in the short term.

Some countries have been pursuing differentiated service delivery approaches to make HIV testing and treatment more available, accessible and suited for different populations. One such initiative is the multicountry HIV Coverage, Quality and Impact Network (CQUIN), which draws together 21 African countries. Using a self-assessment tool, each country has been gauging its service capacity for effective HIV testing and treatment, with the results informing specific action plans. The exercises are led by national ministries of health, with broad participation by the main stakeholders. The assessments are repeated annually to track progress and share lessons through the South to South Learning Network (19).

Data from surveys indicate that adolescent girls and young women face specific barriers when accessing HIV testing and treatment, including health services that are not adapted to their needs, stigmatizing behaviour of health-care staff, and policies or laws that require parental consent to seek services. Differentiated testing and treatment services could address this. More youth-friendly testing approaches, more compassionate attitudes among health-care workers, removal of obstructive age-of-consent requirements, and peer-led and other forms of trusted support can help make it easier for young people to know their HIV status, access treatment and keep taking their antiretroviral medicines (20–22).

# Stigma, discrimination and violence continue to obstruct service access

Discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV are widespread in many countries (Figure 2.5), although population-based surveys show that some countries—notably Argentina, Eswatini and Rwanda—are approaching or have reached the target of less than 10% in the general population. In the 33 countries with available data, a median of 53% of men and women aged 15–49 years held discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV (23).<sup>5</sup> In addition, these attitudes are often openly expressed. Data compiled through the HIV Stigma Index 2.0 surveys show that in 21 of 35 countries with such data, at least one in 10 people living with HIV experienced stigma or discrimination in their communities, with this proportion exceeding 30% in several countries (24).

#### HIV-related stigma and discrimination are still unacceptably high

**Figure 2.5.** Percentage of women and men (aged 15–49 years) who report experiencing discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV, countries with available data, 2020–2024



<sup>a</sup>Data for women only.

Note: discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV are measured as disagreement with two statements on whether the respondent would buy fresh vegetables from a shopkeeper if they knew the person was living with HIV and whether children living with HIV should be allowed to attend school with children who are HIV-negative.

Source: population-based surveys, 2020-2024

5 Discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV are measured as disagreement with two statements on whether the respondent would buy fresh vegetables from a shopkeeper if they knew the person was living with HIV and whether children living with HIV should be allowed to attend school with children who are HIV-negative. Survey and other data also show that many people living with HIV experience stigma and discrimination when seeking health services (Figure 2.6), including in high-income countries (25). These experiences are associated with lower uptake of HIV testing and antiretroviral therapy and lower levels of viral load suppression, as shown by analysis of data from population-based surveys in sub-Saharan African countries (26). According to People Living with HIV Stigma Index 2.0 surveys done in 25 countries, a third (34%) of people who experienced stigma and discrimination when seeking HIV care went on to interrupt or entirely stop their HIV treatment at some point (compared with 25% for people who did not report such experiences) (27).

#### People living with HIV are routinely exposed to stigma and discrimination

**Figure 2.6.** Percentage of people living with HIV who experienced stigma and discrimination due to their HIV status when seeking HIV or other health-care services in the previous 12 months, countries with available data, 2020–2024



Source: People living with HIV Stigma Index 2.0, 2020-2024.

People living with HIV were also likely to experience stigma and discrimination when seeking non-HIV health services—one in four reported such experiences (27). Efforts to integrate HIV services into broader health-care provision will need to address these realities.

Internalized stigma remains common and is a frequently cited reason for missing health-care visits. An analysis of Stigma Index 2.0 studies from 25 countries found that almost 40% of people living with HIV said they felt ashamed to be living with HIV, and one in five said the fear of revealing their HIV status had led to them missing doses of antiretroviral medicines (27).

People from key populations often experience intersectional stigma, discrimination or violence, which, in addition to doing other harm, deters many of them from using health services. A median of 23% of people who inject drugs (18 reporting countries), 22% of transgender women (21 countries), 20% of sex workers (40 countries) and 8% of gay men and other men who have sex with men (36 countries) reported experiencing physical and/or sexual violence in the previous 12 months (Figure 2.7).

Figure 2.7. Median percentages of people experiencing sexual and/or physical violence, stigma and discrimination, and avoidance of health services among people from key populations, global, 2020–2024



Avoidance of health services because of stigma and discrimination in the past 12 months

Note: n = number of countries.

The 2025 target is to ensure these experiences occur in less than 10% of the population.

Source: Global AIDS Monitoring 2021-2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

## Violence must be addressed

Violence against women living with HIV prevents many women from accessing and benefiting from HIV treatment (Figure 2.8). Women who experienced physical intimate partner violence in the previous year were on average 9% less likely to have viral load suppression compared with women who had not experienced such violence, based on analysis of data from seven surveys in sub-Saharan Africa (28). Increasing evidence supports the integration of violence prevention in healthcare settings, including adolescent HIV services (29). Recent studies have shown continued high levels of coercion, mistreatment and abuse of women living with HIV when using sexual and reproductive health services, notably in eastern Europe and Latin America (30). According to a study in four Latin American countries, more than 70% of women living with HIV in Latin America report experiencing some form of violence related to their gender and HIV status (31).

#### Women living with HIV still experience abuse and mistreatment when using sexual and reproductive health services

**Figure 2.8.** Percentages of women experiencing coercion, mistreatment or abuse when accessing sexual and reproductive health services, by country, 2020–2023



Sterilization 🗧 Pregnancy and infant feeding practices 🗧 Contraception and family planning services

Note: coercion related to contraception and family planning refers to advice or pressure not to have children and incentives to use contraception, including long-lasting forms; coercion related to pregnancy, childbirth and infant feeding refers to pressure to terminate a pregnancy, pressure to have a caesarean section and pressure to use infant formula; coercion related to sterilization refers to pressure to be permanently sterilized.

Source: People Living with HIV Stigma Index 2.0 studies 2020–2023; Confronting coercion: a global scan of coercion, mistreatment and abuse experienced by women living with HIV in reproductive and sexual health services. International Community of Women Living with HIV; 2024.



The day for Safargul begins at 04:00 and rarely ends before midnight. She juggles the demands of raising four children, tending a vegetable garden and managing the household in the small city of Kulyab in Tajikistan. Twice a week, she works at the local AIDS centre as a peer consultant. She supports women newly diagnosed with HIV, helping them understand the importance of starting treatment and not giving up hope.

Safargul has been living with HIV since 2006. No one in her community knows her HIV-positive status. "It would mean the end of normal life," she says. "People would exclude me from gatherings, from everyday conversations."

Her husband and eldest son were migrant workers abroad—just like the husbands of many of the women she now supports. "I see young women infected by their husbands and refusing treatment because they fear someone in the family might find out. They do not know enough, and they have no power to protect themselves," she says.

Safargul is worried that most of these women are economically dependent on their husbands and their families. In Tajikistan, one of the poorest countries in central Asia, nearly 30% of gross domestic product comes from remittances, with many men migrating to Kazakhstan or the Russian Federation for work. According to the National AIDS Center, in 2015 one in eight new HIV cases was linked to male labour migration, but that figure rose to one in three by 2023. As a result, the risk of HIV infection

#### STORY

# Power to earn and live—overcoming inequalities and supporting women living with HIV in Tajikistan

among women—especially in rural communities—has crept up.

Takhmina Haidarova knows this risk firsthand. She was raised in a traditional household and then married a man who worked abroad and rarely came home. After the loss of their child, she hoped another pregnancy would ease the pain but during a routine check-up, she learned she was living with HIV.

"I did not even know HIV existed in Tajikistan," she recalls. Her husband rejected her, and his family blamed her after he died of an AIDS-related illness. "I had no knowledge, no support, and no one to turn to."

Takhmina now leads the Tajikistan Network of Women Living with HIV. With support from UNAIDS, and together with a local team of researchers, the Network conducted a time-use survey in 2024, which revealed the systemic inequalities facing women living with HIV. Nearly 80% are homemakers and spend more than eight hours a day on unpaid labour. Most need permission from their husbands to visit a health facility. For many women, autonomy over health decisions comes only after divorce or widowhood. Tragically, 97% of women living with HIV in Tajikistan hide their HIV-positive status, even from family members.

"My mother-in-law knows her son infected me," one woman says, "but still she will not accept a cup of tea from me."

For Zarina from Tursunzade, change began with business skills training

and a small grant from UNAIDS and UN Women. After leaving an abusive marriage and becoming a single mother, she built a sewing business that now employs women living with HIV. She also teaches women affected by HIV—including those in remote rural areas—how to start their own small sewing businesses.

"Thanks to this support, I became independent—and I can help others who were abandoned like I was," she says.

UNAIDS Country Director in Tajikistan, Aziza Hamidova, refers to the recent gender assessment study led by UNAIDS, which concluded that restrictive gender norms, entrenched practices, stigma, discrimination and gender-based violence hinder timely access to health services, including for HIV. "The HIV response must reflect the real lives of women," she says. "It must support their right to grow, earn and live with dignity."

Progress in supporting HIV services for women is fragile. Funding cuts as small as 10–20% could reverse years of gains. More than 60% of the HIV response in Tajikistan is funded by the Global Fund and PEPFAR with the United States Government, and only 37% is funded domestically. UNAIDS and partners are worried that funding cuts may deepen deprivation and perpetuate stigma, leaving women living with HIV to bear the burden of survival and exclusion. "Investing in women's health, safety and economic power is not just smart—it is urgent," Aziza says.

People must be able to report, challenge and seek redress for discrimination, harassment and violence. As of 2024, less than half of 92 reporting countries (48%) had mechanisms established by the government and a third (34%) had mechanisms established by community or nongovernmental organizations to assist people to register complaints and seek redress for discrimination related to their HIV status or for being a member of a key population (32).

These mechanisms should be publicized and accessible to the people who need them. Data reported by community and civil society representatives from 117 countries show that such awareness remains limited. Affordability constraints were reported in 66 of these countries and the mechanisms were reportedly not functioning in 47 countries (32).

## Preventing and treating cervical cancer

Cervical cancer is the fourth most frequent cancer in women and the most common cancer among women living with HIV (33)—and yet it is preventable and curable. Estimated coverage of first-dose human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination in 2023 in countries that have introduced HPV into the routine immunization system was about 71% in the World Health Organization (WHO) African Region (35).

# **2.3 HIV treatment coverage among pregnant women has risen unevenly, leaving children at risk of HIV**

HIV acquisitions among children have been reduced to their lowest levels since the early years of the epidemic. This decrease is due mainly to two impressive achievements: far fewer women of reproductive age are acquiring HIV, and women living with HIV are more likely to receive and continue taking their antiretroviral medicines. HIV treatment coverage among pregnant women living with HIV is 84% [72–>98%] globally and was 93% [81–>98%] in eastern and southern Africa in 2024. There has, however, been very little increase in this coverage over the past decade.

In addition, the gains are spread unevenly. Gaps and deficiencies in HIV programmes and health systems meant that an estimated 120 000 [82 000–170 000] children still acquired HIV in 2024, the vast majority (83%) of whom were in sub-Saharan Africa. New infections among children in eastern and southern Africa have decreased substantially (by 71% from 2010), but the decline in western and central Africa has been much less pronounced (by 53% from 2010) (Figure 2.9). As a result, 36% of all child HIV infections now occur in western and central Africa. Most of these infections are attributable to mothers living with HIV not receiving or not being able to keep taking their antiretroviral medicines (Figure 2.10). Only about 56% [47–71%] of pregnant women living with HIV in this region were receiving antiretroviral medicines to prevent vertical transmission of HIV in 2024.

Greater access to antenatal care and integration of antenatal services with HIV testing and treatment will improve health outcomes for mothers and their children. Following the funding cuts of early 2025, however, the number of pregnant women tested for HIV or known to be living with HIV has declined generally, including in Nigeria and Rwanda (*36*).

In eastern and southern Africa, almost a third of new acquisitions in children (32%) are attributable to women acquiring HIV during pregnancy or in the postnatal period. This can also be remedied—for example, by making it much easier for pregnant or breastfeeding women to access and use long-acting versions of PrEP. Other steps include encouraging their male partners to test for HIV so that appropriate precautions can be taken (37). In addition, studies show that communities of women living with HIV, such as Mentor Mothers, can make a substantial difference to rates of vertical transmission (38).

About a quarter of all pregnant women or mothers living with HIV are aged 15–24 years.

# More can be done to support young mothers living with HIV

Young mothers living with HIV are especially in need of greater support. About a quarter of all pregnant women or mothers living with HIV are aged 15–24 years. Many of these women face major challenges that call for age-differentiated pregnancy and postpartum care.

Improvements include antenatal care services that address the special concerns and needs of young mothers living with HIV, easier access to sexual and reproductive health services, and stronger engagement of male partners as part of antenatal care. Also important are differentiated HIV treatment and adherence support services, including community-led activities that assist marginalized adolescents and young women.

Mentor mother programmes in several African countries are supporting adolescents who are pregnant or parenting with skills and assistance to access services for HIV, sexually transmitted infections, sexual and reproductive health and rights, mental health and nutrition. Mothers2Mothers, for example, harnesses the skills and experience of young mothers living with HIV to help peers access and stay on HIV treatment and to offer parenting guidance and support (see Chapter 4).

#### The largest decline in pediatric HIV infections has been in eastern and southern Africa





Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

## In eastern and southern Africa, almost a third of new acquisitions in children are attributable to women acquiring HIV during pregnancy or in the postnatal period.

#### The main reasons for vertical transmission of HIV differ between regions



Figure 2.10. Stack-bar analysis of reasons for new HIV acquisitions among children, 2024

43

## How to diagnose more children who have acquired HIV

The missed or delayed diagnosis of HIV in infants and children is a major reason for the low treatment coverage and high mortality among those living with HIV. This can be addressed through wider availability and use of early infant diagnosis within the first two months after birth for babies exposed to HIV. In 2024, coverage of early infant diagnosis among children in eastern and southern Africa reached 74% (and exceeded 80% in some countries), but it was only 30% in western and central Africa (with coverage exceeding 50% in very few countries). Following the funding cuts to the PEPFAR programme in early 2025, access to early infant diagnosis declined markedly in Botswana, Burundi and Kenya (*39*). Data from more recent data suggest that the Government is mitigating the impact in Kenya (Figure 2.11).

Early infant diagnosis alone is not enough to close the treatment gap for children. Eighty-nine per cent of children living with HIV are aged two years or over, and many of them are undiagnosed. Identifying these children and linking them to lifesaving HIV treatment and care require the greater use of differentiated HIV testing methods, including integration with maternal and child health programmes, outpatient testing (e.g. linked to vaccination programmes), family-based testing and index testing (e.g. of parents who are living with HIV and enrolled in care) and self-testing.

**Figure 2.11.** Number of infants who received an HIV test within two months of birth, Kenya, October 2024 to May 2025



# The gap in treatment for children living with HIV is unacceptable

Testing and treatment services are still missing large numbers of children living with HIV. A little over half of all children living with HIV globally (55% [40–73%]) were receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2024, up from 17% [12–22%] in 2010. But this was still much lower than the 78% [62–91%] coverage among adults living with HIV.

About 620 000 [490 000–800 000] of the estimated 1.4 million [1.1 million–1.8 million] children living with HIV were *not* receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2024. Of these children, about 40% were aged under five years. Without effective antiretroviral therapy, children with HIV face alarmingly high mortality rates: 50% of children infected perinatally die by age two years, and 80% die by age five years (40). Gaps at each stage of the testing and treatment cascade are undermining efforts to reach all children living with HIV with lifesaving treatment. In addition, there continue to be significant gaps in the care for children with advanced HIV disease, responding to second-line treatment failure, and treatment management for adolescents living with HIV (*41*). Early diagnosis, rapid linkage to care, prompt initiation on effective antiretroviral therapy for children living with HIV, and reengagement with antiretroviral therapy for children who drop out of care remain major priorities (*40*).

# The challenge of treatment interruption among children and adolescents

Interruptions in HIV treatment among young children living with HIV are associated with high mortality rates. Between 14% and 19% of children aged under one year living with HIV who experienced an interruption in treatment in 2024 had died, according to a review of more than half a million children receiving HIV treatment through PEPFAR programmes (42). An earlier cohort study in southern Africa found that treatment interruption during the first six months of antiretroviral therapy increased the risk of death in children living with HIV by 52% (43).

Wider access to child-friendly dolutegravir-based antiretroviral therapy is expected to improve treatment adherence and outcomes for children (44). More than 90 countries were procuring this WHO-recommended regimen by the end of 2023 (up from 33 countries at the end of 2021) (45). Studies show that rates of viral suppression in children and adolescents increased in the two years following the transition to dolutegravir (46). Consolidating these benefits also requires routine viral load testing, regular treatment monitoring and patient tracking to reduce treatment interruptions and allow counter-measures to be taken quickly (47, 48).

Treatment adherence can be difficult for adolescents living with HIV, who are also contending with transitions to adulthood and other adversities such as stigma and discrimination, lack of social support, and the perceived distrust of health workers.

Interventions that emphasize treatment literacy, provide counselling and social support, and guard privacy and confidentiality appear to be acceptable and effective for improving treatment adherence among adolescents (49). Interventions that plan and deliver services according to the situations and needs of individuals are associated with improved antiretroviral therapy retention and viral suppression, according to a recent systematic review of studies (50). There are indications that economic incentives and cash transfers may help improve retention in care (51, 52), although the overall evidence is mixed (52).

# **2.4 Linked HIV and TB services are saving millions of lives**

The linking or integration of HIV and tuberculosis (TB) services is having a significant impact on the health of people living with HIV and TB. Antiretroviral therapy and TB treatment for people living with both HIV and TB averted an estimated 6.8 million [5.9 million–7.7 million] deaths between 2010 and 2023 (53).

The global coverage of antiretroviral therapy for people living with HIV who were newly diagnosed with TB remained at 89% in 2022 and 88% in 2023. Compared with the total estimated number of people living with HIV who developed TB in 2023, however, coverage was much lower, at 58% (which was slightly higher than the 56% coverage in 2022). These treatment coverage levels are markedly lower than for all people living with HIV (75% in 2023). The main reason for the disparity was the big gap between the estimated number of people living with HIV who developed TB in 2023 (a best estimate of 662 000 [589 000–739 000]) and the reported number of people living with HIV who were diagnosed with TB in 2023 (approximately 437 000).

Since people living with HIV are especially susceptible to other infectious diseases, it is important that they also receive TB preventive therapy. These services have grown exponentially in the past two decades. The global number of people receiving both HIV treatment and TB preventive therapy increased from fewer than 30 000 in 2005 to 3.0 million in 2019, but the number then decreased to 2.4 million in 2020, 2.2 million in 2021 and 1.9 million in 2022, followed by a small increase to 1.96 million in 2023. Possible reasons for the reductions include disruptions to health services caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and a drop in the number of countries reporting these data during that pandemic.

There continue to be opportunities to further integrate and improve these services. Some countries with high burdens of both HIV and TB are still struggling to detect TB or provide TB preventive therapy for people newly enrolled on antiretroviral therapy (Figure 2.12). Overall, the median gap in TB detection and prevention was 50% in 2023 across 48 countries reporting these data. Closing this gap through further integration requires some basic health system improvements, including for procurement and distribution of medical supplies, observance of treatment guidelines and protocols, and reduction of HIV- and TB-related stigma among health-care staff.

#### Some countries have opportunities to close gaps in preventing or detecting TB among people living with HIV

**Figure 2.12.** Gaps in TB detection and prevention among people newly enrolled on antiretroviral therapy, high TB/HIV burden countries with available data,<sup>a</sup> 2023



\*Countries included in this figure are in the WHO global list of high-burden countries for HIV-associated TB and had available data. For more information on the list of high-burden countries, see Annex 3 of the WHO Global tuberculosis report 2024.

Source: Global AIDS Monitoring 2024; Global tuberculosis report 2024. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024.

# **2.5 HIV testing and viral load suppression levels are high—but not everywhere**

Globally, about 35.5 million [28.3 million–41.2 million] of the estimated 40.8 million [37.0 million–45.6 million] people living with HIV (87% [69–>98%]) in 2024 knew their HIV status. Testing programmes were performing especially well in eastern and southern Africa and in the mostly high-income countries in western and central Europe and North America: 93% [75–>98%] of people living with HIV in eastern and southern Africa knew their HIV status in 2024, and 89% [69–>98%] of people living with HIV in central Europe and North America.<sup>6</sup> Even then, this left about one in seven people living with HIV globally not knowing they had acquired HIV, not receiving lifesaving treatment, and at risk of unwittingly transmitting HIV to other people. Hostile social environments and punitive laws deter many people from key populations from using testing services, while misconceptions about the risk of acquiring HIV stigma, criminalization of HIV transmission, and a fear of discovering that one is living with HIV also discourage many people from taking an HIV test (54).

6 The latest region-wide estimate for western and central Europe and North America dates to 2022.

## HIV self-testing offers perhaps the most promising way to diagnose more people living with HIV.

Data reported to UNAIDS indicate that in 2024, a median of 81% of gay men and other men who have sex with men (71 reporting countries), 80% of transgender people (36 countries), 79% of sex workers (67 countries) and 70% of people who inject drugs (47 countries) had taken an HIV test and received the results in the previous 12 months or had previously tested positive for HIV.

Systematic reviews of studies from Africa point to community-based testing approaches (e.g. at mobile units, community venues or homes) as effective ways to increase testing uptake, including among men, due to the greater convenience they offer (14, 55). Also successful are social network-based approaches (which encourage people to motivate sexual partners and members of their social networks to test for HIV), as shown in a systematic review of studies that focused mostly on transgender women and gay men and other men who have sex with men (56). HIV self-testing offers perhaps the most promising way forward to diagnose more people living with HIV, including young people, men and people from key populations.

## HIV self-testing holds great promise

HIV self-testing is a highly promising and affordable strategy. It offers more privacy and convenience and can be integrated easily into community-led testing efforts. Recently analysed data from a self-testing programme in Côte d'Ivoire, Mali and Senegal show that community-led distribution of HIV selftesting kits can increase HIV status awareness, reduce numbers of HIV acquisitions and deaths, and improve the efficiency of resource allocation. Over three years, female sex workers and gay men and other men who have sex with men distributed 380 000 test kits to peers, who then further distributed the kits to their partners and clients (57).

Linkage to confirmatory testing and antiretroviral therapy initiation after self-testing is generally high, particularly when assisted testing is available or when people obtain their test kits through a social network-based approach, according to a large review of studies, most of them focused on key populations in Africa (58). A global systematic review of 15 studies found that HIV self-testing improved linkage to care among female sex workers (compared with standard testing approaches) (59).

HIV self-testing appears to be highly acceptable among men (60), especially when the test kits are available at low cost or free of charge. Linkage to care, however, may be challenging, with factors including travel and opportunity costs to attend clinics, long waiting hours at clinics, apprehension about stigma and discrimination, and privacy concerns (61).

# Viral suppression levels have risen, but treatment interruption remains a concern

When people living with HIV are able to adhere to their antiretroviral therapy regimens and have viral suppression, their HIV infection no longer threatens their health and they cannot transmit HIV to other people. Globally in 2024, an estimated 73% [66–82%] of people living with HIV had a suppressed viral load—a huge public health achievement. Some people, however, struggle to remain in HIV care and keep taking their antiretroviral medicines. Viral suppression levels among men (69% [61–77%]) and children (47% [38–60%]) living with HIV are much lower than among women living with HIV (79% [71–88%]).

Interrupting or halting antiretroviral therapy can result in viral rebound, increased susceptibility to HIV-related and other diseases, increased drug resistance, and a higher chance of AIDS-related death. There is increasing evidence, including from Europe and North America, of higher mortality among people living with HIV who interrupt their care—even when they subsequently restart treatment and care (62). Analysis of data from South Africa has also revealed increased mortality among people resuming their HIV treatment after interruptions, compared with people with no interruption (63).

Common reasons for interrupting antiretroviral therapy include treatment sideeffects, difficulties taking daily pills, migration and mobility, not being able to attend routine clinics appointments, and the debilitating effects of HIV-related stigma (63). Feelings of shame and loss of dignity appear to be major barriers to men's continued engagement in care. Imprisonment or detention can also lead to treatment interruption (64).

Some of the underlying causes of treatment interruption can be tackled by reducing waiting times at clinics, improving treatment literacy, reducing stigma from health-care workers, avoiding antiretroviral medicine stockouts, and making it easier for people to transfer between facilities (65). Peer and psychosocial support can make it easier for people to remain in care (66–68), although studies note that these interventions need to be tailored also for men (69). There is now the added risk that service disruptions and potential stockouts due to funding losses will make it more difficult for people to adhere to HIV treatment and have viral load tests so they can receive the most appropriate antiretroviral regimens. This would harm their health and set back efforts to further reduce numbers of new HIV infections.

Interrupting or halting antiretroviral therapy can result in viral rebound, increased susceptibility to HIV-related and other diseases, increased drug resistance, and a higher chance of AIDS-related death.

# Staying on treatment can be a challenge—and funding cuts are not helping

Supporting people living with HIV so they can adhere to treatment and quickly tracing and reengaging people who interrupt their treatment is of paramount importance to save more lives and avert more new HIV infections.

When people stop taking their antiretroviral medicines, even people with previously suppressed HIV can experience a rapid increase in viral load, often reaching detectable levels within days to a few weeks (70). This viral load rebound elevates the risk of HIV transmission, rendering people infectious shortly after stopping antiretroviral therapy (71). The higher the viral load, the higher the infectiousness, particularly impacting sexual and vertical transmission.

Drug resistance can develop within several weeks of stopping treatment. Studies from low- and middleincome countries in recent years have found rates of resistance to dolutegravir-based antiretroviral regimens of between 4% and 20% (72). If more people interrupt their treatment, drug resistance can be expected to increase. This will make HIV treatment more complicated and costly at a time when funding support is being cut back, and it will increase the risk of new HIV transmissions.

Well-functioning health information systems and person-centred approaches are vital to avoid treatment interruptions and re-engage people who drop out of care. People encountering friendlier, more supportive attitudes from healthcare workers are more likely to return to care, as shown in a recent study carried out at 24 clinics in Zambia. The improvements were achieved through training and coaching, feedback from clients, and facility-level incentives such as recognition for staff performance (73). Peer support groups help people adhere to their treatment and return to care, as the Men's Forum has shown in Johannesburg, South Africa (74). Low-cost counselling provided by lay counsellors and tailored for dealing with the issues and concerns men face can help re-engage more men in HIV care (75). Telehealth interventions appear to improve adherence to treatment (76) and help reduce depressive symptoms among people living with HIV (77).

# Advanced HIV disease poses a continuing challenge

Over the past decade and across regions, a persistent 25–40% of people living with HIV have had advanced HIV disease (CD4 count <200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>) when diagnosed or initiating antiretroviral therapy, according to several large datasets.<sup>7</sup> There is no evidence that this has changed in recent years (78). People with advanced HIV disease have increased risk of death, most commonly due to TB, cryptococcal meningitis or severe bacterial infections (79, 80).

<sup>7</sup> A CD4 count below 500 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> indicates a weakened immune system. A count below 200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> indicates advanced HIV disease, or AIDS.

People living with HIV who have never received treatment, start treatment late, receive suboptimal treatment or stop treatment are prone to advanced HIV disease. Analysis of data from 13 major surveys in sub-Saharan Africa conducted between 2016 and 2021 found that men were almost twice as likely as women to have advanced HIV disease—13% of men and 8% of women had a CD4 count below 200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> (*81*). Confirming other studies, the analysis also found that the prevalence of advanced HIV disease was highest among people who were receiving HIV treatment but did not have viral suppression (Figure 2.13). This does not suggest that antiretroviral therapy is not working. Many of these people may have started antiretroviral therapy late, with very severely compromised immune systems that take longer to repair; others may have intermittently interrupted their treatment. The overall trend highlights an ongoing need for early diagnosis and rapid antiretroviral therapy initiations for people living with HIV; screening, treatment and prophylaxis for major opportunistic infections; and intensified adherence support interventions.

Of additional concern is the decline in CD4 testing in most regions, most notably in eastern, central and southern Africa (82). Routine CD4 testing is important for managing HIV treatment, including screening for advanced HIV disease and early detection of treatment complications. Specific diagnostic tests for commonly fatal advanced HIV disease conditions such as TB and cryptococcal meningitis are not widely available, especially in primary care settings. There is a major risk that the funding losses for HIV programmes will further weaken country capacities to maintain this vital component of successful HIV treatment efforts.

# The prevalence of advanced HIV disease is surprisingly high among people on antiretroviral therapy, and especially among men



**Figure 2.13.** Percentages of people living with HIV with advanced HIV disease at different stages of the testing and treatment cascade, 13 sub-Saharan African countries, 2015–2021

Source: Stelzle D, Rangaraj A, Jarvis JN, et al. Prevalence of advanced HIV disease in sub-Saharan Africa: a multi-country analysis of nationally representative household surveys. Lancet Glob Health. 2025;13(3):e437–e446 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00538-2).

# References

- Data portal. New York: United Nations Population Division (https://population.un.org/dataportal/data/ indicators/61/locations/947/start/1990/end/2025/ line/linetimeplot?df=c428a4da-9d14-4fd4-a561d52b9147fa41).
- 2 Lundgren E, Locke M, Romero-Severson E, et al. Sweden surpasses the UNAIDS 95–95–95 target: estimating HIV-1 incidence, 2003 to 2022. Euro Surveill. 2024;29(42):2400058 (https://doi. org/10.2807/1560-7917).
- 3 Farahani M, Farley SM, Smart TF, et al. Lesotho's progress towards UNAIDS 95-95-95 targets from 2016 to 2020: comparison of population-based HIV impact assessments. Lancet HIV. 2025;12(1):e51– e59 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(24)00271-6).
- 4 Tuhin Chowdhury MD, Bershteyn A, Milali M, et al. Progress towards UNAIDS's 95–95–95 targets in Zimbabwe: sociodemographic constraints and geospatial heterogeneity. medRxiv. 2023;23293207 (https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.26.23293207).
- 5 PEPFAR Panorama Spotlight. Washington, DC: United States Department of State (https://data. pepfar.gov/).
- 6 Stover J, Sonneveldt E, Tam Y Clark R, et al. The effects of reductions in United States foreign assistance on global health. Lancet. 2025; preprint.
- 7 Matanje B, Masha RL, Rwibasira G, et al. The global HIV response at a crossroads: protecting gains and advancing sustainability amid funding disruptions. Lancet HIV. 2025:S2352-3018(25)00106-7 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(25)00106-7).
- 8 Peyton N. HIV patient testing falls in South Africa after US aid cuts, data shows. Reuters, 14 May 2025 (https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcarepharmaceuticals/hiv-patient-testing-falls-southafrica-after-us-aid-cuts-data-shows-2025-05-14/).
- 9 Grimsrud A, Wilkinson L, Raphael Y, et al. Securing our HIV response: The PEPFAR crisis in South Africa. S Afr Med J. 2025;115(3):e3216 (https://doi. org/10.7196/SAMJ.2025.v115i3.3216).
- 10 Venter F. Our HIV programme is collapsing and our government is nowhere to be seen. Spotlight, 23 April 2025 (https://www.spotlightnsp. co.za/2025/04/23/francois-vent-our-hivprogramme-is-collapsing-and-our-government-isnowhere-to-be-seen/).
- 11 UNAIDS HIV services tracking, June 2025 (https:// aidsinfo.unaids.org/services).
- 12 A snapshot of HIV commodity availability and management risks: fact sheet. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2025 (https:// www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/2025-05/ UNAIDS\_focused-analysis\_HIV-commodities\_ en.pdf).
- 13 Topp SM, Mwamba C, Sharma A, et al. Rethinking retention: mapping interactions between multiple factors that influence long-term engagement in HIV care. PLoS One. 2018;13(3):e0193641 (https:// doiorg/10.1371/journal.pone.0193641).
- 14 Colvin CJ. Strategies for engaging men in HIV services. Lancet HIV. 2019;6(3):e191–e200 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(19)30032-3).
- 15 Dovel K, Hubbard J, Zembe L, et al. Interventions to improve men's engagement in HIV and other key services in sub-Saharan Africa: a scoping review. medRxiv 2023.10.25.23297534 (https://doi.org/10.1 101/2023.10.25.23297534).

- 16 Stevens O, Sabin K, Anderson RL, et al. Population size, HIV prevalence, and antiretroviral therapy coverage among key populations in sub-Saharan Africa: collation and synthesis of survey data, 2010– 23. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(9):e1400-e1412 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00236-5).
- 17 Biobehavioural survey among key populations in Kenya, 2024.
- Biobehavioural survey among female sex workers in 12 districts in Uganda, 2021–2023.
- 19 The HIV Coverage, Quality and Impact Network. New York: ICAP Global Health (https://cquin.icap. columbia.edu/).
- 20 Payne D, Wadonda-Kabondo N, Wang A, et al. Trends in HIV prevalence, incidence, and progress towards the UNAIDS 95–95-95 targets in Malawi among individuals aged 15–64 years: populationbased HIV impact assessments, 2015–16 and 2020–21. Lancet HIV. 2023;10(9):e597–e605 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(23)00144-3).
- 21 Reif LK, Abrams EJ, Arpadi S, et al. Interventions to improve antiretroviral therapy adherence among adolescents and youth in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review 2015–2019. AIDS Behav. 2020;24(10):2797–2810 (https://doi. org/10.1007/s10461-020-02822-4).
- 22 Ridgeway K, Dulli LS, Murray KR, et al. Interventions to improve antiretroviral therapy adherence among adolescents in Iow- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the literature. PLoS ONE. 2018:13:1-33 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0189770).
- 23 Population-based surveys, 2020-2024.
- 24 People Living with HIV Stigma Index 2.0, 2020–2024. Amsterdam: Stigma Index (https://www. stigmaindex.org/).
- 25 HIV stigma in the healthcare setting: monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and central Asia. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2024 (https://www.ecdc. europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/Dublin%20 -%20HIV%20stigma%202024-final-with-covers.pdf).
- 26 Kuchukhidze S, Boily M-C, Niangoran S, et al. Community-level HIV stigma and discrimination's impact on HIV testing, treatment uptake, and viral load suppression in 33 African countries: a pooled analysis of 76 nationally representative surveys (2000–2022). Abstract OAF1106LB. Presented at the 25th International AIDS Conference, Munich, 22–26 July 2024.
- 27 People Living with HIV Stigma Index 2.0: global report 2023. Hear us out: measuring HIVrelated stigma and discrimination. Amsterdam: Global Network of People living with HIV; 2023 (https://www.stigmaindex.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/11/PLHIV-Stigma-Index-Global-Report-2023-2.pdf).
- 28 Kuchukhidze S, Panagiotoglou D, Boily MC, et al. The effects of intimate partner violence on women's risk of HIV acquisition and engagement in the HIV treatment and care cascade: a pooled analysis of nationally representative surveys in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet HIV. 2023;10(2):e107–e117 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(22)00305-8).
- 29 Best practices: models of integration of SRHR, HIV and GBV services from four countries. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2022 (https://esaro. unfpa.org/en/publications/best-practices-modelsintegration-srhr-hiv-and-gbvservices-four-countries).

- 30 Confronting coercion: a global scan of coercion, mistreatment and abuse experienced by women living with HIV. International Community of Women Living with HIV (https://www.wlhiv.org/ reproductivejustice).
- 31 Study on forms of violence against women with HIV in Bolivia, Honduras, Panama and Paraguay (multicountry report). Den Haag: Alianza Liderazgo en Positivo y Poblaciones Clave; 2024.
- 32 National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017– 2024. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).
- 33 Stelzle D, Tanaka LF, Lee KK, et al. Estimates of the global burden of cervical cancer associated with HIV. Lancet Glob Health. 2021;9(2):e161–e169 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30459-9).
- 34 Brisson M, Kim JJ, Canfell K, et al. Impact of HPV vaccination and cervical screening on cervical cancer elimination: a comparative modelling analysis in 78 low-income and lower-middleincome countries. Lancet. 2020;395(10224):575– 590 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30068-4).
- 35 Human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination coverage and HPV dashboard. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2025 (https://immunizationdata.who. int/global/wiise-detail-page/human-papillomavirus-(hpv)-vaccination-coverage).
- 36 UNAIDS monthly Global AIDS Monitoring updates, 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/services).
- 37 Graybill LA, Chi BH, Hamoonga TE, et al. Predictors of maternal HIV acquisition during pregnancy and lactation in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. PLoS One. 2024;19(12):e0314747 (https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0314747).
- 38 Carlucci JG, Yu Z, González P, et al. The effect of a Mentor Mothers program on prevention of vertical transmission of HIV outcomes in Zambézia Province, Mozambique: a retrospective interrupted time series analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2022;25(6):e25952 (https:// doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25952).
- 39 UNAIDS monthly Global AIDS Monitoring updates, 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/services).
- 40 Penazzato M, Prendergast AJ, Muhe LM, et al. Optimisation of antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected children under 3 years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;2014(5):CD004772 (https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD004772.pub4).
- 41 Nalwanga D, Musiime V. Children living with HIV: a narrative review of recent advances in pediatric HIV research and their implications for clinical practice. Ther Adv Infect Dis. 2022;9:20499361221077544 (https://doi.org/10.1177/20499361221077544).
- 42 Yang M, Toolin C, Pati R, et al. Assessing IIT and mortality among CLHIV <15 yo in PEPFARsupported countries, FY21–FY24. Abstract 121. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, San Francisco, CA, 9–12 March 2025.
- 43 Davies C, Johnson L, Sawry S, et al. Effect of antiretroviral therapy care interruptions on mortality in children living with HIV. AIDS. 2022;36(5):729–737 (https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.000000000003194).
- 44 Turokova A, White E, Mujuru HA, et al. Dolutegravir as first- or second-line treatment for HIV-1 infections in children. N Engl J Med. 2021;385:2531–2543 (https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2108793).

- 45 Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach—2021 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/342899).
- 46 Davendra A, Kohler M, Letsika M, et al. HIV viral suppression in children and adolescents 2 years after transition to dolutegravir: a multicentre cohort study. AIDS. 2024;38:1013–1023 (https://doi. org/0.1097/QAD.00000000003835).
- 47 Tukei VJ, Herrera N, Masitha M, et al. Optimizing antiretroviral therapy for children living with HIV: experience from an observational cohort in Lesotho. PLoS One. 2023;18:e0288619 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0288619).
- 48 Walle BG, Tiruneh CM, Wubneh M, et al. Treatment failure among sub-Sahara African children living with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ital J Pediatr. 2024;50(1):202 (https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13052-024-01706-w).
- 49 Hlophe LD, Tamuzi JL, Shumba CS, Nyasulu PS. Barriers and facilitators to anti-retroviral therapy adherence among adolescents aged 10 to 19 years living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa: a mixedmethods systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2023;18(5):e0276411 (https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0276411).
- 50 Tao Y, Byrne M, Ho D, et al. HIV interventions across the care continuum for adolescents in high-burden countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. EClinicalMedicine. 2024;78:102989 (https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2024.102989).
- 51 Cluver LD, Orkin FM, Campeau L, et al. Improving lives by accelerating progress towards the UN Sustainable Development Goals for adolescents living with HIV: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):245–254 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30033-1).
- 52 Bosma CB, Toromo JJ, Ayers MJ, et al. Effects of economic interventions on pediatric and adolescent HIV care outcomes: a systematic review. AIDS Care. 2024;36(1):1–16 (https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121. 2023.2240071).
- 53 Global tuberculosis report 2024. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (https://www.who.int/ teams/global-programme-on-tuberculosis-and-lung health/tb-reports/global-tuberculosis-report-2024).
- 54 Hlongwa M, Mashamba-Thompson T, Makhunga S, Hlongwana K. Barriers to HIV testing uptake among men in sub-Saharan Africa: a scoping review. Afr J AIDS Res 2020;19:13–23 (https://doi.org/10.2989/1 6085906.2020.1725071).
- 55 Hlongwa M, Mashamba-Thompson T, Makhunga S, Hlongwana K. Mapping evidence of intervention strategies to improving men's uptake to HIV testing services in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic scoping review. BMC Infect Dis. 2019;19(1):496 (https://doi. org/10.1186/s12879-019-4124-y).
- 56 Choong A, Lyu YM, Johnson CC, et al. Social network-based approaches to HIV testing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2024;27(9):e26353 (https://doi.org/10.1002/ jia2.26353).
- 57 Lu IJ, Silhol R, d'Elbée M, et al. Cost–effectiveness analysis of community-led HIV self-testing among key populations in Côte d'Ivoire, Mali, and Senegal. J Int AIDS Soc. 2024;27(7):e26334 (https://doi. org/10.1002/jia2.26334).

- 58 Zhang Y, Goh SM, Tapa J, et al. Linkage to care and prevention after HIV self-testing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2024;27(12):e26388 (https://doi.org/10.1002/ jia2.26388).
- 59 Adeagbo OA, Badru OA, Nkfusai CN, Bain LE. Effectiveness of linkage to care and prevention interventions following HIV self-testing: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS Behav. 2024;28(4):1314–1326 (https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10461-023-04162-5).
- 60 Hamilton A, Thompson N, Choko AT, et al. HIV selftesting uptake and intervention strategies among men in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. Front Public Health. 2021;9:594298 (https://doi. org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.594298).
- 61 Hlongwa M, Hlongwana K, Makhunga S, et al. Linkage to HIV care following HIV self-testing among men: systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies from six countries in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Behav. 2023;27(2):651–666 (https://doi. org/10.1007/s10461-022-03800-8).
- 62 Trickey A, Zhang L, Rentsch C, et al. Care interruptions and mortality among adults in Europe and North America: a collaborative analysis of cohort studies. AIDS, 2024;38(10):1533–1542 (https://doi. org/10.1097/QAD.00000000003924).
- 63 Moolla H, Davies MA, Davies C, et al. The effect of care interruptions on mortality in adults resuming antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2024;38(8):1198-1205 (https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000003859).
- 64 DeBeck K, Cheng T, Montaner JS, et al. HIV and the criminalisation of drug use among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet HIV. 2017;4(8):e357–e374 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3018(17)30073-5).
- 65 Rosen JG, Nakyanjo N, Ddaaki WG, et al. Identifying longitudinal patterns of HIV treatment (dis)engagement and re-engagement from oral histories of virologically unsuppressed persons in Uganda: a thematic trajectory analysis. Soc Sci Med. 2023;339:116386 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j. socscimed.2023.116386).
- 66 Pugh LE, Roberts JS, Viswasam N, et al. Systematic review of interventions aimed at improving HIV adherence to care in low- and middle-income countries in sub-Saharan Africa. J Infect Public Health. 2022;15(10):1053–1060 (https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jiph.2022.08.012).
- 67 Nicol E, Jama NA, Mehlomakulu V, et al. Enhancing linkage to HIV care in the "universal test and treat" era: barriers and enablers to HIV care among adults in a high HIV burdened district in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. BMC Public Health. 2023;23(1):1756 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-16576-w).
- 68 Anderson AN, Higgins CM, Haardörfer R, et al. Disparities in retention in care among adults living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2020;24(4):985–997 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02679-2).
- 69 Kusemererwa S, Akena D, Nakanjako D, et al. Strategies for retention of heterosexual men in HIV care in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2021;16:e0246471 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246471).
- 70 Li JZ, Aga E, Bosch RJ, et al. Time to viral rebound after interruption of modern antiretroviral therapies. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;74(5):865–870 (https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34117753/).

- 71 Gunst JD, Gohil J, Li JZ, et al. Time to HIV viral rebound and frequency of post-treatment control after analytical interruption of antiretroviral therapy: an individual data-based meta-analysis of 24 prospective studies. Nat Commun. 2025;16,906 (https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-025-56116-1).
- 72 Monitoring IV drug resistance with CADRE. Atlanta, GA: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2024 (https://www.cdc.gov/global-hivtb/media/pdfs/2024/05/2024/CADRE\_Factsheet\_ MonitoringHIV.pdf).
- 73 Mody A, Sikombe K, Simbeza S, et al. Effect of a person-centered care intervention on reengagement after care interruptions in Zambia. Abstract 188. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, San Francisco, CA, 9–12 March 2025.
- 74 Ending AIDS, ending inequalities: Fast-Track Cities. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ AIDS; 2022 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/ files/media\_asset/fast-track-cities-recent-goodpractices\_en.pdf).
- 75 Dovel KL, Balakasi K, Robson I, et al. Low-cost counseling achieves positive outcomes for Malawi men disengaged from care: randomized trial. Abstract 185. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, San Francisco, CA, 9–12 March 2025.
- 76 Esmaeili ED, Azizi H, Dastgiri S, Kalankesh LR. Does telehealth affect the adherence to ART among patients with HIV? A systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Infect Dis. 2023;23(1):169 (https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12879-023-08119-w).
- 77 Saragih ID, Tonapa SI, Osingada CP, et al. Effects of telehealth-assisted interventions among people living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. J Telemed Telecare. 2024;30(3):438–450 (https://doi. org/10.1177/1357633X211070726).
- 78 Ford N, Kassanjee R, Stelzle D, et al. Global prevalence of advanced HIV disease in healthcare settings: a rapid review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2025;28(2):e26415 (https://doi.org/10.1002/ jia2.26415).
- 79 Ford N, Doherty M. The enduring challenge of advanced HIV infection. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(3):283–284 (https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMe1707598).
- 80 Boyd AT, Oboho I, Paulin H, et al. Addressing advanced HIV disease and mortality in global HIV programming. AIDS Res Ther. 2020;17(1):40 (https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12981-020-00296-x).
- 81 Stelzle D, Rangaraj A, Jarvis JN, et al. Prevalence of advanced HIV disease in sub-Saharan Africa: a multi-country analysis of nationally representative household surveys. Lancet Glob Health. 2025;13(3):e437–e446 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2214-109X(24)00538-2).
- 82 De Waal R, Wools-Kaloustian K, Brazier E, et al. Global trends in CD4 count measurement and distribution at first antiretroviral treatment initiation. Clin Infect Dis. 2024:ciae548 (https://doi. org/10.1093/cid/ciae548).





# HIV PREVENTION IS IN JEOPARDY

© UNAIDS

# **3.1 HIV prevention** is having an impact

Decades of hard work and innovation by communities, governments and scientists have reduced the number of people acquiring HIV to its lowest point in almost three decades. An estimated 1.3 million [1.0 million–1.7 million] people acquired HIV in 2024—40% less than in 2010, but still more than three times the 2025 target of 370 000 or fewer new infections.

These prevention gains are uneven, and they are advancing too slowly to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030 (Figure 3.1). Far too many people who are most at risk of acquiring HIV are still not able to make use of the tools and services that can protect them against the virus. HIV prevention programmes have long been underresourced and are now being hit hard by funding losses. Countries, communities and their partners must regroup rapidly to stop the HIV response from derailing.

There has been a 56% drop in the number of new infections since 2010 in sub-Saharan Africa, which was home to about half of all people who acquired HIV globally in 2024. Fewer adolescent girls and women are acquiring HIV, but they continue to face a disproportionately high risk of HIV in much of sub-Saharan Africa.

Numbers of new HIV infections are still increasing in the Middle East and North Africa. In Latin America and eastern Europe and central Asia, numbers of new HIV infections have increased in recent years but are starting to level off. In Asia and the Pacific, the Caribbean, and western and central Europe and North America, numbers of new HIV infections are decreasing slowly. Asia and the Pacific accounts for about 23% of all new infections globally.

Over 50% of new HIV acquisitions are among people from key populations and their sex partners (1). People from key populations and their sex partners continue to be neglected in HIV programmes, even in places where the epidemic affects them the most.

Spending patterns remain misaligned to the needs and realities of the epidemic. In recent reporting to Global AIDS Monitoring, only 10–12% of total HIV spending (among 88 countries reporting on expenditures) was directed towards HIV prevention, which was half of the average 24% share of spending needed across low- and middle-income countries to reach the 2030 prevention targets. Only 2.6% of total HIV funding was spent on programmes for key populations, despite their disproportionately high share of new infections.

These trends are not sustainable. At the current rate of increase of new HIV infections, the number of people living with HIV and requiring lifelong treatment will keep growing. Even if the HIV response stays on the course it was on before the recent funding cuts, about 46 million people will be living with HIV in 2050 (2).

#### The impact of HIV prevention on reducing new HIV infections is mixed



#### Figure 3.1. Numbers of new HIV infections (thousands), by region, 1990–2024

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

Primary prevention implemented at scale and, after 2010, widening access to HIV treatment are the main reasons for the drop in the number of new HIV infections. People with an undetectable viral load have zero risk of transmitting HIV to their sex partners, and people with a suppressed viral load have a near-zero risk of doing so (3, 4).<sup>1</sup> Treatment alone, however, is not enough. Mathematical modelling using data for eastern and southern Africa, for example, shows that reaching the 95–95–95 targets (while maintaining current prevention coverage) will not achieve the 2030 prevention target (5).<sup>2</sup>

- A suppressed viral load is defined as equal to or less than 1000 copies/mL.
- 2 This target calls for reducing the number of new HIV infections in 2030 by 90% compared with 2010.

<sup>1</sup> A person's viral load is undetectable when it is so low that a polymerase chain reaction test cannot measure it.

There are obvious areas for improvement:

- Condom and voluntary medical male circumcision (VMMC) programmes are faltering in countries with some of the largest HIV epidemics, and breakthrough prevention options such as long-acting pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) are available to only a small fraction of the people who can benefit from them.
- In many regions, comprehensive prevention services for people from key
  populations are reaching less than half the people who need them, and almost
  no country is meeting the global harm reduction targets.
- New generations of young people are missing out on prevention interventions and services that can help protect them against HIV.
- Harmful gender norms, stigma, discrimination, criminalization, violence and socioeconomic inequalities continue to be barriers to HIV prevention, especially for adolescent girls and young women.

The world has the knowledge and proven tools to drastically reduce new HIV infections everywhere to the levels that will end AIDS as a public health threat. A growing number of countries are using these resources to huge effect, but many other countries are not showing the same resolve. The deep cuts applied to international development assistance for HIV now threaten to impede further progress.

For every person who received prevention services in 2024, three others were left unprotected.

# Effects of the funding cuts on HIV prevention

Primary HIV prevention programmes have been underfunded in all regions. An estimated US\$ 1.7 billion–2.1 billion was available for primary prevention programmes in low- and middle-income countries in 2024 (6), which is about a third of the estimated annual need of US\$ 5.3 billion in 2030. This means that for every person who received prevention services in 2024, three others were left unprotected.

The bulk of HIV prevention funding in many countries has come from external sources (79% in western and central Africa, 78% in eastern and southern Africa, 66% in the Caribbean, and 60% in the Middle East and North Africa). Only 18 of the 82 countries reporting these data financed more than a quarter of their HIV prevention programmes with domestic funds (Figure 3.2). The abrupt HIV funding freezes and cuts imposed in early 2025 are now pushing many of the donor-reliant programmes into crisis.

#### HIV prevention in many countries has relied heavily on donor funding



Figure 3.2. Proportions of HIV prevention funding coming from international sources, 2025

Source: UNAIDS financial estimates using latest available prevention funding data from global AIDS Monitoring, national AIDS spending assessments, PEPFAR Panaroma Spotlight, and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria.

Loss of funding from the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) for HIV prevention in particular is a major concern. In addition to strengthening health systems, helping to establish supply chains for HIV commodities and supporting societal enabler programmes, PEPFAR greatly supported the provision of effective biomedical and behavioural prevention services, including community-led services, in more than 50 countries. It reached 2.3 million adolescent girls and young women with comprehensive HIV prevention services; enabled 2.5 million people to use HIV PrEP; provided almost 84 million people with HIV testing services; and directly supported more than 340 000 health workers. PEPFAR also expanded access to highly effective services to prevent vertical transmission of HIV, averting an estimated 7.8 million HIV acquisitions in babies (7).

The wave of funding losses has already disrupted supply chains, led to the closure of health facilities, left thousands of community health workers jobless, set back PrEP programmes, and forced numerous community organizations to reduce or halt their HIV activities (8). The losses might also compel countries to reallocate funding from prevention and testing services to purchasing antiretroviral medicines, which would further degrade primary prevention activities (9).

Already marginalized, people from key populations are especially vulnerable to these setbacks. Prevention services for people from key populations have relied heavily on external assistance and were already underfunded, but a great deal of this support was halted in early 2025. Prevention services for young people, especially adolescent girls and young women in sub-Saharan Africa, are also being defunded (10). Funding cuts to societal enabler interventions will make it even more difficult to overcome the structural barriers that hold back HIV prevention.

The full impact is still accumulating (see Chapter 1). Unless addressed, this massive and sudden withdrawal of financing support could trigger a return to the early 2000s, when well over 2 million people acquired HIV each year. Permanent termination of HIV programmes receiving external funding could result in over 6.6 million additional new HIV infections globally between 2025 and 2029 (11, 12), with other studies presenting similarly dire forecasts (see Chapter 1) (9).

## Key populations are still being left behind

Efforts to protect key populations from HIV continue to be irregular and inadequate. Key populations and their sex partners bear the burden of about 25% of new HIV acquisitions in sub-Saharan Africa and 80% of new acquisitions in the rest of the world (1). HIV programmes and investments do not yet reflect this reality. Across most regions, more than half of people from key populations are not being reached with basic HIV prevention services (Figure 3.3).

A median of only 38% of gay men and other men who have sex with men (27 reporting countries) and 39% of people who inject drugs (22 countries) accessed at least two prevention services in the previous three months. The coverage and use of combination HIV prevention among sex workers is also low, with a reported median of only 47% receiving at least two prevention services in the previous three months (33 countries). Corresponding median coverage among transgender people was 44% (15 countries). People in prisons and other closed settings are still routinely neglected in HIV prevention programmes.

Permanent termination of HIV programmes receiving external funding could result in over 6.6 million additional new HIV infections globally between 2025 and 2029.



Kalesi Volatabu, founder of Drug-Free World Fiji, breaks the ice at drug awareness sessions by sharing her shocking story.

When she was 13, her parents sent her to relatives in Sydney for what she thought was a vacation. In fact, they expected her to stay there, work and send money back to them in Fiji. She ended up on her own with no passport, no schooling and no care. She spent three years on the streets. Boyfriends abused her. She was raped twice. She attempted suicide three times. By the age of 17, she was a mother.

"Marijuana did nothing for me," she says. "My drug of choice was meth. I needed to go to the hardest drug to numb the pain I was going through ... to fill the void. When I share this in Fiji today in villages, schools and churches, it gives people the power to say, 'This is what happened to me.' It is a healing journey."

Kalesi leads the one community organization exclusively committed to addressing the drug use fuelling Fiji's ballooning HIV epidemic.

Since 2014, number of new HIV infections in Fiji has risen by an alarming 10-fold. UNAIDS estimates that in 2014, there were fewer than 500 people living with HIV in Fiji. Just 10 years later, that number was 5900 [4500–8900]. In 2024, only 36% [27–54%] of people living with HIV in Fiji were aware of their HIV status, and only 24% [18–36%] were receiving treatment.

Preliminary data for 2024 from the Ministry of Health show that

#### STORY

# As HIV infections soar due to injecting drug use, harm reduction should be a priority in Fiji

among people newly diagnosed with HIV who are currently receiving antiretroviral therapy, half contracted HIV through sharing needles.

Responding to the sharp increase in new diagnoses, the Government of Fiji declared an HIV outbreak in January 2025. The HIV Outbreak Response Plan and the previously announced Counter Narcotics and HIV Surge strategies call for the introduction of harm reduction programmes for people who inject drugs. Currently there are none.

Although there is agreement in principle with the introduction of needle–syringe programmes, moving towards implementation has been more challenging. "We still need to raise awareness," says Kalesi. "It is not just about giving out needles. It is about education. But there are so many myths and misconceptions. We have to educate the leaders first. When the indigenous chiefs call, people will follow. Then there are the churches. Last but not least, the Government."

Medical Services in the Pacific (MSP) Fiji is prepared to implement a needle–syringe programme. The non-profit-making organization provides a broad range of sexual and reproductive health services. It is already supporting the scale-up of much needed HIV prevention, testing and linkages to care. Beyond its clinics in Labasa, Lautoka and Suva, it deploys an outreach team of clinicians and counsellors to the field. A mobile clinic goes to hotspot areas to provide a package of HIV and noncommunicable disease services in areas with high levels of injecting drug use.

"Since we started providing pointof-care (rapid) screening last year, the numbers have continued to escalate," says MSP Fiji Country Director, Railala Nakabea. "It is not only in the cities and towns. We are also seeing positive cases in rural communities. Most of the cases we detect are among people who inject drugs."

MSP Fiji Medical Officer, Kesa Tuidraki, reiterates the importance of harm reduction alongside longerterm and more widely accepted plans for the construction of a drug rehabilitation facility. "It is not only HIV," she says. "We also have increasing hepatitis C infection, which is even more easily spread through sharing injecting equipment. We need to have harm reduction programmes in place as soon as possible. Rehabilitation does not address the immediate public health emergency." She acknowledges the importance of partnering with an organization of people with lived experience to more effectively serve the community of people who use drugs.

For Kalesi Volatabu, it is critical that stakeholders work together to design a tailored approach. "We definitely need harm minimization strategies, but we have to contextualize the programmes. What would work in the western context will not work in Fiji. You need to speak the language of your audience. It must be driven by the people and owned by the people."

#### Combination prevention services are not reaching the most vulnerable people

**Figure 3.3.** Gap to achieve combination prevention targets among key populations, by intervention, global, 2020–2024



2020–2024 status -• Gap to 2025 target

Note: the methods used are described in the section "Calculation of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) coverage for HIV-negative people" in Annex 1 (available online). PrEP targets were calculated based on the number of people who would most benefit from PrEP use, i.e. people with greatest vulnerability to HIV exposure within each key population. Reported numbers of users of PrEP include all users, regardless of vulnerability. The graph shows median coverage among countries reporting, except for PrEP use. Coverage of interventions can be underestimated due to the lack of reporting from some countries. HIV prevention programme coverage refers to people from key populations who reported receiving at least two prevention services in the past three months. Possible prevention services received include condoms and lubricants, counselling on condom use and safer sex, testing for sexually transmitted infections and sterile injecting equipment. Condom use at last higher-risk sex does not take into account people taking PrEP and therefore might not accurately indicate risk to HIV acquisition.

Source: Global AIDS Monitoring 2021-2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/); UNAIDS special analysis 2025.

Community-led organizations, especially those led by young people, women and people from key populations, are uniquely positioned to reach the people who are most at risk for HIV and are crucial providers of prevention services in spaces that are free of stigma and discrimination (Figure 3.4). Their ability to keep doing so hangs in the balance in many countries, as official development assistance for HIV continues to decline.

The underlying conditions that render people from key populations so vulnerable to HIV are being allowed to persist. In some places, they are being reinforced, aggravating the harm done. Campaigns are attacking rights-based approaches, including for public health, with women and people from marginalized populations often the targets.

For the first time since UNAIDS started reporting on punitive laws, the numbers of countries criminalizing same-sex sexual activity and gender expression have increased. In the past year, Mali and Trinidad and Tobago have criminalized same-sex relations, Uganda's Anti-Homosexuality Act has intensified the proscription of same-sex relations (13), and Ghana has moved in a similar direction, with the Parliament reintroducing the Human Sexual Rights and Family Values Bill in 2025. Mali has also criminalized transgender people.

In 2025, only eight of 193 countries did not criminalize same-sex sexual acts in private, transgender people, sex work, possession of small amounts of drugs (Figure 3.5a,b,c) or HIV nondisclosure, exposure or transmission (14).<sup>3,4</sup> A large majority of countries criminalize some aspect of sex work (168 countries) or the possession of small amounts of drugs (152 countries); a third criminalize same-sex sexual relations (64 countries); and 14 countries criminalize transgender people. Laws that criminalize same-sex sexual relations, and other laws, are sometimes used to criminalize transgender people. HIV nondisclosure, exposure or transmission remains a potential criminal offence in 156 countries, despite an absence of evidence that they contribute to slowing the epidemic.

# People from key populations depend on community-led and other nongovernmental organizations for HIV prevention services that are free of stigma and discrimination



**Figure 3.4.** Distribution of the reported numbers of people from key populations reached with HIV prevention interventions by type of provider, 2020–2024

Source: Global AIDS Monitoring 2021-2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

3 Chile, Colombia, Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Paraguay, Slovenia, Switzerland, Uruguay, Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of).

Slovenia and Switzerland, however, have reported prosecutions related to HIV nondisclosure, exposure or transmission in the past 10 years

#### Almost all countries have punitive laws that criminalize at least one key population

Figure 3.5a. Countries with laws criminalizing same-sex sexual acts in private, global, 2025



Source: National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2024 (http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/), supplemented by additional sources (see references in http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).





Criminalizing law
 No criminalizing law
 No data available

Source: National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2024 (http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/), supplemented by additional sources (see references in http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).



Figure 3.5c. Countries with laws criminalizing any aspect of sex work, global, 2025

Any criminalization or punitive regulation of sex work Sex work is not subject to punitive regulations or is not criminalized Data not available

Source: National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2024 (http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/), supplemented by additional sources (see references in http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).

**Figure 3.5d.** Countries with laws criminalizing the possession of small amounts of drugs for personal use, global, 2025



Yes 📃 No 📃 Data not available

Source: National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2024 (http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/), supplemented by additional sources (see references in http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).

Criminalization and repressive policing expose people from key populations to a disproportionate risk of acquiring HIV and other life-threatening infections such as hepatitis C. This is true also in settings where HIV is widely prevalent in the overall population, as in much of sub-Saharan Africa (15). Globally in 2022, the risk of acquiring HIV was up to 23 times higher for gay men and other men who have sex with men, 20 times higher for transgender women, 14 times higher for people who inject drugs (and even higher for young people and women who inject drugs) (16), and nine times higher for sex workers than for adults (aged 15–49 years) overall (1). Ideally, these punitive laws should be removed, as recommended by the Global Commission on HIV and the Law (17). At the very least, the enforcement of punitive laws and policies that undermine HIV responses should be suspended or relaxed. People must also be able to report, challenge and seek redress for the discrimination, harassment and violence that these kinds of laws sanction.

### HIV data for key populations are becoming sparser

Accurate size estimates and HIV-related data for key populations are generally scarce, with criminalization and widespread discrimination among the obstacles. Until recently, the 30 to 40 integrated biobehavioural surveys conducted annually provided vital insights to guide HIV and other programmes for programmes for key populations. But fewer of these surveys are being done—a trend that the cuts in donor support will almost certainly intensify. The funding uncertainty has consequences: many key population survey activities are being delayed or are at risk of cancellation due to funding freezes. Fewer sources of good-quality data will render these key and other neglected populations even less visible to policymakers and programme planners and will undermine evidence-based prevention activities (18).

## In Africa, HIV remains a major threat to girls and women—greater gender equality would change this

The total number of adolescent girls and young women (aged 15–24 years) acquiring HIV has been reduced by half globally since 2010, and by a similar margin (51%) in both eastern and southern Africa and western and central Africa. These declines generally track with levels of access to effective HIV treatment programmes and the extent to which girls and young women can access and use combination prevention options that fit their lived realities. Economic empowerment, access to comprehensive sexuality education, transformation of harmful social norms, and completion of secondary education create enabling environments where girls and young women can make informed decisions, access HIV prevention and care services, and exercise control over their sexual and reproductive health, ultimately reducing their vulnerability to HIV. This progress is the result of focused, sustained investment in HIV prevention for adolescent girls and young women and highlights the importance of continuing and scaling up these efforts (*19*).

But gender inequalities, violence and gaps in basic HIV prevention programmes put adolescent girls and young women at much higher risk of acquiring HIV than their male peers in sub-Saharan Africa (Figure 3.6). HIV incidence among adolescent girls and young women continues to be exceptionally high in much of eastern and southern Africa and in specific areas in western and central Africa. In 2023, less than half (46%) of the areas with high or moderately high HIV incidence<sup>5</sup> in sub-Saharan Africa were being served by a prevention programme focused on adolescent girls and young women. Levels of condom use with non-regular partners and access to PrEP are too low for adequate protection against HIV. Consequently, an estimated 210 000 adolescent girls and young women globally acquired HIV in 2024—equal to 570 new infections among adolescent girls and young women per day. Moreover, recent reviews and studies continue to show that adolescent girls and young women aged under 25 years remain disproportionately vulnerable to HIV due to structural and behavioural drivers, including limited access to services, low socioeconomic status and gender inequalities (20, 21).

The HIV epidemic among girls and women is also evolving. Empirical data from community cohorts in four countries in eastern and southern Africa6 show that HIV incidence has been declining faster among young women and men aged 15-24 years than among people aged 25 years and over. Due to these changing patterns in HIV incidence, the largest proportion of new HIV infections in these countries is now among people aged 25–49 years. This shift is especially evident among women (22, 23) and is also a consequence of successful interventions targeting younger age groups. Rather than indicating reduced importance of prevention for adolescent girls and young women, this should be seen as a call to consolidate gains and intensify efforts to further reduce HIV incidence in this high-risk age group, even as prevention services expand to older age groups. HIV prevention services in eastern and southern Africa need to adjust to this trend and do better at reaching both women and men aged over 25 years alongside efforts to target adolescent girls and young women. For instance, across eight African countries, modelling shows that increasing secondary school enrollment by 70–100% can avert up to 84 000 new infections by 2030 (Education Plus Initiative, 2025). In addition to the health gains, these investments are projected to generate significant economic benefits, improve educational outcomes, and contribute to reductions in gender-based violence, early pregnancies, and child marriages, illustrating the broader impact of HIV prevention for adolescent girls and young women.

#### Adolescent girls and young women are still at much higher risk of acquiring HIV in sub-Saharan Africa, but adolescent boys and young men are at higher risk elsewhere

Figure 3.6. Estimated numbers of new HIV infections among young people aged 15–24 years, by sex, global and regional, 2024



Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/)

- High HIV incidence denotes one or more new infections per 100 person-years. Moderately high incidence denotes 0.3–0.99 new 5 infections per 100 person-years
- Kenva, South Africa, Uganda, Zimbabwe 6



In seven countries in western and central Africa surveyed in 2023, more than 12% of people living with HIV aged 18–24 years reported avoiding health centres for care because of their HIV status (24).

Whether it is a refusal of care, humiliating comments or disclosure of their status, many people described feeling alienated. Last year, with funds from Expertise France and the help of UNAIDS and partners, a pilot was launched to raise awareness of stigma in Cameroon, Côte d'Ivoire, Senegal and Togo.

Training in the Looking In, Looking Out (LILO)<sup>7</sup> approach raised awareness among 150 health professionals in Senegal and 97 in Togo about sexual diversity, gender-based violence and respect for human rights. In Kara, northern Togo, a visual digital tool (named "image boxes") has been designed with communities to raise awareness of health and HIV.

#### STORY

# Reducing stigma in health-care settings and reforming the law: a double hurdle in western and central Africa

When individuals and communities know their rights, they are empowered to take control of their own health and to hold service providers accountable. This is one of the key messages of this tool used by the Network of People Living with HIV (RAS+ Togo). A total of 300 young people attended educational health sessions in the Central African Republic. In Benin and the Central African Republic, the project focused on legal reform, with the involvement of parliamentarians, including members of the women's caucus in both countries. Legal texts, a draft decree and a decree have been drafted in the Central African Republic. In Benin, the work also focused on advocacy for the adoption of the new HIV bill.

"We must make the link between HIV and gender-based violence. The law must protect women in all spheres, especially including health," said Huguette Bokpe Gnacadja, President of the National Institute for Women in Benin.

The year-long partnership has enabled action to be taken at the individual level (rights literacy), organizational level (paralegals in community organizations, training for community actors), interorganizational level and national level (legal reform).

In the next year, UNAIDS wants to further improve access to inclusive human rights-based HIV services for people from key populations, adolescents, girls and young women in the region.

"The fight against HIV will not be won in laboratories, but in the power relations between caregivers and those receiving care, between the state and its citizens," said Fatou Sy, a UNAIDS focal point in the region who oversaw the projects in the six countries. "We have more work to do."

When individuals and communities know their rights, they are empowered to take control of their own health and to hold service providers accountable.

<sup>7</sup> Looking In, Looking Out (LILO) refers to a process of internal and external reflection aimed at improving understanding of key populations and their access to health services. The approach seeks to strengthen the knowledge of intermediaries in the response to stigma surrounding key populations, with a view to encouraging their involvement in creating a supportive environment.

## Countries must do more to curb gender-based violence

In addition to the harm and trauma caused, violence and the fear of violence can deter people from using services and tools that can prevent or manage HIV infection (25). For girls and women, intimate partner violence is an unnervingly common experience, which heightens their risk of acquiring HIV in settings where HIV prevalence is high (Figure 3.7) (26).

Among adolescent girls and women aged 15–49 years, data from population-based surveys in 2020–2024 show a median 18% had recently experienced physical and/ or sexual violence by an intimate partner in eastern and southern Africa (eight countries) and 14% in western and central Africa (nine countries), compared with 10% in Asia and the Pacific (eight countries) and 5% in western and central Europe and North America (30 countries). Young women are especially at risk: data from 18 countries show one in six women aged 15–24 years experienced physical and/or sexual violence by an intimate partner at some point in the past 12 months (*27*).

In 2020–2024, a median 20% of sex workers (40 reporting countries) and 22% of transgender people (21 reporting countries) said they had experienced physical and/or sexual violence in the past 12 months.

Transgender people and women from key populations are particularly vulnerable, with women who engage in sex work facing high risks of violence from intimate partners, clients and police. One review of studies from eastern and southern Africa found that 21–82% of female sex workers had been attacked at some point in their lives (28). An earlier review of studies from across the world reported a lifetime prevalence of violence of 45–75% (29). Experiences of physical and/or sexual violence are strongly associated with higher rates of HIV infection among female sex workers (30).

In many countries, large proportions of men and women endorse or tolerate violence against women. Across 38 countries with available data, a median 19% of adult women and men aged 15–49 years reported accepting attitudes towards violence against women (*31*).

Strong evidence supports the integration of violence prevention in health-care settings such as antenatal care and sexual and reproductive health services, and in HIV services within and beyond the health-care sector (see Chapter 4) (32, 33). Implementation of violence prevention strategies is sparse, however, in part due to health system weaknesses (34).

For girls and women, intimate partner violence is an unnervingly common experience, which heightens their risk of acquiring HIV in settings where HIV prevalence is high.

#### Intimate partner violence is very common in some countries

**Figure 3.7.** Prevalence of intimate partner violence in the past 12 months among ever-married or partnered women aged 15–49 years, countries with available data, 2020–2024



Source: population-based surveys, 2020–2024; 2021–2024 EU survey on gender-based violence against women and other forms of inter-personal violence (EU-GBV).

## Young people lack the means to protect their sexual health

For girls and women, staying HIV-free depends on their ability to control their sexual lives and protect their sexual health, neither of which is easy when gender inequalities and discrimination persist. The uneven availability and quality of comprehensive sexuality education puts them and their male peers at an early disadvantage (Figure 3.8). Even when comprehensive sexuality education is part of the national curriculum, it is often taught incompletely, if at all, in classrooms (35, 36).

Access to sexual and reproductive health information and services, including family planning, is compromised and incomplete. This is the case especially for women in rural areas and for young and marginalized women. Punitive laws, stigma and discrimination push these services even further from the reach of women from key populations (37, 38). These realities are not improving: some jurisdictions are actively depriving girls and women of their sexual and reproductive health rights, and campaigns aimed at extending such restrictions are gaining momentum.

A little over half of women and girls aged 15–49 years are able to make their own decisions regarding sexual relations, contraceptive use and use of health care (Figure 3.9) (39). Adolescent girls and young women tend to have the least decision-making control related to sexual relations, contraceptive use and health care; age-of-consent laws are an additional restriction in some countries (40). These barriers must be removed, and girls and women must be able to claim their sexual and reproductive health and rights.

#### Inclusion of sexuality education in national curricula is alarmingly low



**Figure 3.8.** Countries with policies and curricula on life skills-based HIV and sexuality education, by education level, global, 2017–2024

Source: National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017-2024 (http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).

Yes 📕 No 📃 Data not available
#### Adolescent girls and young women in many countries lack autonomy over their sexual lives and health

Figure 3.9. Percentage of women aged 15–49 years who make their own informed decisions regarding sexual relations, contraceptive use and reproductive health care, countries with available data, 2020–2024



Source: population-based surveys, 2020–2024; SDG indicator database. New York: United Nations (https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/dataportal/database).



Marouane Abouzid grew up in Casablanca, Morocco, where many boys act like bullies and sex is taboo. That changed when he joined the project Sport Is Your Protection, where he gained knowledge about gender equality and health. "The training on HIV awareness led by UNAIDS and Tibu Africa was a transformative experience in the sense that I saw how sports can be an effective way to get a message out," the 25-year-old says. "It also gave me essential skills like communicating clearly and active listening."

He enjoyed the project so much that he trained to lead sports activities and participate in other sessions. "I talk openly about what I have learned. I encourage my friends to get tested for HIV and encourage people to respect others," he says, excited about becoming a role model for his peers.

Marouane describes the activities as a safe space to discuss all sorts of issues that young people face

## Using sports to combat gender stereotypes and learn about HIV

in Morocco, such as poverty, unemployment and a patriarchal system.

Marouane is not alone. Assia Ezzahraoui, a participant in the Tibu Africa sports vocational school programme, joined the weeklong sexual education awareness meeting. "The informative sessions gave me new insights into symptoms, prevention methods and available treatments," she says. Assia feels more secure about how to protect herself and her friends.

Tibu Africa was founded in 2011 and aims to bring the programme across different cities in Morocco. UNAIDS joined with Tibu Africa in 2024. "This first partnership with UNAIDS Morocco mobilized young people around issues to transcend barriers and create opportunities for dialogue and awareness," says Mohamed Amine Zariat, President of Tibu Africa. "We hope this first step will serve as a springboard for future, even more ambitious initiatives." An estimated 24 000 [21 000–26 000] people are living with HIV in Morocco, and nearly 40% of these are women. Although the prevalence of HIV is relatively low in Morocco, vulnerable populations such as sex workers, gay men and other men who have sex with men and people who inject drugs are particularly at risk. Moroccan youth represent more than 30% of the total population, but a quarter of people aged 15–24 years have no job and lack education and training—young women are particularly hard hit.

Houssine El Rhilani, UNAIDS Country Director in Morocco, is aware of this. He believes the collaboration with Tibu Africa combining sport, education and awareness-raising can empower young people. "We were able to reach young people not only with information, but also through experience, providing them with concrete tools to become prevention ambassadors in their own communities," he says. "We cannot end AIDS without prioritizing future generations."

# We cannot end AIDS without prioritizing future generations.

# **3.2** Using the many opportunities to get more out of HIV prevention

HIV prevention has come a long way in the past three decades. Highly effective prevention tools and methods exist, not least of which is antiretroviral therapy. Exciting new technologies such as long-acting injectable PrEP are emerging. Community systems have been built to serve and support key and other vulnerable populations—but funding losses now have the prevention response hanging in the balance.

# Ways to get more out of treatment as prevention

Expanded HIV treatment coverage and rising levels of viral load suppression are a major reason for the drop in numbers of new HIV infections in recent years, along with the impact of primary prevention efforts such as condom programmes (3, 4, 41, 42). Maintaining and further enhancing these programmes—including generating public awareness and promoting strong demand for them—are clear priorities everywhere (43).

People living with HIV who receive effective antiretroviral therapy and have undetectable viral loads have zero risk of transmission to their sexual partners (the so-called U=U, or undetectable = untransmissible, effect of HIV treatment). Universal access to HIV testing and treatment and high levels of viral suppression are crucial for any successful HIV prevention strategy. This means doing away with the deficiencies and disparities that still riddle some testing and treatment programmes (see Chapter 2).

The impact of treatment as prevention can be boosted further by diagnosing more people living with HIV; starting them promptly on antiretroviral therapy; enabling people who initiate treatment to keep taking their antiretroviral medicines so they have a suppressed viral load; and rapidly re-engaging in care people who interrupt their treatment. As treatment programmes mature, the latter two elements are becoming increasingly important. Analysis from South Africa, for example, indicates that the single biggest share of new HIV acquisitions involves people living with HIV who were diagnosed and started antiretroviral therapy but then interrupted their treatment at some stage (44).

### It is estimated that about a quarter of all people living with HIV globally in 2024 were aged over 50 years.

It is crucial that the improvements also reach people from key populations and their sex partners who are living with HIV. In addition, if the disparities in treatment access and outcomes between men and women in sub-Saharan Africa can be removed, fewer women will acquire HIV. Analysis based on data from Uganda has shown, for example, that closing the disparities in viral suppression rates between women and men could have reduced new HIV acquisitions in women by half within three years (23).

Strategies for treatment as prevention must also adapt to the growing population of older people living with HIV, which itself is a testament to the success of treatment programmes. The median age of people living with HIV in eastern and southern Africa, for example, will be about 46 years in 2030 and will keep rising. It is estimated that about a quarter (26%) of all people living with HIV globally in 2024 were aged over 50 years. If they do not have suppressed viral loads, they are at risk of transmitting HIV to their sex partners. Prevention services need to be tailored to these demographic shifts.

### Pre- and post-exposure prophylaxis are not available to the people who need them most

PrEP and post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) are important but underused prevention options for people from key populations and their sex partners, and for adolescent girls and women in settings where HIV incidence is high. When used as prescribed, oral or long-acting injectable PrEP can reduce HIV acquisition by more than 90%. Access to these prevention options has increased but is still well short of the levels needed (Figure 3.10). Oral PrEP was used by about 3.9 million people in 2024, far short of the 2025 target of 21.2 million people.

When used as prescribed, oral or long-acting injectable PrEP can reduce HIV acquisition by more than 90%.

#### The prevention potential of PrEP is not being used to the full

**Figure 3.10.** Numbers of people who received PrEP at least once during the reporting period in 2024, relative to 2025 targets



Source: Global AIDS Monitoring 2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

Long-acting PrEP—such as the injectable antiretroviral medicines cabotegravir and lenacapavir, and the dapivirine vaginal ring—is an exciting addition to HIV prevention. For women who struggle to negotiate condom use with male partners, LGBTQIA+ people who face stigma and discrimination, female sex workers, and people who find it difficult to adhere to oral PrEP, the option of replacing several doses of oral PrEP a week with much less frequent injections could make it easier to avoid acquiring HIV (45, 46).

### An unprecedented opportunity for HIV prevention: an innovation to reach the people who need it most

Long-acting lenacapavir is one of the most promising new HIV prevention tools that has emerged in the HIV response (47). Injections of lenacapavir every six months are exceptionally effective at preventing HIV acquisition, with 100% efficacy among adolescent girls and young women in the PURPOSE 1 trial in South Africa and Uganda (48) and 96% efficacy among cisgender men and transgender men and women in the PURPOSE 2 trial in Argentina, Brazil, Mexico, Peru, South Africa, Thailand and the United States of America (46). This long-acting PrEP option is safe and well-tolerated, including during pregnancy. By providing six months of continuous HIV protection, it can address many of the adherence and continuation challenges associated with oral PrEP. A once-a-year version is being trialled.8

Increasing volume could help drive lower costs. If made available at affordable prices to the people who need them most and the rollout is fully financed, tools such as lenacapavir can be a valuable addition to HIV prevention options. Affordable pricing can be achieved. The current price for lenacapavir in France, Norway, Spain and the United States in late 2024 exceeded US\$ 28 000 per person per year, but it is estimated that it can be manufactured profitably for about US\$ 40 per person per year (50, 51).<sup>9</sup> Feasible growth in demand (to 5 million–10 million people) could lower the price to about US\$ 25 per person per year (51).

Gilead Sciences, the manufacturer, has licensed six generic manufacturers<sup>10</sup> to supply the medicine in 120 resource-limited countries (primarily low- and lower-middle-income countries, with several Latin American countries excluded) (52).<sup>11</sup> It has also pledged to supply the medicine at "no profit" until generic versions are available (scheduled for 2028), although no price has been established (52, 53).

Early modelling suggests that lenacapavir could be cost-efficient compared with treatment costs if priced at approximately US\$ 40-60 per person per year and if it reaches and is used by people from populations with high HIV incidence (more than 1%). Focused targeting at subnational levels where transmission is highest is critical. For example, in an epidemic with high HIV prevalence in the overall population, such as South Africa, providing lenacapavir to about 5% of the adult population (approximately 1.8 million people) would avert 25-35% of new HIV infections. A bigger impact could be achieved by reaching a larger share of the population, but cost efficiency would then decline (Figure 3.11). In an epidemic concentrated among key populations, such as in the Philippines, providing lenacapavir to about 58% of people most at risk of HIV infection (about 1.1 million people) could avert approximately 45% of new HIV infections (54). Impact will require focus in the places where there is the highest risk of transmission and among the people most at risk, such as adolescent girls and young women and people from key populations.

It bears noting that long-acting PrEP alone will not rescue deficient prevention efforts. They will be successful only when introduced into wellfunctioning programmes, and they must reach the populations that need them most. This can be challenging because these populations are often marginalized and might face additional stigma in the context of targeted services. Strong demandcreation efforts will be vital (55). Long-acting PrEP is best used as one of several options for people to choose from, including oral PrEP and lower-cost short-term options such as condoms, VMMC in priority countries and harm reduction services. Such a comprehensive approach will help countries get the most out of limited resources while catering to different people's preferences and needs (56).

- 8 The manufacturer, Gilead Sciences, released the encouraging results of the pharmacokinetics and safety of a phase I trial of the 12-month lenacapavir formulation for prevention (administered intramuscularly) in March 2025 (49).
- In a context of voluntary licensing and multiple suppliers.
   Dr. Reddy's Laboratories (India), Emcure (India), EVA Pharma (Egypt), Ferozsons Laboratories (Pakistan), Hetero (India), Mylan, a subsidiary of Viatris (India).
- 11 Gilead Sciences is prioritizing registration in 18 countries: Botswana, Eswatini, Ethiopia, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Nigeria, Philippines, Rwanda, South Africa, Thailand, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, Viet Nam, Zambia, Zimbabwe.

#### If well-targeted, long-acting PrEP can be cost efficient





Source: Summary of the consultation on the projected impact and cost-effectiveness of lenacapavir as pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP). London: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and Gates Foundation 2025. Figure based on analysis by Wu L, Kaftan D, Wittenauer R, et al. Health impact, budget impact, and price threshold for cost-effectiveness of lenacapavir for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis in eastern and southern Africa: a modelling analysis. Lancet HIV. 2024;11(11):e765–e773 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(24)00239-X).

### **Choice matters**

No single prevention option is suitable or preferable for everybody. People should have a range of options, along with information and counselling that enable them to weigh the advantages and disadvantages of each (57). Studies show that offering people a choice of HIV biomedical prevention options, such as oral or long-acting injectable PrEP and PEP, can increase uptake of PrEP (58) and prevention coverage generally, and reduce the number of new HIV infections (56).

The potential role of PEP, especially for people with varying perceptions or realities of HIV risk, continues to be neglected in prevention programmes. The use of antiretroviral medicines soon after possible exposure to HIV (ideally within 24 hours) is a highly effective prevention option if taken continuously for 28 days. PEP is underutilized, however, due to lack of awareness, fear of stigma and health system barriers, including overly restrictive protocols and judgemental attitudes of health workers.

Data-driven technologies, including machine learning and generative artificial intelligence tools, have shown promising possibilities in connecting people to the needed services and in supporting service delivery itself. Although these innovations are mostly still in nascent pilots, their responsible integration in plans for service delivery should be considered. As digital technologies become more integral to health-care delivery and community engagement, the protection of privacy, confidentially and other digital rights must be a central concern in HIV programming (59).

### Condom programmes must be reinvigorated

Male and female condoms continue to be among the most effective and cheapest prevention options available. They still have a major role to play in slowing the spread of HIV, including among key populations (5, 42). In addition, they are the only prevention method that protects against HIV, other sexually transmitted infections and unintended pregnancy. Condom procurement, distribution and use, however, are far below the levels of need (60).

In 17 of 24 sub-Saharan African countries with recent data, less than 50% of women aged 15–49 years reported using a condom the last time they had sex with a non-regular partner (median 35% across all 24 countries) (*61*). Condom use is becoming less frequent among sexually active young women in several countries with recent data (Figure 3.12)—a sign that the concerted condom campaigns of the past no longer feature in the lives of younger people (*62*).

The decline in condom use coincides with the defunding of condom programmes, a reduction of almost 30% in international condom procurement in 2016–2022 compared with 2010–2016, and drastically reduced demand generation campaigns following a cut of almost 50% in social marketing initiatives in low- and middle-income countries since 2010.<sup>12</sup>

#### Condom use is decreasing among young women in some countries with high HIV prevalence



**Figure 3.12.** Percentage of young, never married women aged 15–24 years who used a condom at last sex, of all young, single sexually active women surveyed, 2000–2022

<sup>12</sup> Donors include the Global Fund, the United Nations Population Fund (including third-party procurement) and the United States Agency for International Development. Data for donors reflect global procurement; condoms may have been distributed in the same fiscal year. Data for social marketing organizations reflect the reported distribution as part of the DKT social marketing statistics report (63). The data for South Africa reflect procurement through domestic resources. Other domestic procurement is not reflected.

Scarce recent data show divergent levels and trends in condom use among people from key populations, which appear to be correlated with the existence of criminalizing laws and the extent of prosecution experienced by people from these populations (64, 65).

In recent years, a median 84% of sex workers said they used a condom the last time they had sex with a client (66 reporting countries), and a median 67% of gay men and other men who have sex with men reported using a condom the last time they had anal sex with a male partner (60 countries). A median 65% of transgender people reported using a condom at last sexual intercourse (33 reporting countries), but a median of only 37% of people who inject drugs reported using a condom the last time they had sexual intercourse (38 countries).

Among 121 countries reporting on HIV services in prisons and other closed settings between 2017 and 2024, 53 stated that condoms and lubricants were available in at least some prisons. Countries in Latin America and eastern Europe and central Asia were most likely to provide condoms and lubricants.

More generally, in population-based surveys in 18 countries, a median of 59% of women said they felt able to ask their husbands to use a condom (ranging from 20% in Senegal to 91% in Lesotho) (66).

The impact of consistent condom use on HIV transmission among people from key populations can be seen in countries with sizeable HIV epidemics. In western and central Africa, for example, the combination of HIV treatment and condom use may have averted 81–88% of potential new HIV infections during 2012–2021 in Côte d'Ivoire, Mali and Senegal, according to a recent study. Condom use among gay men and other men who have sex with men and clients of female sex workers was a major factor. All three countries have progressively integrated their HIV prevention programmes, including condom distribution, among key populations. Significantly, sex work is legal in all three countries. In Senegal, HIV prevalence among female sex workers has decreased sharply, partly due to successful condom promotion. Sex between men, on the other hand, is criminalized and punished in Senegal. The available data show HIV prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men reached very high levels of 28% in 2018, compared with 0.4% among adult men in the same year (67).

# Voluntary medical male circumcision is still cost-effective

VMMC programmes have boosted HIV prevention in the 15 countries in eastern and southern Africa where they have been prioritized since 2007. VMMC programmes continue to be a cost-effective way to prevent new HIV infections (68).<sup>13</sup> Modelling based on data from 13 of these priority countries shows that almost 890 000 new HIV infections were averted by the 37.5 million VMMCs conducted between 2008 and 2023—equivalent to one infection averted for every 42 procedures performed. Through 2030, the number of infections averted from VMMCs already conducted will rise to 1.4 million—and this impact will keep growing into the future (69).<sup>14</sup>

<sup>13</sup> VMMC lowers a man's risk of acquiring HIV during heterosexual intercourse by about 60%.

<sup>4</sup> The results are based on applying the Goals HIV model in Botswana, Eswatini, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Rwanda, South Africa, Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe. The projection for each country is based on VMMCs conducted through 2023 and assumes no more VMMCs are conducted after 2023. The counterfactual scenario assumes that no VMMC programme ever existed. Both scenarios assume antiretroviral therapy coverage through 2023 and the same constant antiretroviral therapy coverage after 2030.

Across eastern and southern Africa as a whole, male circumcision prevalence increased from 40% during 2010–2015 to 56% in 2016–2023, and it now exceeds 80% in Ethiopia, Kenya and the United Republic of Tanzania (70). Overall prevalence of male circumcision is on average much lower in southern Africa (33%) than in eastern Africa (70%) and still far from the 90% target set for 2025.

Recent trends in the uptake of VMMC have been mixed, with some programmes struggling to recover from setbacks during the COVID-19 pandemic (71). The impact of funding losses on these programmes is still unfolding, although initial country reports indicate that VMMC activities have been reduced or paused in several PEPFAR-supported countries. Along with replacing lost funding, VMMC activities will need to become more thoroughly integrated with other prevention programmes.

# Harm reduction services work but remain scarce and difficult to access

The use of punitive laws against people who inject drugs and the scarcity of harm reduction services continues to expose these people to a very high risk of acquiring HIV. In 2025, only 29 of 181 countries with available data did not criminalize the possession of small amounts of drugs (*18*). The risk of acquiring HIV drops sharply when drug use and possession for personal use are decriminalized and when people can access effective harm reduction services (*72, 73*).<sup>15</sup> This is evident in the Kingdom of the Netherlands and Switzerland, for example, where fewer than 10 people in each country acquired HIV through injecting drug use annually in 2013–2022 (*75*).

Generally, however, the estimated 13.9 million [10.2 million–19.9 million] people who inject drugs around the world continue to be left behind in HIV programmes, with women who inject drugs especially neglected (76). Globally in 2024, a median of only 39% of people who inject drugs received at least two prevention services in the past three months (22 reporting countries). Women who inject drugs find it particularly difficult to access harm reduction services (76), due to stigma, genderbased violence, and generalized fear, shame and exclusion (77).

Only two of 25 reporting countries have achieved the 2025 United Nations recommended levels of coverage for opioid agonist maintenance therapy, and only two of 32 countries have achieved the United Nations targets for needle and syringe distribution. No country has reported to have met both of these targets (Figure 3.13). Of 35 reporting countries, 13 have reached the safe injecting targets (90% using sterile equipment at last injection).<sup>16</sup>

16 Armenia, Bangladesh, Belarus, Canada, Czechia, Germany, Greece, India, Montenegro, Nepal, Republic of Moldova, Ukraine, Viet Nam.

<sup>15</sup> Harm reduction services include needle-syringe programmes, opioid agonist maintenance therapy, HIV testing and treatment services, condom programmes, and viral hepatitis and tuberculosis services (74).

These harm reduction programmes are even rarer for people in prisons and other closed settings, despite ample evidence of injecting drug use in such settings. Between 2017 and 2024, nine of 133 countries reported that needle–syringe programmes in prisons were operational in the country and 28 of 132 countries reported opioid agonist maintenance therapy programmes operated in at least one prison.

With more than three-quarters of funding for harm reduction coming from international donors, these few services are in danger of closing down—for example, PEPFAR supported opioid agonist maintenance therapy for 27 000 people in seven countries and harm reduction programmes in three countries. These programmes are highly vulnerable to donor funding cuts, since host countries often lack the political will to finance harm reduction services from national budgets.

#### Very few countries are on track to reach the main 2025 harm reduction targets

**Figure 3.13.** Coverage of needle–syringe programmes and opioid agonist maintenance therapy among people who inject drugs, countries with available data, 2020–2024



Source: UNAIDS Global AIDS Monitoring 2021–2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

#### UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

# **3.3** The last mile is the toughest

As fewer people acquire HIV, it can be increasingly difficult to reach the people who are at increased risk of HIV but are missing out on existing prevention services. It is crucial to know where and among which populations HIV infection rates are highest and then focus the most effective interventions there.

In all regions, people from key populations continue to be at high risk of acquiring HIV—and more investments are needed in HIV prevention programmes that reach and service them. In places with large HIV epidemics, the precise targeting of interventions can be very difficult.

Analysis of granular HIV data from sub-Saharan Africa indicates that about threequarters of new HIV infections occur in districts that contain about a quarter of the total population. This can guide more focused prevention efforts. In eastern and southern Africa, for example, the relative HIV risks of different demographic groups (e.g. defined by sex or age) can be determined. But beyond that, it is very difficult to zero in on the individuals who are most at risk and to steer prevention services towards them.

This is because the epidemic in this region is not concentrated among small clusters of people. As shown in recent studies, HIV still circulates among large numbers of people, a significant minority of whom eventually acquire the virus (78). Programmes still need to reach a relatively large share of the population with prevention services to maintain or speed up the reduction of new infections (79).

Some prevention tools, such as PrEP and harm reduction services, can and should be deployed in a highly targeted manner. But in countries where HIV is widely present in the general population, large-scale interventions, including low-cost primary prevention, such as condom programmes, are still needed to reduce numbers of new infections to levels that make epidemic control feasible. Leveraging community systems along with integrating HIV prevention into broader health services will be vital.

In all regions, people from key populations continue to be at high risk of acquiring HIV—and more investments are needed in HIV prevention programmes that reach and service them.

## References

- Korenromp EL, Sabin K, Stover J, et al. New HIV infections among key populations and their partners in 2010 and 2022, by world region: a multisources estimation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2024;95(15):e34–e45 (https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAI.00000000003340).
- Special analysis by Avenir Health using the Goals model. Glastonbury, CT: Avenir Health; 2023.
- 3 The role of HIV viral suppression in improving individual health and reducing transmission: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/hand le/10665/360860/9789240055179-eng. pdf?sequence=1).
- 4 Broyles LN, Luo R, Boeras D, Vojnov L. The risk of sexual transmission of HIV in individuals with low-level HIV viraemia: a systematic review. Lancet. 2023;402(10400):464–471 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(23)00877-2).
- 5 Stover J, Glaubius R, Teng Y, et al. Modeling the epidemiological impact of the UNAIDS 2025 targets to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030. PLoS Med. 2021;18(10):e1003831 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003831).
- 6 UNAIDS financial estimates, May 2025.
- 7 PEPFAR latest global results and projections factsheet. Washington, DC: United States Department of State; 2024 (https://www.state.gov/ pepfar-latest-global-results-factsheet-dec-2024/).
- 8 AIDSinfo. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/services).
- 9 Ten Brinnk DT, Martin-Hughes R, Bowring AL, et al. Impact of an international HIV funding crisis on HIV infections and mortality in low-income and middle-income countries: a modelling study. Lancet HIV. 2025;12(5):e346–e354 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3018(25)00074-8).
- 10 Impact of US funding cuts on HIV programmes in east and southern Africa. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2025 (https://www.unaids. org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2025/ march/20250331\_ESA-region\_fs).
- 11 UNAIDS estimates and projections from Avenir Health, April 2025.
- 12 Estimating the potential impact of HIV response disruptions. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2025 (https://www.unaids. org/sites/default/files/2025-04/JC3144\_Estimates\_ Funding\_cuts\_impact\_En.pdf).
- 13 Uganda: court upholds Anti-Homosexuality Act. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2024 (https://www.hrw. org/news/2024/04/04/uganda-court-upholds-antihomosexuality-act).
- 14 National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2024, supplemented by additional sources. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ AIDS (https://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).
- 15 Stevens O, Sabin K, Anderson RL, et al. Population size, HIV prevalence, and antiretroviral therapy coverage among key populations in sub-Saharan Africa: collation and synthesis of survey data, 2010– 2023. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(9):e1400–e1412 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00236-5).
- 16 Artenie A, Stone J, Fraser H, et al. Incidence of HIV and hepatitis C virus among people who inject drugs, and associations with age and sex or gender: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2023;8(6):533–552 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00018-3).

- 17 Risks, rights and health supplement New York: Global Commission on HIV and the Law; 2018 (https:// hivlawcommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/ Hiv-and-the-Law-supplement\_EN\_2020.pdf).
- 18 A/HRC/41/45. Data collection and management as a means to create heightened awareness of violence and discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity: report of the Independent Expert on protection against violence and discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity. Geneva: United Nations Human Rights Council; 2019 (https:// digitallibrary.un.org/record/3822963?ln=en&v=pdf).
- 19 Muthoni CN, Kneipp SM, Gichane MW, et al. A systematic review of HIV interventions for young women in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Behav. 2020;24(12):3395–3413 (https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10461-020-02914-1).
- 20 Jia KM, Eilerts H, Edun O. Risk scores for predicting HIV incidence among adult heterosexual populations in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2022;25(1):e25861 (https://doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25861).
- 21 Mathur S, Pilgrim N, Patel SK, et al. HIV vulnerability among adolescent girls and young women: a multicountry latent class analysis approach. Int J Public Health. 2020;65(4):399–411 (https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00038-020-01350-1).
- 22 Stevens O, Okango E, Iwuji C, et al. Comparing empirical HIV incidence with UNAIDS estimated incidence declines in sub-Saharan Africa. Abstract 126. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections. San Francisco, CA, 9–12 March 2025.
- 23 Monod M, Brizzi A, Galiwango RM, et al. Longitudinal population-level HIV epidemiologic and genomic surveillance highlights growing gender disparity of HIV transmission in Uganda. Nat Microbiol. 2024;9(1):35–54 (https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41564-023-01530-8).
- 24 Indice de stigmatisation des personnes vivant avec le VIH 2.0: rapport regional Afrique de l'ouest. Amsterdam: Stigma Index; 2023 (https://www. stigmaindex.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/PLHIV-Stigma-Index\_Regional-Report\_West-Africa\_FR.pdf).
- 25 Leddy AM, Weiss E, Yam E, Pulerwitz J. Genderbased violence and engagement in biomedical HIV prevention, care and treatment: a scoping review. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):897 (https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-019-7192-4).
- 26 Kuchukhidze S, Panagiotoglou D, Boily MC, et al. Characteristics of male perpetrators of intimate partner violence and implications for women's HIV status: a pooled analysis of cohabiting couples from 27 countries in Africa (2000–2020). PLOS Glob Public Health. 2023;3(9):e0002146 (https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgph.0002146).
- 27 Population-based surveys, 2020-2024.
- 28 Macleod CI, Reynolds JH, Delate R. Violence against women who sell sex in eastern and southern Africa: a scoping review. Trauma Violence Abuse. 2024;25(1):691–703 (https://doi. org/10.1177/15248380231160847).
- 29 Deering KN, Amin A, Shoveller J, et al. A systematic review of the correlates of violence against sex workers. Am J Public Health. 2014;104(5):e42–e54 (https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.301909).
- 30 Dawe J, Mazhar KA, Saher AK, et al. Impact of societal enablers and barriers on HIV outcomes among female sex workers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Bristol: Population Health Science, University of Bristol; 2024.

- 31 Population-based surveys, 2020–2024.
- 32 Cluver LD, Zhou S, Orkin M, et al. Impacts of intimate partner violence and sexual abuse on antiretroviral adherence among adolescents living with HIV in South Africa. AIDS. 2023;37(3):503–511 (https://doi. org/10.1097/QAD.000000000003440).
- 33 Best practices: models of integration of SRHR, HIV and GBV services from four countries. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2022 (https://esaro. unfpa.org/en/publications/best-practices-modelsintegration-srhr-hiv-and-gbv-services-four-countries).
- 34 Jewkes R. IPV prevention must be integrated into HIV care. Lancet. 2022;10(2):e73–e74 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S2352-3018(22)00329-0).
- 35 Shibuya F, Estrada CA, Sari DP, et al. Teachers' conflicts in implementing comprehensive sexuality education: a qualitative systematic review and metasynthesis. Trop Med Health. 2023;51(1):18 (https:// doi.org/10.1186/s41182-023-00508-w).
- 36 Keogh S, Leong E, Motta A, et al. Classroom implementation of national sexuality education curricula in four low- and middle-income countries. Sex Education. 2020;21(4):432–449 (https://doi.org/10. 1080/14681811.2020.1821180).
- 37 Ninsiima LR, Chiumia IK, Ndejjo R. Factors influencing access to and utilisation of youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. Reprod Health. 2021;18(1):135 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-021-01183-y).
- 38 Robert K, Maryline M, Jordan K, et al. Factors influencing access of HIV and sexual and reproductive health services among adolescent key populations in Kenya. Int J Public Health. 2020;65(4):425–432 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-020-01373-8).
- 39 SDG Indicators Database. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (https:// unstats.un.org/sdgs/dataportal/database).
- 40 Starrs AM, Ezeh AC, Barker G, et al. Accelerate progress-sexual and reproductive health and rights for all: report of the Guttmacher–Lancet Commission. Lancet. 2018;391(10140):2642–2692 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30293-9).
- 41 Evaluating the evidence for historical interventions having reduced HIV incidence: a retrospective programmatic mapping modelling analysis. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2016 (https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/ en/433151481108871251/pdf/Evaluating-theevidence-for-historical-interventions-having-reduced-HIV-incidence-a-retrospective-programmatic-mappingmodelling-analysis-Synopsis-report-2016.pdf).
- 42 Stover J, Teng Y. The impact of condom use on the HIV epidemic. Gates Open Res. 2022;5:91 (https:// doi.org/10.12688/gatesopenres.13278.2).
- 43 McCoy K, Mantell JE, Deiss R, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis awareness and demand creation: overlooked populations and opportunities to move forward. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2025;98(5S):e170–e180 (https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAI.000000000003626).
- Bansi-Matharu L, Moolla H, Citron DT, et al. Identifying gaps in the HIV treatment cascade in Africa: a model comparison study. Lancet Glob Health. 2025;13(6):e1006-e1019 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S2214-109X(25)00121-4).
- 45 Gray GE, Venter WDF. Working at cross-PURPOSEs to ending HIV. N Engl J Med. 2025;392(13):1344– 1345 (https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMe2414709).

#### UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

- 46 Kelley CF, Acevedo-Quiñones M, Agwu AL, et al. Twice-yearly lenacapavir for HIV prevention in men and gender-diverse persons. N Engl J Med. 2025;392(13):1261–1276 (https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa2411858).
- 47 Cantwell M. The biggest science breakthroughs in 2024. Science. 2025;386(6727).
- 48 Bekker LG, Das M, Abdool Karim Q, et al. Twice-yearly lenacapavir or daily F/TAF for HIV prevention in cisgender women. N Engl J Med. 2024;391(13):1179–1192 (https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa2407001).
- 49 Jogiraju V, Pawar P, Yager J, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of once-yearly lenacapavir: a phase 1, open-label study. Lancet. 2025;405(10485):1147–1154 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(25)00405-2).
- 50 Hill A, Levi J, Fairhead C, et al. Lenacapavir to prevent HIV infection: current prices versus estimated costs of production. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2024;79(11):2906–2915 (https://doi.org/10.1093/ jac/dkae305). Erratum in: J Antimicrob Chemother. 2024;79(11):3052 (https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/ dkae356).
- 51 Fortunak JM, Layne J, Johnson M. et al. Lenacapavir to prevent HIV infection: updated estimated costs of production for generic treatments. Lancet Preprint. 2025 (https://ssrn.com/abstract=5293409).
- 52 Gilead signs royalty-free voluntary licensing agreements with six generic manufacturers to increase access to lenacapavir for HIV prevention in high-incidence, resource-limited countries. Foster City, CA: Cilead; 2024 (https:// www.gilead.com/news/news-details/2024/ gilead-signs-royalty-free-voluntary-licensingagreements-with-six-generic-manufacturers-toincrease-access-to-lenacapavir-for-hiv-preventionin-high-incidence-resource-limited-countries).
- 53 Update on injectable lenacapavir for PrEP. New York: AVAC; 2024 (https://avac.org/event/purpose-trialsupdate/).
- 54 Summary of the consultation on the projected impact and cost-effectiveness of lenacapavir as pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP). London: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and Gates Foundation 2025.
- 55 Celum C, Grinsztejn B, Ngure K. Preparing for longacting PrEP delivery: building on lessons from oral PrEP. J Int AIDS Soc. 2023;26:e26103 (https://doi. org/10.1002/jia2.26103).
- 56 Kamya MR, Balzer LB, Ayieko J, et al. Dynamic choice HIV prevention with cabotegravir longacting injectable in rural Uganda and Kenya: a randomised trial extension. Lancet HIV. 2024;11(11):e736–e745 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3018(24)00235-2).
- 57 Makoni W, Lorenzetti L, Mancuso N, et al. HIV prevention product acceptability and preference among women in sub-Saharan Africa to inform novel biomedical options in development: a systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2025;29(1):257–293 (https://doi. org/10.1007/s10461-024-04529-2).
- 58 Shahmanesh M, Busang J, Zuma T, et al. Patterns of PrEP use among rural South Africa youth given choice: process data from the LAPIS trial. Abstract 1342. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections. San Francisco, CA, 9–12 March 2025.
- 59 Ratevosian J, Reid M, Ni Z, et al. Reimagining HIV prevention with artificial intelligence. Lancet HIV. 2025:S2352-3018(25)00158-4 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S2352-3018(25)00158-4).

- 60 The Global Condom Landscape Perspectives on the context of condom programming in a shifting environment. Columbus, NC: Mann Global Health; 2024.
- 61 Population-based surveys, 2020–2024.
- 62 Demographic and health surveys. Washington, DC: United States Agency for International Development (https://www.statcompiler.com/en/).
- 63 DKT social marketing statistics report.
- 64 Arreola S, Santos G, Beck J, et al. Sexual stigma, criminalization, investment, and access to HIV services among men who have sex with men worldwide. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(2);227–234 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-014-0869-x).
- 65 Platt L, Grenfell P, Meiksin R, et al. Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. PLoS Med. 2918;15(12):e1002680 (https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pmed.1002680).
- 66 Global AIDS Monitoring 2025. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://aidsinfo. unaids.org/).
- 67 Silhol R, Maheu-Giroux M, Soni N, et al. The impact of past HIV interventions and diagnosis gaps on new HIV acquisitions, transmissions, and HIV-related deaths in Côte d'Ivoire, Mali, and Senegal. AIDS. 2024;38(12):1783–1793 (https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAD.00000000003974).
- 68 Bansi-Matharu L, Mudimu E, Martin-Hughes R, et al. Cost-effectiveness of voluntary medical male circumcision for HIV prevention across sub-Saharan Africa: results from five independent models. Lancet Glob Health. 2023;11(2):e244–e255 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00515-0).
- 69 Modeling the impact and cost-effectiveness of VMMC in HIV prevention. Geneva: Global HIV Prevention Coalition; 2024 (https:// hivpreventioncoalition.unaids.org/en/resources/ vmmc-stakeholders-webinar-modeling-impact-andcost-effectiveness-vmmc-hiv-prevention).
- 70 Elsayed B, Elmarasi M, Madzime RJ, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of male circumcision in sub-Saharan Africa from 2010–2023: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2024;19(3):e0298387 (https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0298387).
- 71 HIV prevention: from crisis to opportunity: key findings from the 2023 Global HIV Prevention Coalition scorecards. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2024 (https://www.unaids. org/en/resources/documents/2024/2023-global-hivprevention-coalition-scorecards-key-findings).
- 72 DeBeck K, Cheng T, Montaner JS, et al. HIV and the criminalization of drug use among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet HIV. 2017;4(8):e357–e374 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3018(17)30073-5).
- 73 Kamarulzaman A. When science alone is not enough: the intersection of drug use, public health, and policy. Abstract 15. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections. San Francisco, CA, 9–12 March 2025.
- 74 Health, rights and drugs: harm reduction, decriminalization and zero discrimination for people who use drugs. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2019 (https://www. unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2019/JC2954\_ UNAIDS\_drugs\_report\_2019).

- 75 European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control and World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2023: 2022 data. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2023 (https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/ publications-data/hivaids-surveillance-europe-2023-2022-data).
- 76 World drug report 2024. Vienna: United NationsOffice on Drugs and Crime; 2024 (https:// www.unodc.org/unodc/en/data-and-analysis/worlddrug-report-2024.html).
- 77 Addressing gender-based violence against women and people of diverse gender identity and expression who use drugs. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2023 (https://www. unodc.org/documents/hivaids/2023/2314425E\_ eBook.pdf).
- 78 Larmarange J, Bachanas P, Skalland T, et al. Population-level viremia predicts HIV incidence at the community level across the universal testing and treatment trials in eastern and southern Africa. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2023;3(7):e0002157 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0002157).
- 79 Hall M, Golubchik T, Bonsall D, et al. Demographics of sources of HIV-1 transmission in Zambia: a molecular epidemiology analysis in the HPTN 071 PopART study. Lancet Microbe. 2024;5(1):e62–e71 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-5247(23)00220-3).



# COMMUNITIES, FINANCING **AND THE WAY** FORWARD

# 4.1 Community spotlight

# Community-led organizations perform lifesaving work

Community-led organizations and networks are the heart of the HIV response. For more than 40 years, their activism, knowledge and inventiveness have shaped and powered HIV programmes across the world, saving countless lives.

Community-led services and support are often lifelines for people neglected by standard health systems, reaching them with information, services and other support they need to stay HIV-free or live healthily with HIV. From advocacy to peer-led services, monitoring and research, these community-led interventions continue to fill service gaps, monitor and register deficiencies, identify solutions and help ensure HIV responses are grounded in human rights. Advocacy by women-led networks,<sup>1</sup> for example, has focused attention on the links between HIV and gender-based violence, the many ways in which gender inequalities shape HIV epidemics and responses, and the ongoing challenges of uneven and inadequate access to sexual and reproductive health and rights.

In recognition of these vital roles, the 2021 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS committed countries to increase the proportion of HIV services delivered by community-led organizations to 30% for HIV testing and treatment services, 80% for HIV prevention services, and 60% for programmes supporting the achievement of societal enablers by 2025 (1). In support, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) and several other major donors pledged to invest in community-led, community-based and other civil society organizations (2).

# HIV services do better when community-led organizations are involved

The impact and cost-effectiveness of community-led interventions are evident in a growing body of research evidence (3, 4). A recent review of studies from southern Africa, for example, reported that peer support projects, treatment adherence clubs and community-led HIV testing led to increased uptake of testing, improved adherence to antiretroviral therapy, stronger retention in care, reduced vertical transmission, and higher levels of viral load suppression in multiple settings and countries (5).

Examples of these networks include the ATHENA Network, the Eurasian Women's Network on AIDS, the Indonesia Network of Women Living with HIV, the International Community of Women Living with HIV, Kuyakana, MENA Rosa, 4M Mentor Mothers and Positive Young Women Voices, Kenya.

Community-led monitoring and research efforts complement other HIV surveillance systems by generating context-specific data that may otherwise go unnoticed and that can be used to improve services (4, 6). Other activities of community-led organizations, such as legal aid, violence prevention, and access to sexual and reproductive health services, are often associated with improved uptake of HIV services (7, 8).

Mentor Mothers programmes are highly valued (9, 10). They increase women's retention in HIV treatment and care (11) and enhance the health and well-being of women and infants. In a trial in Uganda, peer support increased linkage to care rates from 86% in 2016–2017 to almost 100% in 2022 and halved treatment interruption rates among mothers living with HIV (12). In Zambia, modelled estimates show that reaching 60–90% of pregnant women with maternal peer support could reduce the number of HIV acquisitions in children by 35%, making it the most effective vertical transmission intervention assessed in a recent study (Figure 4.1) (13). Such programmes also improve women's health and well-being (14).

For people from key populations, community-led person-centred HIV services help circumvent barriers that put such services out of reach (14). Peer-led services and support among female sex workers have boosted HIV prevention efforts in Africa, Asia and South America (8). In the AMETHIST trial in Zimbabwe, peer-led interventions for female sex workers significantly improved service uptake and outcomes, with intervention sites experiencing increased HIV testing, increased initiation of antiretroviral therapy and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), and higher rates of viral load suppression, compared with sites offering standard services (15).

#### Peer-led maternal support programmes are highly effective



Figure 4.1. Projected effectiveness of interventions to reduce vertical transmission after one year

Note: this is a univariate sensitivity analysis of intervention effectiveness measure parameters representing the expected number of infant HIV infections averted after one year. The range for each parameter estimate is shown in parentheses. TLD=tenofovir, lamivudine and dolutegravir. TLE=tenofovir, lamivudine and efavirenz. HIV retesting option 1: HIV retesting during late antenatal care, during delivery or six weeks postpartum. Option 2: HIV retesting during delivery or six weeks postpartum. Option 3: HIV retesting during late antenatal care, during delivery or six weeks postpartum. Option 3: HIV retesting during late antenatal care, during delivery or six weeks postpartum.

Source: Chevalier JM, Hansen MA, Coskun E, et al. Cost-effectiveness of intervention combinations towards the elimination of vertical transmission of HIV in limited-resource settings: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(3):e457–e466 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(23)00588-0).

In Pakistan, tailored interventions led by a national network of people living with HIV successfully re-engaged almost half the 696 people who had dropped out of care (16). In the Trans Amigas pilot in Brazil, transgender women who were assisted by peers were 40% more likely to be retained in HIV care at the end of the nine-month intervention (17).

### People from key populations depend on community systems

In some countries, people from key populations are almost entirely reliant on community-led organizations for vital HIV services and support. According to data recently reported to UNAIDS, 10–45% of people from key populations reached with tailored HIV prevention services were receiving these services from key population-led organizations. A further 33–51% relied on other nongovernmental organizations for the services.

In countries reporting these data to UNAIDS, more than 80% of sex workers, gay men and other men who have sex with men, and transgender people relied on nongovernmental organizations, including those led by people from key populations, for condoms and lubricants. For people who inject drugs, the public sector was a minor source of needles and syringes but the largest provider of opioid agonist maintenance therapy (Figure 4.2).

# Key populations rely on nongovernmental organizations, including those run by people from key populations, for differentiated HIV prevention services



Figure 4.2. Distribution of reported services for people from key populations by type of provider, 2020–2024

Note: n = number of countries.

Source: Global AIDS Monitoring 2021–2025 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

# Keeping people's realities and needs at the centre of HIV responses

Meaningful engagement of communities in HIV policies and strategies has been a foundation for much of the progress made in the response to HIV. In the face of financial constraints, it is more important than ever that communities have a seat at the table for making policies, taking funding decisions and designing programmes.

In a majority of reporting countries, people living with HIV, people from key populations and young people are participating in the development of policies or strategies related to their health needs with the exception of people who inject drugs and people in prisons and other closed settings (Figure 4.3). The reported extent of participation differs, however, depending on the source of the information—with civil society organizations, reporting lower participation than national authorities. Dwindling funding and other support and increasingly hostile regulatory and political environments cast doubt on whether these levels of participation will continue in the years ahead.

Community-led monitoring and research efforts improve the quality of services. For example, the work of Ritshidze, a community-led monitoring initiative in South Africa, has led to tangible improvements in service quality at clinics. Issues such as antiretroviral medicine stockouts, staff shortages and long waiting times were documented and addressed, resulting in improved antiretroviral therapy access and adherence (19).

#### Participation in HIV policy-making varies widely across key populations

National authorities People living with HIV Civil society National authorities Women living with HIV Civil society National authorities Gay men and other men who have sex with men Civil society National authorities Sex workers Civil society National authorities Transgender people Civil society National authorities People who inject drugs Civil society People formerly or National authorities currently in prisons and other closed settings Civil society National authorities Young people Civil society 0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 Number of countries

**Figure 4.3.** Participation of people living with HIV, people from key populations and young people in the development of policies, guidelines or strategies related to their health, global, 2017–2025

#### Yes 📕 No

Note: participation of women living with HIV refers specifically to development of policies, guidelines or strategies related to prevention of vertical transmission. Source: National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2025 (http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/). UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

### Funding sources for communities are drying up

A quarter of donor funding for HIV programmes in 2023 went to civil society organizations and community networks, compared with only 10% through similar channels in non-HIV public health programmes (Figure 4.4). Disruptions to this architecture for HIV risk undermining essential HIV services.

Analysis of 22 recent national AIDS spending assessments covering the period 2019–2024 (see Section 4.2) showed that the share of HIV spending on "community services" was as high as 18–20% in some countries in the Caribbean, eastern Europe and central Asia, eastern and southern Africa and Latin America, although the share of spending specifically for community-led organizations was not easy to determine.

The funding cuts announced in early 2025 are having a huge impact on community-led and other nongovernmental organizations and the services they provide. The United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR), for example, funded more than 113 000 community-based staff in direct service delivery in many countries in 2024, including community health workers, community mobilizers, DREAMS (Determined, Resilient, Empowered, AIDS-free, Mentored, and Safe programme) mentors, peer educators, lay counsellors and mentor mothers. Around 20% acted as "expert clients" and peer navigators supporting treatment linkage and adherence (20). Much of the PEPFAR funding for these posts is now frozen or under threat (Figure 4.5).

#### Civil society organizations were receiving a significant share of official development assistance for HIV

**Figure 4.4.** Comparison of distribution of official development assistance by service delivery channel provider, for HIV, health (non-HIV) and all other sectors, global, 2023



Source: UNAIDS financial estimates using data frm the OECD creditor reporting system.

# The funding cuts announced in early 2025 are having a huge impact on community-led and other nongovernmental organizations and the services they provide.

Research by Aidsfonds, the Global Network of People Living with HIV and the Robert Carr Fund found that one in five organizations serving people from key populations were stopping or reducing services and experiencing staff shortages as early as February 2025 (*21*). A rapid assessment by the International Community of Women Living with HIV in February 2025 found that more than 60% of surveyed women-led HIV organizations had lost funding or been forced to suspend essential HIV services (*22*). Frontline AIDS reported that almost half its community partners (45%) had been directly affected by funding cuts, losing up to 90% of their operating budgets and forced to lay off staff (*23*). In another survey, 60% of reporting organizations said their capacity to deliver HIV prevention, treatment, care and support to young people had been badly affected (*24*).

When surveyed by the International Network of People Who Use Drugs in March 2025, a total of 76 organizations serving people who inject drugs had already reported disruptions in outreach and peer-led harm reduction (38%), HIV testing (37%), legal support services (34%) and needle–syringe programmes (24%). Almost half of the surveyed organizations said they lacked harm reduction supplies or were relying on underground supply networks, and more than half reported experiencing increased stigma and discrimination (25).

If these organizations, especially those that are community-led, disappear, it will take years to re-establish the capacities that have enabled them to serve the HIV-related needs of key and other affected populations.

#### Nongovernmental organizations are highly vulnerable to funding cuts



**Figure 4.5.** HIV spending by service provider types, by region, in 22 countries with recent national AIDS spending assessments, 2019–2024

Public providers Non-profit-making providers (nongovernmental organizations, community-based organizations, community-led organizations)
Profit-making and other private-sector providers

Source: UNAIDS-supported national AIDS spending assessments, covering the period 2019–2024.

#### STORY



Amhara in northern Ethiopia is a region with a rich cultural history. The birthplace of the national language, Amharic, it is home to ancient churches such as the UNESCO World Heritage Site of Lalibela. In April 2023, the region was plunged into crisis when internal armed conflict erupted.

The consequences were devastating. Thousands of people were displaced, gender-based violence surged, essential services such as health and education were disrupted, and travel between cities became almost impossible.

As formal systems broke down, local community-based organizations and drop-in centres in urban areas such as the regional capital Bahir Dar continued to monitor the situation on the ground and provide vital services. These organizations became lifelines for people living with HIV, people from key populations and young people.

This changed in February 2025. Cuts in United States funding disrupted essential services. Many community-run organizations that relied on those funds were forced to close. Outreach workers who had built trust with people on their doorsteps were suddenly laid off. Peer support groups vanished. Fear took hold. "I often find myself overwhelmed with stress," says a member of one women-led association of people living with HIV. "If medicine and other services stop, where will I go? I simply do not have the means to afford the treatment I need."

Community workers at the heart

of a resilient HIV response in Ethiopia

The data collected by the association paint a stark picture. For two months, no new clients have been enrolled in PrEP. "One of my biggest concerns is not having access to condoms," says a case manager. "Without them, HIV will spread much more easily."

She adds, "Without a financial budget, our members are left without the basics, no food, medical care, transportation, no hope. They have families. They rely heavily on this support. It would make a huge difference if members could access free medical treatment and hospital services. Many cannot even afford one meal a day. Their health is deteriorating. Their children are suffering. What they need most is dignity, food and a fighting chance."

Yet even when faced with collapse, communities refused to give up. Young volunteers formed informal networks and WhatsApp groups to check on peers and stay connected. Mothers banded together to support children's treatment. Youth collectives used community radio and shared airtime to spread critical health information.

Where formal systems failed, communities built their own safety nets.

The situation in Bahir Dar was a wake-up call. It exposed the fragility of systems dependent on a single funding source.

This crisis shows that resilience must be built into HIV responses from the start. Community-led and youth-driven responses must be recognized, resourced and scaled up. UNAIDS is providing support to community organizations to access funding support from local government authorities and private foundations to empower them to continue this important work of community outreach to the most vulnerable populations.

The conflict in the region has shown once again that HIV must feature in humanitarian, development and recovery agendas. The intertwined challenges of conflict, displacement, gender-based violence and HIV demand integrated, person-centred solutions. This will not happen if HIV is treated as an afterthought or is equated only with clinical care and if community-engagement is not recognized and supported.

### New funding mechanisms are needed urgently

More than ever, access to funding is the single-biggest challenge facing communityled organizations. Yet, investments in community systems boost the reach and accountability of vital HIV and other health services. There are huge untapped opportunities to enhance health systems by partnering with communities to deliver cost-effective, person-centred services. Emergency funding mechanisms such as the Eurasian Coalition on Health, Rights, Gender and Sexual Diversity Emergency Support Fund and the Frontline AIDS Rapid Response Fund have been crucial lifelines, delivering grants to organizations facing unforeseen challenges and human rights crises. These are short-term in nature, however, and more flexible, longer-term funding is needed to support core costs and sustainability, such as that provided by the Robert Carr Fund.

Social contracting—whereby governments contract civil society organizations to provide certain services—is an underused but potentially important source of funding, and a basis to functionally link community systems with public health systems. Sixty-two of 104 countries with available data report having laws, regulations or policies on social contracting that allow for funding of service delivery by communities from domestic funding (26).

Social enterprises can also help diversify revenue sources. In India, the Mist LGBTQ Foundation runs an online platform that markets merchandise and offers HIV selftesting and PrEP consultations free of charge or at a subsidized rate. Also in India, the Network of Maharashtra People Living with HIV TAAL+ Pharmacy runs a community pharmacy that sells antiretroviral and other medicines at subsidized rates negotiated through corporate social responsibility partnerships. In Thailand, M Plus operates a feebased service for HIV and sexually transmitted infection medicines. The Chhouk Sar Association in Cambodia runs a clinic that offers HIV and sexually transmitted infection services free of charge alongside other fee-based elective services (27).

### Political and legal environments need to adapt

Community-led organizations need legal and regulatory arrangements that allow them to operate (28). These conditions vary widely across regions. Country reporting in 2024–2025 indicates that organizations led by people living with HIV were legally allowed to register in more than 80% of reporting countries, but those led by other people from key populations could register in only 45–60% of countries.

The ability to legally register does not necessarily shield organizations from other forms of interference or harassment. Anti-rights and anti-gender campaigns and widening removals of democratic protections are making it increasingly difficult or even perilous for community-led and other civil society organizations to advocate and function. According to Civicus, in 2024 almost three-quarters of the world's population (72%) lived in 81 countries where civic space is either entirely closed or heavily repressed (29).<sup>2</sup> By forcing many community-led organizations to drastically scale back or even shut down their activities, the wave of funding losses is having a similarly restrictive impact.

<sup>2</sup> Civic space was obstructed in another 40 countries. According to the Civicus analysis, 118 of 198 countries and territories were experiencing severe restrictions in fundamental freedoms.



In Colombia, Afro-descendant women are taking the HIV response into their own hands. Faced with racism, inequality and violence—factors that make them more vulnerable to HIV—they are organizing themselves, speaking out, and demanding better access to health care, protection and rights.

In the Caribbean and Pacific coastal regions of Colombia, women represent half of all people diagnosed with HIV, compared with only a fifth at the national level. This gap is tied closely to gender inequality and other structural barriers such as violence and poor access to basic health services, including HIV testing and treatment. In addition, stigma—worsened by racism and sexism—makes it harder for many women to get an education, find work or receive proper medical care, leaving them more exposed to the risks of HIV.

Armed conflict and forced displacement have affected communities, exacerbating poverty and exposure to violence, including sexual violence.

UNAIDS, through the help of key donors, supports various organizations leading the HIV

# STORY

## Colombian Afro-descendant women are shaping the HIV response in their own terms

response in Afro-Colombian, Indigenous and rural communities. The Fundación Afro Mata 'e Pelo works to improve access to information on sexual and reproductive health in the Caribbean region of Colombia, where myths, stigma, discrimination and gaps in training among health workers remain common challenges.

In the Valle del Cauca department, located along the Pacific coast and within the Andean region, Fundación RedLujo supports transgender women, sex workers and nonbinary people by using artistic and pedagogical strategies to raise awareness about HIV and advocate for inclusive public policies that guarantee access to HIV prevention and care.

These organizations are bringing change to their communities, taking the lead in the response to HIV and pushing for fair, respectful access to health care. They work with Colombian Government institutions to make sure HIV prevention and care policies reflect local realities and include the voices and needs of communities.

"It is a challenge to make women visible, especially in the contexts

and territories where Black and Indigenous women live," says Yaneth Valencia, HIV activist and founder of the Asociación Lila Mujer, a community-based organization focusing on women in southwestern Colombia. Through their sessions, women learn about HIV prevention and share their experiences. The organization advocates for better access to services and promotes the participation of women as agents of change in their territories.

"These spaces of sisterhood—of comadreo, as we call them in the communities—allow us to talk with our comadres. These can be self-help groups or peer advisors with whom we can talk and trust. It is also about recovering all that ancestry that allows us to reconnect and resist because we not only exist—we resist in a macho, racist, classist and very white context."

Afro-descendant women are leading community efforts in Colombia to respond to HIV with a focus on human rights. They are ensuring the response meets the real needs of their communities. Their work gives a voice to people often left out of HIV efforts and defends their right to health and dignity.

# **4.2** A financing shock and ways to sustain and boost HIV responses

HIV programmes across the world have been rocked from the sudden major reductions in official development assistance for HIV announced by the United States Government in early 2025. Further anticipated cuts to assistance from other major donors would aggravate this financing crisis,<sup>3</sup> which is jeopardizing decades of hard-won progress against the AIDS pandemic.

The steep reductions in international funding for HIV have exposed the fragility of HIV programmes in many low- and middle-income countries and a reliance in some countries on limited funding sources. There is an urgent need for diversified and durable financing mechanisms for HIV and other public health priorities.

Countries have no choice but to adjust to this highly constrained funding environment. However, a combination of debt distress, slow economic growth and underperforming tax systems, especially in sub-Saharan Africa with fiscal space constraints, are limiting their ability to rapidly increase domestic HIV funding.

The immediate priority is to secure increased domestic investments and continued global solidarity to avert rising AIDS-related mortality and a surge in HIV new infections.

Hidden in this unfolding crisis are opportunities to make HIV responses and entire health systems more resilient against future shocks, whether due to funding shifts, pandemics, climate change or conflicts.

The steep reductions in international funding for HIV have exposed the fragility of HIV programmes in many low- and middle-income countries.

<sup>3</sup> UNAIDS analysis shows there has been a gradual but persistent shift in development cooperation priorities among several major bilateral (80% decline since 2010) and multilateral (24% decline since 2010) donors. Changes in global official development assistance flows include the reprioritization of budgets towards national security, climate resilience and domestic infrastructure. This signals a continuing risk of further reductions in international health financing, including for HIV.

UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

# Funding losses threaten decades of progress in the response to HIV

The impact of the funding losses is rippling across HIV programmes in dozens of countries.

Countries are reporting stockouts of HIV medicines and test kits and faltering laboratory services. Funding shortages are limiting the availability of PrEP and other interventions to prevent new HIV infections.

Community-led services for people from vulnerable populations, projects focused on reducing stigma and discrimination and gender inequalities, and efforts to improve sexual and reproductive health, address gender-based violence and provide psychosocial support are being scaled back. Critical gaps in financing for frontline health workers and HIV testing services have appeared. The effects extend beyond HIV and add strain to health programmes that depend on integrated service delivery and infrastructure that has been built as part of the HIV response.

# In 2024, domestic HIV resources accounted for 52% of resources available for HIV programmes in lowand middle-income countries.

Almost a quarter of 56 countries surveyed in late April 2025 reported having less than six months of stocks of condoms or PrEP, and almost half reported having supply chain management difficulties (30). The PEPFAR "stop work order" in early 2025 rapidly affected thousands of health workers, especially in eastern and southern Africa. In Mozambique, more than 30 000 health staff—including nearly 20 000 community-based personnel—were impacted. At the time of writing this report, it was not clear how many of the more than 340 000 PEPFAR-supported health workers across several dozen countries have been able to continue working (31).

# Countries have been increasing their domestic HIV financing

Many countries have been rebalancing their HIV programmes towards more sustainable models by increasing domestic funding for HIV. Even though domestic resource mobilization for HIV has been under strain since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, more than half of reporting countries<sup>4</sup> have increased their domestic HIV spending in the past five years. In 2024, domestic HIV resources accounted for 52% of the resources available for HIV programmes in low- and middle-income countries.<sup>5</sup>

5 These latest estimates now exclude formerly upper-middle-income countries that the World Bank has reclassified as high-income countries, including Bulgaria, the Russian Federation and Uruguay.

<sup>4</sup> Including Cambodia, Costa Rica, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Lesotho and Malawi.

#### Many countries intend to keep increasing their domestic funding for HIV





Source: data reported by national governments to indicator 8.3 on 2026 trends in Domestic public budget for HIV, Global AIDS Monitoring July 2025.

Current indications are that many countries plan to to increase their domestic budgets for HIV. Twenty-five of 60 countries reporting to Global AIDS Monitoring<sup>6</sup> on forecasted budget trends for 2026 stated that they expect to increase their domestic public HIV budgets; the majority of these are PEPFAR-supported countries (Figure 4.6). This is also a unique opportunity to continue strengthening the centrality of community systems and communityled responses through innovative and underused financial mechanisms, such as social contracting, health taxes and corporate responsibility. This trend reflects growing national ownership and strong commitment to sustain the HIV response. But domestic resources alone will not be sufficient to fill the gaps in PEPFARsupported countries. Those gaps may particularly impact programmes that were more dependent on international funding, such as for key populations.

Twenty-five of the 60 countries reporting to Global AIDS Monitoring on forecasted budget trends for 2026 stated that they expect to increase their domestic public HIV budgets.

<sup>5</sup> Bhutan, Bolivia (Plurinational State of), Brazil, Dominican Republic, Namibia, Pakistan, Republic of Moldova, Tajikistan, Timor-Leste (<5% increase); Algeria, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Central African Republic, Cuba, Egypt, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Nigeria, Thailand (data under validation), United Republic of Tanzania (5–10% increase); Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Mali, Niger (>10% increase).

### Increasing domestic financing in Indonesia

Indonesia has made significant progress in scaling up its HIV response through increased domestic investments. Based on its UNAIDS-supported national AIDS spending assessments, domestic HIV spending grew by more than fourfold between 2010 and 2022—from US\$ 26.7 million to over US\$ 109 million—while the share of international support gradually declined (Figure 4.7). Despite fluctuations, this shift towards greater domestic ownership has yielded tangible results, with the number of people on antiretroviral therapy increasing eightfold, from approximately 20 000 in 2010 to 230 000 in 2024. During the same period, the number of new HIV infections decreased by about 40%, from about 49 000 [44 000–54 000] to fewer than 25 000 [23 000–28 000] annually. Indonesia's experience highlights how sustained domestic financing, paired with strategic monitoring of resources and accountability, is essential for building a resilient, country-owned HIV response that delivers measurable impact.

#### Indonesia is making steady progress in domestic financing for its HIV response



Figure 4.7. Indonesian historical HIV spending data by funding source, 2010–2022

Domestic HIV financing trends have not been uniform. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, domestic funding has generally increased in low- and lower-middle-income countries—which is significant, given their limited fiscal space. But there has been an opposite trend since 2020 in upper-middle-income countries, where HIV spending has fallen by 24%. This marks a reversal from the period of 2010–2019, when lower-middle-income and upper-middle-income countries increased their own HIV contributions by 39% and 57%, respectively.

These recent reductions do not necessarily reflect reduced political commitment or programming. They may be explained partly by cost savings such as reduced negotiated prices for antiretroviral medicines and more efficient supply chain and distribution systems. Nevertheless, efficiency-driven savings do not fully account for the magnitude of the net reductions in domestic HIV investments in uppermiddle-income countries. Many of the HIV activities supported by PEPFAR and other donors require durable financial commitment, trained workforces and well-functioning procurement and distribution systems. It is difficult for countries to instantly replace financing for these vital underpinnings. Many countries contend with forbidding fiscal challenges, including strained tax systems and high debt repayments in a context of slow economic growth. For example, Angola, Nigeria and Uganda spend almost five times more on servicing their public debts than on public health expenditure, and Gambia, Ghana and Zambia spend almost three times more on debt payments (*32*).

### Countries are working towards increasing sustainability

With UNAIDS support, countries are developing strategies to manage the sudden funding losses. Malawi, for example, has used the UNAIDS Rapid AIDS Financing Tool to draft a successful budget request to its Cabinet for additional domestic funds to bridge its sudden financing gap and increase domestic HIV financing in the 2026–2027 budget. Other countries are using the Rapid AIDS Financing Tool to calculate the domestic HIV investments that will be needed as they transition towards greater country ownership of their HIV programmes.

The 2025 South African budget review includes a 5.9% annual increase in health expenditure over the next three years, including a 3.3% annual increase for HIV and tuberculosis programmes. The Government intends to finance the development of a patient information system, a centralized chronic medicine dispensing and distribution system, and a facility medicine stock surveillance system (33).

In Uganda the HIV response sustainability roadmap has been used to secure Government commitment of US\$ 8.8 million for April and June 2025 and US\$ 165.4 million for the fiscal year 2025–2026 to manage the impact of the United States funding cuts on its national HIV response. Uganda is also developing a two-year transition and sustainability plan to facilitate increased domestic HIV financing in its 2026–2027 national budget and to coordinate donor funding.<sup>7</sup>

More than 30 other countries are developing HIV sustainability roadmaps to increase domestic investments in their HIV programmes (34). Of these, 16 have already completed the first phase of this exercise, whereby they identify the key transformations that will adapt their HIV responses

7

to their evolving epidemics and shifting financial, political and social environments. Along with highlighting the importance of top-level political commitment, the roadmaps are prioritizing costsaving service delivery models, the empowerment of affected communities, and new ways to unlock further efficiencies. Countries need to meet the challenge of addressing human rights and genderrelated barriers to HIV services and to support accountability and transparency to communities throughout the Sustainability Roadmap process, including their implementation and monitoring.

Countries are pledging to increase domestic financing and progressively reduce reliance on international assistance. Botswana, for example, has introduced domestic funding targets for the HIV response for 2026 and 2030 as part of a wider commitment to increase health-care financing to 15% of the total Government budget by 2030 (35). The United Republic of Tanzania has committed to raise more than half of its multisectoral HIV response funding from domestic resources, including the private sector (36). Togo's roadmap traces a path to increase domestic HIV financing from 15% to 50% by 2030 (37).

Several countries are already working on the second part of these sustainability roadmaps, laying out the specific changes that will be introduced in the next two to four years. Domestic HIV financing options include the use of blended finance and social impact bonds, social contracting, further integration of HIV services with broader health systems, and pooled procurement. Of the 16 countries that have finalized the first part of their HIV response sustainability roadmaps, 12 have committed to establish social contracting arrangements and three already have social contracting in place.

Unpublished communication, 10 April 2025.

UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

### Donor solidarity is still crucial

Donor solidarity—especially the support channelled via PEPFAR—has enabled huge progress in the past two decades. More than 90% of official development assistance for HIV in 2023 came from five countries, with the United States the largest contributor (39). Many donor countries have been contributing in line with a "fair share" measurement (i.e. relative to the size of their economies) (38). However, if United States funding of HIV were to end entirely, international assistance for HIV responses in low- and middle-income countries from donor governments would fall by 80%.

The HIV funding cuts in 2025 have arrived on the back of an almost 6% decline in official development assistance for HIV since its peak in 2013. This has been an anomalous trend: the share of official development assistance going to public health held steady between 2010 and 2022, but the share going to HIV programmes almost halved, from 6% to 3.4%.

Low- and middle-income countries have responded to this trend with increases in domestic HIV investments—but donor solidarity remains indispensable for HIV responses in many countries, particularly low-income countries. This is not a matter of simple overreliance. Although some countries are highly exposed to official development assistance reductions, others finance their HIV responses with a more balanced mix of resources or predominantly with domestic resources. The speed at which they can transition to greater country ownership, however, differs.

PEPFAR investments have contributed to impressive results, including a 76% reduction in the number of AIDS-related deaths and a 62% reduction in the number of new HIV infections in PEPFAR-supported countries between 2003 (when PEPFAR was initiated) and 2024. Many PEPFAR-supported countries in sub-Saharan Africa have progressively increased the domestic financing of their health systems. A 52% rise in financial contributions from PEPFAR between 2010 and 2024 was accompanied by a 62% growth in domestic resources for HIV in PEPFAR-supported countries (Figure 4.8). The increase in domestic HIV investments signifies the commitment of governments in PEPFAR-supported countries to strengthen national ownership and sustainability of their HIV responses (40).

PEPFAR investments have contributed to impressive results, including a 76% reduction in the number of AIDS-related deaths and a 62% reduction in the number of new HIV infections.



Gang violence in Haiti is contributing to a dire humanitarian crisis in a country where 5.7 million people face acute food insecurity and more than a million people are internally displaced, half of them children. In the country's capital of Portau-Prince, only 50% of healthcare facilities are operational, and access to essential health services, including HIV treatment, is severely limited. Amidst the escalating insecurity, ruthless sexual violence, including gang rape, is rampant, exacerbated by restricted or suspended genderbased violence services.

More than 6500 incidents of gender-based violence were reported in 2024, although this number is likely to be significantly underreported. Nearly two-thirds of these incidents involved rape or sexual assault. Between 2023 and 2024, there was a shocking 1000% increase in sexual violence against children.

"I was a victim of gang rape in 2021," says 29-year-old Laguerre Myrline. "This happened when we had to abandon our home to flee the attacks of armed men. At the southern entrance of Port-au-Prince, I was assaulted by several men. They abused me one after the other. Traumatized, I didn't even go to the hospital."

### STORY

## Empowering young women in Cité Soleil: a model for reducing vulnerability to violence in Haiti

Women and children remain particularly at risk in this crisis. The Organization for Development and Poverty Reduction (ODELPA), a civil society organization supported by UNAIDS and the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), is implementing a transformative initiative aimed at reducing sexual and gender-based violence and other systematic violence in Cité Soleil, an impoverished and densely populated commune in Port-au-Prince.

The initiative includes capacitybuilding and economic empowerment via training on HIV prevention, prevention of gender-based violence and mental health support for girls, young women and men. Through these efforts, 180 beneficiaries have received startup funds to launch income-generating activities and businesses, helping them to break the cycle of financial dependence and offering a sustainable pathway to resilience and autonomy.

The programme has been so successful that the training sessions have been replicated for more than 1000 members of grassroots community organizations. In addition, ODELPA launched a multimedia communication campaign to raise awareness and provide education on prevention of gender-based violence. The campaign reached more than 1.5 million people across Haiti and the Haitian diaspora through four radio programmes. The project applies a holistic approach that combines education, economic empowerment and communitydriven solutions as key elements to breaking cycles of violence and inequality and ensuring girls and young women can reclaim their rights and dignity and their future.

In Haiti, the recent funding cuts have had a huge effect on the national HIV response, which was almost 100% funded externally and almost entirely reliant on PEPFAR (which provided about 90% of HIV funding) and the Global Fund (which contributed the remaining 10% of funding). Civil society organizations have been significantly impacted by the funding cuts, particularly those that provide services for people from key, priority and vulnerable populations. This has increased vulnerability to stigma, discrimination and gender inequality, and weakened responses to sexual and gender-based violence.

The youth project implemented by ODELPA and supported by UNAIDS and UNHCR is a small beacon of hope. Sustainable funding will be required to support the response to HIV in Haiti, including urgent renewed global solidarity.

#### Domestic HIV financing has increased in countries receiving PEPFAR support



**Figure 4.8.** Distribution of HIV resources in PEPFAR-supported countries, and trends in HIV incidence and AIDS-related mortality, 2010–2024

Source: UNAIDS-supported national AIDS spending assessments, 2010–2022.

Despite the increase in domestic HIV funding, the responses of some countries have remained highly reliant on external support. Based on data from the past five years, the United States Government, the Global Fund and other development entities collectively financed more than 90% of HIV responses in at least nine countries.<sup>8</sup> For these countries, the sudden funding cuts are a major blow.

Upper-middle-income countries are showing varying levels of resilience: many may be able to absorb reductions in donor support due to stronger domestic financing capacity, but several of them may still struggle to fill gaps in critical areas such as HIV prevention and societal enablers, where domestic investment has historically been limited.

Low- and lower-middle-income countries on the other hand remain highly vulnerable. HIV programmes in many of them are highly dependent on external financing and they are unlikely to withstand unplanned or rapid reductions in donor funding. This could lead to disruptions in essential services and weaken the overall HIV response.

The United States Government, the Global Fund and other development entities collectively financed more than 90% of HIV responses in at least nine countries in 2024.

Ethiopia, Haiti, Liberia, Malawi, Mozambique, Nigeria, South Sudan, United Republic of Tanzania, Zimbabwe.

Countries can be grouped by their level of dependency on PEPFAR funding:

- In high-dependency countries, such as Haiti, Mozambique, Nigeria, the United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia, PEPFAR covered more than 60% of HIVrelated expenditure. These countries face a high risk of immediate service disruption if United States Government support declines or ends, given their limited domestic or alternative donor resources.
- Countries such as the Dominican Republic, Eswatini, Malawi, Rwanda and Ukraine were moderately dependent on PEPFAR support (30–60% of HIVrelated spending). Mixed financing models provide them with some buffer, but substantial gaps could still emerge if the support declines or ends.
- Low-dependency countries, such as Brazil, India, South Africa and Thailand, benefit from robust domestic HIV investments, which promises greater sustainability. Continued global solidarity remains crucial, however, to maintain momentum and achieve greater equity in their HIV programmes.

A more detailed picture of the importance of external support emerges from an analysis of recent national AIDS spending assessments in 22 low- and middle-income countries (2019–2024).<sup>9</sup> This shows that about 60% of HIV testing programmes, almost 80% of prevention programmes, more than 80% of societal enabler activities, and almost 90% of HIV-related research were financed externally (Figure 4.9). Diminishing official development assistance for HIV is a major risk for community-led and other nongovernmental organizations that are active in HIV responses.

#### HIV prevention, system strengthening and societal enabler programmes have relied heavily on external funding

**Figure 4.9.** Main sources of funding for HIV programme areas in 22 countries with recent national AIDS spending assessments, 2019–2024



Source: UNAIDS-supported national AIDS spending assessments, 2019-2024.

9 Benin (2024), Botswana (2019), Cambodia (2022), Democratic Republic of the Congo (2020), Eswatini (2019), Ethiopia (2023), Ghana (2022), Indonesia (2022), Jamaica (2020), Kenya (2019), Kyrgyzstan (2020), Malawi (2022), Mongolia (2021), Mozambique (2022), Nigeria (2021), Pakistan (2022), Papua New Guinea (2023), South Africa (2019), Tajikistan (2020), Uganda (2020), Zambia (2021), Zimbabwe (2020). It is important for donors to recognize that the option of increasing domestic HIV funding is not immediately or equally available to all countries. Saddled with their highest debt burdens in decades, many of the world's poorest countries are not able to rapidly compensate for the sudden funding gaps in their HIV responses. Their efforts to expand domestic financing should be supported, including through debt relief, debt pauses or debt swaps, and blended financing mechanisms. Donors and philanthropic organizations can consider bringing future spending forward to support accelerated sustainability strategies. This is also an opportunity for emerging economic powers to contribute more actively to global health and HIV financing, in line with their growing economic capacities.

# How can countries manage the funding shocks and sustain their HIV responses?

HIV financing has rested mainly on two pillars—external funding and domestic revenues. The current major reductions in external support call for shifting to a three-pillar system comprising increased HIV funding from domestic revenues, relatively smaller official development assistance funding, and diversified and blended financing instruments and mechanisms. The latter may include grants to leverage additional resources from development banks and other entities.

The immediate priority is to stabilize HIV programmes and funding:

- Countries that are heavily reliant on external funding need to take immediate budgetary steps to avoid or remedy service disruptions, along with accelerated transition planning backed by emergency and coordinated donor support.
- Countries with a more balanced mix of domestic and external financing can focus on strengthening co-financing models and on building resilience by further diversifying their funding sources. Stronger national stewardship, improved efficiencies, and a clearly established and aligned division of labour among financing partners are key in these countries.
- For countries with large domestic HIV contributions, the focus should be on improving budget execution, achieving continued efficiencies (including in supply chains) and pursuing further price reductions for HIV commodities.

# An overhaul of both domestic and external HIV financing is needed

Most countries have no choice but to adjust to the sudden declines in external support for their HIV programmes. Their immediate challenge is to prevent service disruptions, shore up supply chains for antiretroviral medicines and other essential HIV products, and preserve the quality of HIV services. Ultimately, domestic financing is the bedrock of a sustainable HIV response. More effort and support will need to go towards safeguarding and institutionalizing HIV financing within national health budgets.

Evidence-based prioritization will be more vital than ever, with countries carefully allocating resources to programmes based on their epidemiological impact. The rebalanced allocations can then be compared with existing and past expenditures to determine new budgeting and spending recommendations. This approach can guide the reweighting of allocations between different programmes or interventions and the modalities through which services are delivered. Deciding on the most effective ways to deliver services can be as important as correctly selecting priority services and interventions (*41*).

Ultimately, increased domestic funding is imperative. Countries will need to honour their commitments on health financing, including for HIV. Very few African countries, for example, have realized the commitments made in the 2001 Abuja Declaration, which called for allocating at least 15% of national budgets to health (42).

Increased domestic financing for health and HIV can be sourced from enhanced domestic revenue collection (including through restructured corporate and/ or personal income tax rates, wealth taxes, sin taxes, reforms of preferential tax regimes, and measures to combat tax evasion and avoidance), through improvements in tax administration systems, and by ringfencing budget lines for health. These adaptations will take time. Diversified financing includes blended finance models that leverage both public and private capital are another option for sustaining HIV investments (*43, 44*).

In the meantime, the sudden funding losses risk forcing low- and middleincome countries into unrealistically quick transitions to "self-reliance", including potentially self-defeating trade-offs between different health priorities in a context of very limited domestic resources (44). Continued solidarity from donors will be crucial, but external HIV financing strategies that follow a declining trajectory will need to adapt by prioritizing:

- emergency targeted support for HIV programmes (including HIV testing, treatment, prevention, communities and addressing human rights and genderrelated barriers to services) in countries that are hobbled by debt and fiscal constraints and that lack immediate capacity;
- sustained investments in low-income and some lower-middle-income countries to build platforms for their transitions to stronger country systems and greater financial ownership of their HIV responses in the medium to long term;
- incentives and support for domestic resource mobilization strategies and for the development and implementation of diversified financing mechanisms across all country income groups.

### Further price reductions can be achieved

The prices of key HIV products, especially antiretroviral medicines, are an important factor in a country's ability to finance its HIV response. Based on recent data reported to Global AIDS Monitoring and UNAIDS financial estimates in July 2024, HIV commodities account for almost 30% of total annual HIV spending in low- and middle-income countries and up to 40% in upper-middle-income countries.

#### There are large variations in procurement prices for antiretroviral medicines





Note: the data reported to Global AIDS Monitoring 2025 on procurement prices are awaiting final validation.

Source: latest data reported to Global AIDS Monitoring 2024.

Price reductions for antiretroviral medicines and other HIV commodities—achieved through activism, generic production and market-shaping interventions such as pooled procurement—have enabled low- and middle-income countries to massively expand their HIV treatment programmes. The need for HIV treatment is so great, however, that these countries spent approximately US\$ 3 billion on antiretroviral medicines annually in 2020–2022, according to procurement data from 110 countries. Approximately US\$ 2 billion of annual spending went on purchasing generic antiretroviral medicines.
Procurement prices for antiretroviral medicines vary drastically across regions and country income groups. Middle- and upper-middle-income countries, especially in eastern Europe and Latin America, generally pay higher prices for antiretroviral medicines and other medical technologies, and in particular for innovative products (Figure 4.10). This is particularly relevant for their ability to use new long-acting treatment and prevention products, such as cabotegravir and lenacapavir. Standalone domestic procurement prices for antiretroviral medicines tend to be higher than for pooled and internationally financed procurement. Market-shaping strategies have the potential to lower these commodity costs.

# Procurement prices for antiretroviral medicines vary drastically across regions and country income groups.

### Untapped opportunities for integration

A strong consensus has emerged around the need for further integration of HIV with broader health systems, including primary health care. More extensive integration is expected to boost the use, efficiency and sustainability of HIV services, thereby improving both HIV and broader health outcomes and making health systems more resilient (45). It is also seen as a way to overcome HIV funding gaps and advance towards universal health coverage and other relevant Sustainable Development Goals (46).

Among the 152 countries with available data, about a quarter have integrated their HIV responses with broader health strategies. Integration at the point of care can make it easier and less costly for people to access multiple health services. Integration is also expected to generate savings for service providers, if more versatile service platforms increase coverage and reduce costs. Integration of systems (e.g. supply chains, laboratories, human resources, information systems, financing channels, programme management) has the potential to boost efficiencies, generate cost savings and smoothen the overall functioning of health systems.

There is good evidence supporting many of these expectations. A meta-analysis of 114 studies, mostly in sub-Saharan Africa, reported that both HIV and other health outcomes were better in integrated services than in separated services and the uptake of non-HIV services tended to rise (45). Country studies report increased rates of HIV testing (47), improved hypertension control among people living with HIV (48), high acceptability of cervical cancer screening (49), and increased uptake of sexual and reproductive health services (50). Improvements in the linked delivery of HIV and tuberculosis (TB) services have led to a decline of more than 70% in the number of TB-related deaths among people living with HIV between 2010 and 2023 (see Chapter 2) (51). Integration of HIV with screening for infectious and noncommunicable diseases has been found to be cost-effective in different settings (52, 53), as has the integration of HIV services with family planning and other sexual and reproductive health interventions (54).

Realizing the full potential of integration is not straightforward, however. The underlying systems need to function smoothly, including information, procurement and logistics systems. Supportive policies, integrated programme management and operational frameworks must be in place. Sufficient staff, budgets, equipment and health products must be available. Integrated service delivery systems must be of good quality and be non-stigmatizing and consensual, particularly towards people living with HIV and people from key populations. The risk of increased workload for health staff and the need to ensure staff competencies across various health conditions must be addressed (45, 55–59).

Care is needed to ensure integrated services preserve person-centred approaches, protect human rights and gender equality, and advance equity. These approaches are critical to sustain the demand and coverage of services, which make them essential for sustainable HIV responses. This is particularly important for people from key populations and for people living with HIV (especially women), who are exposed to heightened stigma and discrimination when seeking health services (see Chapter 2) (60). A balance must be struck between greater integration and preserving the community-driven accountability and engagement engagement that make HIV programmes successful, including community-led monitoring, community-led research and advocacy, community engagement in decision-making and community-led service delivery.

### Social protection and HIV

If they are extensive enough, social protection programmes can improve people's health and well-being. In 2023, about 52% of the global population was covered by at least one social protection benefit, although coverage was much lower in many countries with a high burden of HIV, especially in sub-Saharan Africa (68). It is widely assumed that cash transfer programmes can positively influence the use of health services and improve health outcomes, among many other benefits (69–74)—but studies researching the impact on HIV have mixed findings (75). Social protection schemes must be inclusive and free from discrimination, ensuring equitable access for people from key populations and people living with HIV.

An evaluation of the effects of unconditional cash transfer programmes covering more than 5% of impoverished populations in 42 countries found a higher probability of recent HIV testing among recipients and slightly reduced odds of numbers of new HIV infections and AIDS-related deaths (76). A systematic review of "cash plus" or "bundled" programmes<sup>10</sup> (mostly in eastern and southern Africa) found strong effects for HIV knowledge and testing uptake, but there was

Integrated service delivery systems must be of good quality and be non-stigmatizing and consensual, particularly towards people living with HIV and people from key populations.

10 Bundled interventions include cash plus health information, vocational training, mentoring and life skills.

#### **STORY**



In early 2022, shortly after the fullscale invasion of eastern Ukraine, Kateryna was pregnant and caring for her young son and daughter.

"We lived under constant shelling in Pokrovsk. For the sake of my children, I had to flee to give birth," she says. She is originally from the Donetsk region in Ukraine, which by 2024 became the scene of intense fighting.

Today, her hometown of Pokrovsk lies in ruins. With three children and no home to return to, Kateryna is trying to rebuild her life from scratch.

Kateryna has found refuge in the city of Dnipro at a shelter run by the nongovernmental organization 100% Life was established by UNAIDS with donor support. The shelter provides a safe environment for women living with HIV, including those with children. It is one of four such shelters in the Dnipropetrovsk region, offering vital humanitarian assistance and connections to HIV care for people who have lost everything.

Since the beginning of the war, nearly 3.7 million people have been displaced within Ukraine. As the violence has escalated and people are forced to flee repeatedly, many people are living in areas of active fighting or under occupation. In this context, any reliable assessment of the rate of HIV among displaced people is impossible. Despite this, the health system in Ukraine, supported by humanitarian organizations and international donors, has made extraordinary efforts to ensure continued access to HIV treatment. From the first days of the invasion, the Public Health Center quickly distributed antiretroviral medicines to central and western regions, where most internally displaced people fled. Emergency stocks were concentrated in leading health facilities and, with the help of nongovernmental organizations, volunteers and partners, supply chains were rapidly restored.

Displacement and HIV:

doubly vulnerable in Ukraine

"In the early days of the war, hospitals in Lviv were overcrowded," says Olenka Pavlyshyn, an infectious diseases specialist at the Center for Integrated Medical and Social Services. "But even then, there were no interruptions in antiretroviral therapy." People received three- or six-month supplies of medicines, and treatment was provided based on medical need rather than documents or place of residence.

The response also reached people who fled abroad. A total of 6.4 million Ukrainians have left the country, and many face barriers to health care in host countries. "In some European countries, our citizens still cannot get health insurance, so they have no access to medical care," says Olenka. "Others are not ready to disclose their HIV status in a new environment, so these people come back to Ukraine every six months—and we give them the medicines they need for continued treatment while living abroad."

As the health system in Ukraine adapts to the demands of a displaced population inside the country and beyond its borders, pressure is growing.

Ukraine was once a regional leader in transitioning from donor to domestic funding for health services, but its HIV resources are extremely constrained due to the war. The country now relies heavily on international assistance to sustain essential medical care, including HIV services. Although antiretroviral therapy has been secured, HIV services may be at risk due to cuts in United States funding.

New HIV infections and AIDSrelated deaths could rebound globally if the funding cuts are not recovered. Continued international support is critical to sustain the HIV response and ensure countless people caught in a war, like Kateryna, are not left behind. less impact on sexual risk behaviours and HIV incidence or prevalence. A recent evaluation of economic strengthening interventions in South Africa reported insufficient impact on risk behaviours to reduce HIV and sexually transmitted infections significantly at the population level (77). It is likely that the size of the cash transfers and the duration of the programmes were insufficient to achieve changes in socioeconomic status and influence the power and other imbalances that shape people's behaviours and decision-making (78, 79).

Further evidence comes from an assessment of Brazil's Bolsa Familia cash transfer programme, which reported that HIV incidence was 41% lower and HIV-related mortality 39% lower in households receiving the payment. The effects were strongest among people in the poorest households—a crucial finding, given other evidence that cash transfer programmes do not necessarily reach the most impoverished sections of society (80, 81). Access to the Bolsa Familia scheme is conditional on school attendance and immunization for children and antenatal monitoring for pregnant women (82).

## HIV services are being integrated in humanitarian emergency responses

Globally in 2024, there were more than 122 million forcibly displaced people, among whom more than half were internally displaced (61). Twenty of the countries with the highest HIV burdens are included among the 50 countries considered to be "fragile states" due to the simultaneous impact of armed conflicts, economic malaise and extreme climate conditions (62).<sup>11</sup> Disrupted or inaccessible healthcare and other essential services are among the many challenges confronting displaced populations.

More than ever, HIV needs to be part of emergency preparedness and humanitarian responses. In 2024, HIV was reflected in about two-thirds of humanitarian response plans (14 of 24 countries<sup>12</sup>) but this needs to be translated into programmes for the people who are affected by HIV. Of the 24 countries, 19 reported providing HIV counselling and testing, 18 provided HV treatment, 17 provided services for survivors of gender-based violence and 16 provided services for key populations (63). According to UNHCR, more than 90% of 49 reporting countries were applying national HIV test-and-treat policies and integrating prevention-of-vertical transmission services with primary health care as part of refugee operations (64).

Community-led organizations (64, 65) and other civil society organizations (66) are also becoming an integral part of humanitarian response and planning. There continue to be opportunities for integrating services for sexual and reproductive health (67) and for preventing gender-based violence (68).

<sup>11</sup> Angola, Cameroon, Chad, Congo, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Guinea, Haiti, Kenya, Mali, Mozambique, Myanmar, Nigeria, Pakistan, Rwanda, Uganda, Ukraine, Zambia, Zimbabwe.

<sup>12</sup> Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Mali, Mozambique, Myanmar, Ukraine, Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of).

## New global AIDS targets and resources needed to end AIDS by 2030

The global HIV response faces ongoing challenges, but the world is closer than ever to achieving a goal once thought impossible—ending AIDS as a public health threat.

Global AIDS targets are set every five years, and the 2025 targets are approaching their deadline. A high-level task team of HIV experts was convened by UNAIDS to develop a set of evidence-informed targets for 2030. These targets are intended to galvanize countries to drastically reduce numbers of new HIV infections and AIDS-related deaths by 2030; estimate the global resource needs for doing so across the period of 2026–2030; and build sustainable HIV responses beyond 2030.<sup>13</sup>

#### 16 targets to end AIDS as a pubic health threat by 2030

**Figure 4.11.** The 16 topline targets to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030 and ensure the sustainability of the response post-2030<sup>a</sup>



<sup>a</sup> The targets will be disaggregated as appropriate by gender, age and key population.

13 The Global Task Team on 2030 HIV Targets was composed of experts from governments, civil society, networks of people living with or affected by HIV, public health experts, and multilateral or bilateral donors. The team began its work in March 2024 and completed its mandate in February 2025 (83).

#### Reaching the 2030 targets will save millions of lives

**Figure 4.12.** Projected numbers of new HIV infections and AIDS-related deaths averted between 2025 and 2030 by achieving the 2030 targets, global



Source: UNAIDS 2025 estimates and projections from April 2025 using Avenir Health Goals Model.

The Global Task Team on 2030 HIV Targets recommended 16 top-line global targets and 50 second-tier targets (Figure 4.11). The targets aim to simplify accountability while addressing evolving challenges (85). A number of the targets that were in the 2021–2026 Global AIDS Strategy are proposed to be extended to 2030 because they have not yet been achieved by all countries and remain critical for ending AIDS as a public health threat by 2030; they include the 95–95–95 targets (84). The targets will provide the framework for the forthcoming Global AIDS Strategy 2026–2031, which is currently being developed (86).

Achieving the targets would bridge the gap in services and enabling environments and avert 2.9 million new HIV infections and 1.3 million AIDS-related deaths between 2025 and 2030 (Figure 4.12). This would be tantamount to reaching the 2030 goal of ending AIDS as a public health threat—or "ending AIDS". This goal is defined as a 90% reduction against the 2010 benchmark in both the number of people newly acquiring HIV and the number of people dying from AIDS-related causes (87). This achievement will require reaching 40 million people with antiretroviral therapy and 20 million people with antiretroviral-based prevention, and ensuring all people have access to discrimination-free services.

## What will it cost to end AIDS as a public health threat?

Preliminary estimates from UNAIDS indicate that achieving the global targets will require annual resources in 2030 of US\$ 21.9 billion in low- and middle-income countries, down from the previously estimated US\$ 29.3 billion (Figure 4.13). These new estimates are lower than those published in 2021 due to major cost efficiencies that have been achieved across the HIV response. For example, there have been significant price reductions for antiretroviral medicines and for products used in opioid agonist maintenance therapy. In addition, the new estimates reflect more efficient and targeted service delivery and a strong emphasis on prioritized approaches based on HIV risk.<sup>14</sup>

14 The new estimates exclude countries that the World Bank reclassified from upper-middle-income to high-income countries in 2024.

#### Domestic HIV funding will need to increase

**Figure 4.13.** Estimated HIV resources available in low- and middle-income countries in 2024, estimated resource needs in 2030, and scenario in which domestic HIV financing targets are met



Note: the domestic financing targets reflect the average share of domestic resources across different income groups by 2030. Within each group—particularly among lower-middle-income and low-income countries—there is significant variation in disease burden and fiscal capacity across countries. These targets aim to encourage greater domestic ownership at the national level for a collective increase across each of the income groups.

Source: UNAIDS financial estimates, July 2025.

Excluding countries that were reclassified as high-income countries by the World Bank in 2024, the domestic share of HIV funding stood at 52% of the global HIV response in 2024 (Figure 4.13). If countries meet the proposed domestic financing targets, it is estimated that the domestic share could increase to approximately two-thirds of total HIV resource needs by 2030. This would leave a funding gap of about a third, which would need to be filled by continued global solidarity.

Of the total annual HIV resource needs in 2030, approximately 20% would be required for low-income countries, 34% for lower-middle-income countries and 46% for upper-middle-income countries. Among all low- and middle-income countries, the preliminary estimated resource needs for HIV in 2030 are expected to be distributed programmatically, with 40% for testing and antiretroviral therapy, 24% for prevention and 10% for societal enablers, representing the programme areas requiring the largest share of resources, with the remaining resources going to prevention of vertical transmission, health systems strengthening and programme management (Figure 4.14).

UNAIDS estimates show that achieving the global targets will require annual resources in 2030 of US\$ 21.9 billion in low- and middle-income countries.





The gap between current HIV resources and the new target can be bridged, but this will have to be done in a complicated donor financing environment. Total resources available for HIV in 2024 amounted to approximately US\$ 18.7 billion. The biggest funding gap (19%) was in lower-middle-income countries, which would need to mobilize an additional US\$ 1.4 billion from domestic and external sources to reach the annual targets for 2030. This is a challenging prospect, but delays in achieving fully financed HIV responses will multiply future costs and add significant strain to health systems, as the numbers of people living with HIV increase and their treatment and care needs become more complicated.

Sustained and accountable financing, from domestic sources supported by global solidarity, anchored in strong national leadership and supported by timely, transparent financial tracking, will make it possible to close the funding gap and ensure a resilient and effective HIV response to achieve the goal of ending AIDS as a public health threat by 2030.

The changing environment calls for leadership from many stakeholders at global, national and subnational levels, including the private sector, foundations, faith-based organizations, city-specific programmes, regional institutions, communities, countries and multilateral partners. The challenges of the HIV pandemic today require a response at all levels, including global and multilateral support. No community or country can end AIDS alone: we must stand together.

### References

- A/RES/75/284. Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS: ending inequalities and getting on track to end AIDS by 2030. New York; United Nations General Assembly; 2021 (https://digitallibrary.un.org/ record/3928975?ln=en&v=pdf).
- 2 Global Fund strategy 2023–2028: fighting pandemics and building a healthier and more equitable world. Geneva: Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; 2021 (https://www.theglobalfund.org/ en/strategy/).
- 3 Pitchaya I, Sibanda E, McGee K, et al. Communityled strategies for communicable disease prevention and management in low- and middle-income countries: a mixed-methods systematic review of health, social, and economic impact. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2025;5(4):e0004304 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0004304).
- 4 Ayala G, Sprague L, van der Merwe LL-A, et al. Peerand community-led responses to HIV: a scoping review. PLoS One. 2021;16(12):e0260555 (https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0260555).
- 5 Moyo E, Moyo P, Murewanhema G, et al. Community-led interventions for HIV and AIDS prevention, treatment, and care in southern Africa: a scoping review. Discover Public Health. 2025;22(78) (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12982-025-00468-v).
- 6 Caswell G, Dubula V, Baptiste S, et al. The continuing role of communities affected by HIV in sustained engagement in health and rights. J Int AIDS Soc. 2021;24(Suppl 3):e25724 (https://doi.org/10.1002/ jia2.25724).
- 7 Milovanovic M, Coetzee J. The health effects and moral imperative of funding sex worker programmes. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(9):e1373–e1374 (https://doi.org/10.1016/52214-109X(24)00271-7).
- 8 Matambanadzo P, Otiso L, Kavhaza S, et al. Community leadership is key to effective HIV service engagement for female sex workers in Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2025;28(3):e26425 (https://doi. org/10.1002/jia2.26425).
- 9 Goh HQ, Nelson LE, Teo WZ, et al. Perspectives and thoughts of pregnant women and new mothers living with HIV receiving peer support: a mixed studies systematic review. J Adv Nurs. 2024;80(7):2715–2727 (https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.16014).
- 10 Katirayi L, Ndima S, Farah A, et al. Evaluation of a peer-support, "mentor mother" program in Gaza, Mozambique: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2024;24(1):382 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-024-10833-3).
- 11 Lyatuu GW, Naburi H, Mwashemele S, et al. Effect of peer-mother interactive programme on prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission outcomes among pregnant women on anti-retroviral treatment in routine healthcare in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2022;2(3):e0000256 (https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000256).
- 12 Amone A, Gabagaya G, Wavamunno P, et al. Enhanced peer-group strategies to support the prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission leads to increased retention in care in Uganda: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. 2024;19(4):e0297652 (https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0297652).
- 13 Chevalier JM, Hansen MA, Coskun E, et al. Costeffectiveness of intervention combinations towards the elimination of vertical transmission of HIV in limited-resource settings: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(3):e457–e466 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(23)00588-0).
- 14 Consolidated guidelines on HIV, viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/360601).

- 15 Cowan FM, Machingura F, Ali MS, et al. A riskdifferentiated, community-led intervention to strengthen uptake and engagement with HIV prevention and care cascades among female sex workers in Zimbabwe (AMETHIST): a cluster randomised trial. Lancet Glob Health. 2024;12(9):e1424–e1435 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2214-109X(24)00235-3).
- 16 Elsfoury S, Mugisa B, Pasha MS, et al. Communityled interventions to re-engage people living with HIV into care in Pakistan. East Mediterr Health J. 2024;30(9):603–611 (https://doi. org/10.26719/2024.30.9.603).
- 17 Lippman SA, Sevelius JM, Saggese GSR, et al. Peer navigation to support transgender women's engagement in HIV care: findings from the Trans Amigas Pilot Trial in São Paulo, Brazil. AIDS Behav. 2022;26(8):2588–2599 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-022-03595-8).
- 18 Global AIDS Monitoring 2020–2025. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https:// aidsinfo.unaids.org/).
- 19 Govender K, Rambau N, Barron P, et al. Communityled monitoring and the role of Ritshidze in improving the quality of primary healthcare in South Africa. S Afr Med J. 2024;114(6):e2043 (https://doi.org/10.7196/ SAMJ.2024.v114i6.2043).
- 20 PEPFAR Panorama Spotlight. Washington, DC: United States Department of State (https://data.pepfar.gov/).
- 21 Post waiver impact of USA government administration's directive to pause all foreign aid obligations on program implementation and funding: second data update. Amsterdam: GNP+, Aidsfonds and Robert Carr Fund; 2025. (https://aidsfonds.org/wp-content/ uploads/2025/02/Post-Waiver-Impact-7feb2025.pdf).
- 22 No more business as usual: a gender-transformative response to the USAID freeze crisis is urgent. International Community of Women Living with HIV; 2025 (https://whrin.site/wp-content/ uploads/2025/04/0225\_ICW\_NO-MORE-BUSINESS\_amdt.pdf).
- 23 US funding cuts: impact on Frontline AIDS partners. Brighton: Frontline AIDS; 2025 (https://frontlineaids. org/resources/us-funding-cuts-impact-on-frontline-aidspartners/).
- 24 Y+Global, Youth RISE, The PACT, et al. Devastating impact of the US Government stop-work order on youth, HIV and sexual reproductive health services. Den Haag: Global Network of People Living with HIV; 2025 (https://www.yplusglobal.org/docs/resources/USG\_ Funding\_Survey%20Results\_Factsheet\_(FINAL\_ENG). pdf).
- 25 The human cost of policy shifts: the fallout of US foreign aid cuts on harm reduction programming and people who use drugs. London: International Network of People who Use Drugs; 2025 (https://inpud.net/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/The-Human-Cost-of-Policy-Shifts.pdf).
- 26 National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2022–2025. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/).
- 27 Social enterprises and the global HIV response: driving sustainability, equity and innovation for organizations working on HIV. Durham, NC: FHI 360; 2022 (https://www.fhi360.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/ resource-epic-social-enterprise-global-hiv-response.pdf#:~text=ln%20addition%20to%20creating%20 HIV-aligned%20impact%20through%20market-based,solutions%20and%20responsiveness%20to%20 community%20needs%20and%20priorities).
- 28 Strengthening key populations' role in global health initiatives: making communities at the centre a reality for all. London: International Network of People who Use Drugs; 2025 (https://inpud.net/ wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Position-Paper.pdf).

- 29 Civic space scores. Johannesburg: CIVICUS; 2025 (https://monitor.civicus.org/data/).
- 30 A snapshot on HIV commodity availability and management risks. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2025 (https://www.unaids. org/sites/default/files/2025-05/UNAIDS\_focusedanalysis\_HIV-commodities\_en.pdf).
- 31 Nichols BE, Geng EH, Moakley E, et al. Rapid development of an online tracker to communicate the human impact of abruptly halting PEPFAR support. J Int AIDS Soc. 2025;28(3):e26433 (https:// doi.org/10.1002/jia2.26433).
- 32 UNAIDS HIV financial dashboard. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https:// hivfinancial.unaids.org/hivfinancialdashboards.html).
- 33 Budget overview 2025. Pretoria: National Treasury of South Africa; 2025 (https://www.treasury.gov. za/documents/National%20Budget/2025/review/ FullBR.pdf).
- 34 HIV response sustainability primer. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2024 (https://hivpreventioncoalition.unaids.org/ sites/default/files/attachments/hiv\_response\_ sustainability\_response\_primer\_web\_1.pdf).
- 35 Botswana: sustainability and transition readiness assessment and roadmap for HIV and TB abridged version. Gaborone: Botswana National AIDS and Health Promotion Agency; 2024 (https://sustainability.unaids.org/wp-content/ uploads/2024/06/Botswana-HIV-STR-A-and-Roadmap-for-HIV-and-TB-NAHPA-FA-ABRIDGED-D. pdf).
- 36 Tanzania targets Sh586.4 billion from new domestic taxes to bridge HIV and health funding gap. The Citizen, 12 June 2025 (https://www.thecitizen.co.tz/ tanzania/news/national/tanzania-targets-sh586.4billion-from-new-domestic-taxes-to-bridge-hiv-andhealth-funding-gap-5078984).
- 37 Togo's roadmap traces a path to increase domestic HIV financing from 15% to 50% by 2030.
- 38 Donor government funding for HIV in low- and middle-income countries in 2023. Washington, DC: KFF; 2024 (https://www.kff.org/report/section/ donor-government-funding-for-hiv-in-low-andmiddle-income-countries-in-2023-report/).
- 39 The U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). Washington, DC: KFF; 2025 (https:// www.kff.org/global-health-policy/fact-sheet/the-u-spresidents-emergency-plan-for-aids-relief-pepfar/).
- 40 Cluver L, Makangila G, Hillis S, et al. Protecting Africa's children from extreme risk: a runway of sustainability for PEPFAR programmes. Lancet. 2025;405(10490):1700–1712 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(25)00401-5).
- 41 Wilson D, Gorgens M. Lessons learned in using mathematical modeling for priority setting in health. Health Syst Reform. 2023;9(3):2357113 (https://doi. org/10.1080/23288604.2024.2357113).
- 42 Mutale W, Semeere A, Bukusi EA, et al How can Africa sustain its HIV response amid US aid cuts? Lancet HIV. 2025:S2352-3018(25)00071-2 (https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(25)00071-2).
- 43 Devex Partnerships. Blended finance in health care: unlocking new frontiers. Devex, 7 November 2024 (https://www.devex.com/news/blended-finance-inhealth-care-unlocking-new-frontiers-108506).
- 44 Goosby E, Reid MJA. A turning point for global health: challenge or opportunity? Lancet. 2025;405(10485):1125–1127 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(25)00453-2).

#### UNAIDS GLOBAL AIDS UPDATE 2025

- 45 Bulstra CA, Hontelez JAC, Otto M, et al. Integrating HIV services and other health services: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2021;18:e1003836 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.1003836).
- 46 Su J, Stover J, Pretorius C, et al. The benefits of investments to combat HIV, tuberculosis and malaria for primary health care, 2000–2023: an economic modeling analysis. medRxiv. 2025;25326907 (https:// doi.org/10.1101/2025.05.02.25326907).
- 47 Truong HM, Mocello AR, Ouma D, et al. Communitybased HIV testing services in an urban setting in western Kenya: a programme implementation study. Lancet HIV. 2021;8(1):e16–e23 (https://doi. org/10.1016/S2352-3018(20)30253-8).
- 48 Youssouf N, Mogaetsho GE, Moshomo T, et al. Designing an implementation science clinical trial to integrate hypertension and cardiovascular diseases care into existing HIV services package in Botswana (InterCARE). Trials. 2024;25(1) (https://doi. org/10.1186/s13063-024-08333-0).
- 49 Ninsiima M, Nyabigambo A, Kagaayi J. Acceptability of integration of cervical cancer screening into routine HIV care, associated factors and perceptions among HIV-infected women: a mixed methods study at Mbarara Regional Referral Hospital, Uganda. BMC Health Serv Res. 2023;23(1):333 (https://doi. org/10.1186/s12913-023-09326-6).
- 50 Mugarisi V. Integration of HIV and SRH services yields massive results in Zimbabwe. Harare: World Health Organization Regional Office for Africa; 2023 (https://www.afro.who.int/countries/zimbabwe/news/ integration-hiv-and-srh-services-yield-massive-resultszimbabwe?country=883&name=Zimbabwe).
- 51 Global tuberculosis report 2024. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (https://iris.who.int/ bitstream/handle/10665/379339/9789240101531eng.pdf?sequence=1).
- 52 Zhang L, Tao Y, Woodring J, et al. Integrated approach for triple elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV, hepatitis B and syphilis is highly effective and cost-effective: an economic evaluation. Int J Epidemiol. 2019;48:1327–1339 (https://doi. org/10.1093/ije/dyz037).
- 53 Kasaie P, Weir B, Schnure M, et al. Integrated screening and treatment services for HIV, hypertension and diabetes in Kenya: assessing the epidemiological impact and cost-effectiveness from a national and regional perspective. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(Suppl 1):e25499 (https://doi.org/10.1002/ jia2.25499).
- 54 Rinaldi G, Kiadaliri AA, Haghparast-Bidgoli H. Cost effectiveness of HIV and sexual reproductive health interventions targeting sex workers: a systematic review. Cost Eff Resour Alloc. 2018;16:63 (https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12962-018-0165-0).
- 55 Adeyemi O, Lyons M, Njim T, et al. Integration of non-communicable disease and HIV/AIDS management: a review of healthcare policies and plans in East Africa. BMJ Glob Health. 2021;6(5):e004669 (https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjgh-2020-004669).
- 56 Foo C, Shrestha P, Wang L, et al. Integrating tuberculosis and noncommunicable diseases care in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs): a systematic review. PLoS Med. 2022;19(1):e1003899 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003899).
- 57 Nkhoma L, Sitali DC, Zulu JM. Integration of family planning into HIV services: a systematic review. Ann Med. 2022;54(1):393–403 (https://doi.org/10.1080/0 7853890.2021.2020893).
- 58 Mutungi G. Integration of chronic disease care: INTE-Africa study. Presented at the roundtable on integration of HIV and other health services as a pathway to sustainability, London, 14–15 March 2024.

- 59 Badacho AS, Woltamo DD, Demissie DB, Mahomed OH. Mapping evidence on barriers to and facilitators of diagnosing noncommunicable diseases among people living with human immunodeficiency virus in low- and middle-income countries in Africa: a scoping review. SAGE Open Med. 2024;12:20503121241253960 (https://doi. org/10.1177/20503121241253960).
- 60 People Living with HIV Stigma Index 2.0: global report 2023. Hear us out: community measuring HIV-related stigma and discrimination. Amsterdam: Global Network of People living with HIV; 2023 (https://www.stigmaindex.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/11/PLHIV-Stigma-Index-Global-Report-2023-3.pdf).
- 61 Refugee data finder. Geneva: United Nations Refugee Agency (https://www.unhcr.org/refugeestatistics).
- 62 Fragile states index. Washington, DC: Fund for Peace (https://fragilestatesindex.org/global-data/).
- 63 AIDSinfo laws and policies analytics 2025. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/services).
- 64 Public health global review 2024. Geneva: United Nations Refugee Agency; 2024 (https://www.unkcr. org/us/sites/en-us/files/2025-04/annual-publichealth-global-review-2024\_39.pdf).
- 64 Global humanitarian overview 2024. New York: United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs; 2024 (https:// humanitarianaction.info/document/globalhumanitarian-overview-2024/article/local-possibleprogress-making-localization-humanitarian-actionreality).
- 65 Community-led innovation for a locally led humanitarian system. London: Start Network; 2023 (https://startnetwork.org/learn-change/newsand-blogs/community-led-innovation-locally-ledhumanitarian-system).
- 66 Yambio: HIV community-based test and treat pilot project. Barcelona: Médecins Sans Frontières; 2018 (https://www.msf.org/sites/default/files/2018-06/hivcommunity-based-test-and-treat-pilot-project.pdf).
- 67 Handbook for conducting multi-stakeholder vulnerability assessments for SRHR, HIV, and GBV in humanitarian settings. 2gether 4 SRHR; 2025 (https://www.2gether4srh.org/resources/handbookfor-conducting-multi-stakeholder-vulnerabilityassessments-for-srhr-hiv-and-gbv-in-humanitariansettings).
- 68 World social protection report 2024–26: universal social protection for climate action and a just transition. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2024 (https://www.ilo.org/sites/default/ files/2024-09/WSPR\_2024\_EN\_WEB\_1.pdf).
- 69 Bastagli F, Hagen-Zanker J, Harman L, et al. The impact of cash transfers: a review of the evidence from low-and middle-income countries. J Soc Policy. 2019;48(3):569–594 (https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0047279418000715).
- 70 Owusu-Addo E, Renzaho AMN, Smith BJ. The impact of cash transfers on social determinants of health and health inequalities in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. Health Policy Plan. 2018;33(5):675–696 (https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czy020).
- 71 Hidrobo M, Hoddinott J, Kumar N, Olivier M. Social protection, food security and asset formation. World Dev. 2018;101:88–103 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j. worlddev.2017.08.014).
- 72 Kilburn K, Thirumurthy H, Halpern CT, et al. Effects of a large-scale unconditional cash transfer program on mental health outcomes of young people in Kenya. J Adolesc Health. 2016; 58(2):223–229 (https://doi. org/ 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.09.023).

- 73 Carter DJ, Daniel R, Torrens AW, et al. The impact of a cash transfer programme on tuberculosis treatment success rate: a quasi-experimental study in Brazil. BMJ Global Health. 2019;4(1):e001029 (https://doi. org/10.1134/bmjgh-2018-001029).
- 74 Ngamasana EL, Moxie J. Cash transfer, maternal and child health outcomes: a scoping review in sub-Saharan Africa. Glob Health Action. 2024;17(1):2309726 (https://doi.org/10.1080/165497 16.2024.2309726).
- 75 Fahey CA, Njau PF, Kelly NK, et al. Durability of effects from short-term economic incentives for clinic attendance among HIV positive adults in Tanzania: long-term follow-up of a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Glob Health. 2021;6:e007248 (https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-007248).
- 76 Richterman A, Thirumurthy H. The effects of cash transfer programmes on HIV-related outcomes in 42 countries from 1996 to 2019. Nat Hum Behav. 2022;6(10):1362–1371 (https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41562-022-01414-7).
- 77 Johnson L, Jamieson L, Kubjanbe M, Meyer-Rath G. Money, jobs or schooling? A model-based evaluation of economic strengthening in South Africa and its impact on HIV, sexually transmitted infections and teenage births. medRxiv. 2025;25328300 (https:// doi.org/10.1101/2025.05.25.25328300).
- 78 Rogers K, Le Kirkegaard R, Wamoyi J, et al. Systematic review of cash plus or bundled interventions targeting adolescents in Africa to reduce HIV risk. BMC Public Health. 2024;24(1):239 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-17565-9).
- 79 Pega F, Pabayo R, Benny C, et al. Unconditional cash transfers for reducing poverty and vulnerabilities: effect on use of health services and health outcomes in low- and middle-income countries. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;3(3):CD011135 (https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD011135.pub3).
- 80 Chipanta D, Amo-Agyei S, Hertzog L, et al. Missing the vulnerable-Inequalities in social protection in 13 sub-Saharan African countries: analysis of population-based surveys. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2024;4(7):e0002973 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pgph.0002973).
- 81 Parekh N, Bandiera O. Do social assistance programmes reach the poor? Micro-evidence from 123 countries. London: International Growth Centre; 2020 (https://www.theigc.org/sites/default/ files/2020/06/Parekh-and-Bandiera-2020-Growth-Brief.pdf).
- 82 Silva AF, Dourado I, Lua I, et al. Income determines the impact of cash transfers on HIV/AIDS: cohort study of 22.7 million Brazilians. Nat Commun. 2024;15(1):1307 (https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-44975-z).
- 83 Recommended 2030 targets for HIV. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://www. unaids.org/en/recommended-2030-targets-for-hiv).
- 84 Understanding measures of progress towards the 95– 95–95 HIV testing, treatment and viral suppression targets. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/ media\_asset/progress-towards-95-95-95\_en.pdf).
- 85 Global Task Team on 2030 HIV Targets. Global HIV targets: a roadmap to 2030 and beyond. Lancet. Preprint 2025.
- 86 Global AIDS strategy 2026–2031. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (https:// www.unaids.org/en/2026-2031-global-aids-strategy).
- 87 Global HIV target setting for 2030. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2025 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/ files/2025-05/20250328\_recommended\_2030\_HIV\_ targets\_livedocument\_en\_13\_May\_2025.pdf).





UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

+41 22 595 59 92

unaids.org

